

# **UNIVERSIDAD DE MURCIA**

## ESCUELA INTERNACIONAL DE DOCTORADO

The role of wild carnivore carcasses in the transmission of infectious agents: epidemiological and ecological aspects

El papel de los cadáveres de carnívoros silvestres en la transmisión de agentes infectocontagiosos: aspectos epidemiológicos y ecológicos

D. Moisés Gonzálvez Juan

2020



## **UNIVERSIDAD DE MURCIA**

### FACULTAD DE VETERINARIA

**Tesis** Doctoral

2020

The role of wild carnivore carcasses in the transmission of infectious agents: epidemiological and ecological aspects

El papel de los cadáveres de carnívoros silvestres en la transmisión de agentes infectocontagiosos: aspectos epidemiológicos y ecológicos

Memoria presentada por el Licenciado en Veterinaria

### Moisés Gonzálvez Juan

para optar al grado de Doctor en Ciencias Veterinarias con Mención Internacional

Directores

Carlos Martínez-Carrasco Pleite Marcos Moleón Paiz



**CARLOS MARTÍNEZ-CARRASCO PLEITE**, Profesor Titular de Universidad adscrito al Departamento de Sanidad Animal de la Universidad de Murcia y **MARCOS MOLEÓN PAIZ**, contratado de investigación "Ramón y Cajal" adscrito al Departamento de Zoología de la Universidad de Granada,

### AUTORIZAN:

La presentación de la Tesis Doctoral titulada "The role of wild carnivore carcasses in the transmission of infectious agents: epidemiological and ecological aspects" (El papel de los cadáveres de carnívoros silvestres en la transmisión de agentes infectocontagiosos: aspectos epidemiológicos y ecológicos), realizada por Moisés Gonzálvez Juan, bajo nuestra supervisión y dirección, para la obtención del grado de Doctor por la Universidad de Murcia.

En Murcia, a uno de septiembre de dos mil veinte.

And

CARLOS MARTÍNEZ-CARRASCO PLEITE

Alto

MARCOS MOLEÓN PAIZ

A mi abuela Dolores y a mi abuelo Antonio, quienes siempre estuvieron y siempre estarán.

"Cada vez que perdemos una especie rompemos una cadena de la vida que ha evolucionado durante 3.500 millones de años." Jeffrey McNeely

El autor de esta tesis doctoral ha sido beneficiario de una beca del programa Erasmus+ Movilidad Internacional (R-417/2019) mediante la que ha realizado una estancia en un centro de investigación en el extranjero.

Los trabajos que componen esta memoria han sido financiados por el Ministerio de Economía, Industria y Competitividad de España y por el Fondo Europeo de Desarrollo Regional (FEDER) a través del proyecto CGL2017-89905-R.

Las actividades de investigación han contado con la participación de la Universidad de Murcia y de la Universidad de Granada. Queremos mostrar nuestro agradecimiento también a la Dirección General del Medio Natural (Consejería de Agua, Agricultura y Medio Ambiente, Comunidad Autónoma de la Región de Murcia) y a la Dirección General de Medio Natural, Biodiversidad y Espacios Protegidos (Consejería de Agricultura, Ganadería, Pesca y Desarrollo Sostenible, Junta de Andalucía) por permitirnos realizar el trabajo de campo necesario para completar esta tesis doctoral.

# AGRADECIMIENTOS

Con la defensa de esta tesis doctoral no solo se cierra un ciclo universitario, sino que también es un momento de reflexión y de hacer memoria para recordar todo lo vivido durante estos últimos años. Afortunadamente, todas las buenas y malas experiencias han estado vinculadas a numerosas personas que me han acompañado en esta aventura y han hecho de la tesis un maravilloso camino con el que he crecido personal y profesionalmente.

Tras terminar la Licenciatura de Veterinaria en el año 2014, me matriculé en el Máster en Gestión de Fauna Silvestre de la Universidad de Murcia. Al finalizar el curso en 2015, y tras quedar cautivado por la fauna, y especialmente por todo lo que envolvía al Parque Natural de Cazorla, decidí adentrarme de lleno en la tesis que ahora estoy culminando. En este punto, siempre tendré mucho que agradecer a mi director y amigo Carlos Martínez-Carrasco Pleite, quien además de darme la oportunidad de trabajar en lo que más me apasiona, ha sido un apoyo importantísimo durante estos años, así como un motor de generar conocimiento, motivación y pasión por la fauna. Podría enumerar decenas de anécdotas de todas las salidas al campo que hemos tenido la suerte de realizar, pero prefiero todavía más que las sigamos viviendo y recordando. ¡Muchas gracias por todo! Por otro lado, debo destacar como otro pilar fundamental de mi tesis a mi director Marcos Moleón Paiz. Gracias por darme la oportunidad de investigar en un campo tan interesante, así como por mostrarme el fascinante entramado ecológico que hay detrás de los parásitos. Te agradezco también la ayuda, dedicación y orientación que me has dado siempre que ha sido necesario. Espero poder seguir aprendiendo de vosotros durante mucho más tiempo.

Siguiendo con el elenco de profesores, y por supuesto amigos, me gustaría agradecer a todos los integrantes del área de Parasitología y Enfermedades Parasitarias el trato magnífico que he recibido desde que entré como alumno interno en tercero de carrera. Gracias a Eduardo Berriatua, Laura del Río, Elena Goyena y Francisco Alonso por todos estos años de convivencia. Especial mención a Juana Ortiz, a la que guardo un cariño especial por despertar en mí ese interés por los parásitos durante sus clases en segundo curso. Sin ella yo no estaría aquí. En estos momentos tampoco puedo olvidar a Rocío Ruiz de Ybáñez, a quien he considerado mi madre académica desde hace muchos años y con la que he pasado todo tipo de situaciones, algunas más inverosímiles que otras. Gracias por escucharme siempre, por aconsejarme y por tu amistad. También tengo que agradecer la relación tan bonita que he podido entablar con otras personas del departamento de Sanidad Animal a lo largo de estos años y con las que siempre es un placer charlar un rato. Gracias a Mónica González, Nieves Ortega y Guillermo Segundo. En estos momentos tampoco me puedo olvidar de mis compañeros y compañeras de fatigas, que trabajan duro día a día por conseguir sus objetivos y son una parte fundamental de la gran familia con la que he convivido durante los últimos años. Gracias a Irene Arcenillas, Azahara Contreras, Ana Huertas, Eva Cuesta, María Ortuño, José Risueño, Francisco José Martínez, Antonio Murcia, Daniel Álvarez y Leticia Mateo. También debo agradecer a Judith Jiménez y a Gerard Valls, alumnos de máster, su participación en parte del trabajo de campo de esta tesis. De igual forma, tengo que reconocer de forma especial a Clara Muñoz toda la ayuda que me ha prestado. Indudablemente, ha sido la persona con la que más tiempo he compartido durante los últimos cinco años, así como la que siempre ha estado dispuesta a echarme una mano en lo que ha sido necesario. No ha importado si había que hacer un boxplot en Bangkok, huir de macacos en Chonburi o ir a recoger una cámara a las 12 de la noche al Garruchal. Siempre has estado ahí, y sé que así seguirá siendo.

También quiero aprovechar estas líneas para mostrar mi agradecimiento al área de Ecología de la Universidad Miguel Hernández de Elche, especialmente a José Antonio Sánchez Zapata y a Zebensui Morales Reyes, por haber compartido su amplia experiencia sobre carroñeros conmigo. Asimismo, me gustaría agradecer la labor de los compañeros del CRFS El Valle, por su ayuda y buena disposición siempre que ha sido necesario. Gracias a Fernando Escribano, Luisa Lara, Alicia Gómez y Mario Escudero.

Gracias a Woraporn Sukhumavasi por haberme dado la oportunidad de realizar mi estancia internacional en la Universidad de Chulalongkorn (Bangkok). Fue una experiencia inolvidable y llena de momentos que quedarán para el recuerdo. Durante esta temporada tuve la oportunidad de conocer a otra persona con las que forjé una bonita amistad. Gracias (ขอบคุณครับ) Phakjira Sanguansook (Bee) por toda tu ayuda.

Por último, y no menos importante, agradecer a mi familia y amigos el apoyo incondicional que me han brindado desde que comencé a estudiar y, especialmente, a mis padres, hermano y abuelos por apoyarme durante la aventura del Doctorado. Sin vosotros nada de esto habría sido posible.

Todos habéis sido componentes fundamentales para conseguir que esta tesis doctoral haya sido un camino maravilloso. Espero que sigamos viéndonos y disfrutando de la ciencia, de la amistad y de la vida. Muchas gracias.

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

SUMMARY	1
RESUMEN	9
GENERAL INTRODUCTION	19
General background	21
The ecosystem: a complex network of interconnected elements	21
Vertebrate carnivores and carrion ecology	24
Carrion: ecological interactions and epidemiological consequences	25
Biology and the epidemiological role of red fox and other mesocarnivores	29
Ecology and epidemiology: a holistic vision	31
References	
OBJECTIVES	41
CHAPTER 1: Research on meat-borne parasites in wildlife: the challenge a science-based epidemiology	of building 45
Abstract	47
Introduction	47
Material and Methods	
Results	53
Discussion	61
References	65
Supplementary files	70
<b>CHAPTER 2:</b> Smart carnivores think twice: scavenging behavior of a carnivore carcasses in relation to the transmission risk of meat-borne para	red fox at sites 85
Abstract	
Introduction	
Material and Methods	90
Results	93
Discussion	100
References	
Supplementary files	112

CHAPTER 3: Describing the risk of non-trophically tred fox behavior vis-à-vis carnivore carcasses	transmitted parasites based on 
Abstract	
Introduction	
Material and Methods	
Results	
Discussion	
References	
Supplementary files	
GENERAL DISCUSSION	
References	
CONCLUSIONS	
CONCLUSIONES	
APPENDICES	

# **CHAPTER 1:** Research on meat-borne parasites in wildlife: the challenge of building a science-based epidemiology

### CHAPTER 2: Smart carnivores think twice: scavenging behavior of red fox at carnivore carcasses in relation to the transmission risk of meat-borne parasites

- **Table 2.** Generalized linear models (GLMs) showing the relationship between "time of first consumption" by foxes and the "ratio consumption:non-consumption events" by foxes with the explanatory variables included in the selected models ("detection time": carcass detection time by foxes; "carcass" type: fox, other; "season": winter, spring; "scav. cons.": consumption by scavengers other than fox; "area": Cazorla, Espuña, Murcia). Only the models with highest D<sup>2</sup> are shown for simplicity. The estimate of the parameters (including the sign), the standard error of the parameters (SE) and the degree of freedom of the models (df) are shown. ..... 100
- Table S1. Non-consumption ("Non-cons. events") and consumption events ("Cons. events") by scavengers recorded per study area and carcass type.

   112
- **Table S2.** AICc-based model selection to assess the effect of study "area", "habitat", "year", "season", "hour", "carcass type", other "scavenger" presence, consumption by other scavenger ("scav. cons."), and carcass "detection time" on "time of first consumption" by foxes and the "ratio consumption:non-consumption events" by foxes on mesocarnivore carcasses in southeastern Spain (see text for details on the variables). Number of estimated parameters (k), AICc values, AICc differences ( $\Delta$ AICc) with the model with the lowest AICc, and the variability of the models explained by the predictors (deviance, D<sup>2</sup>) are shown. Selected models are in bold.

## CHAPTER 3: Describing the risk of non-trophically transmitted parasites based on red fox behavior vis-à-vis carnivore carcasses

**Table 1.** Carcass use patterns per study area and carcass type, according to different vertebrate species groups. Number of monitored carcasses is indicated for each study area and carcass type. The number of carcasses visited, contacted, marked and rubbed by each vertebrate group is shown together with the percentage relative to the total carcasses monitored per area and

- Table S1. Vertebrate species richness recorded at carcasses, per study area and carcass type,according to different vertebrate species groups and behavior. Number of monitored carcassesis indicated for each study area and carcass type. Mean number of species±SD is shown. Weconsidered carcasses contacted, marked and rubbed as those carcasses with at least one eventwith contact, marking or rubbing by a given scavenger group.150
- **Table S2a.** Carcass use patterns by vertebrate species in Cazorla (fox carcasses). Mean number ofindividuals±SD per carcass is shown, together with the total number of events with contact,marking and rubbing behaviour for each species recorded. Species that scavenge frequently inour study areas are indicated by an asterisk.
- Table S2b. Carcass use patterns by vertebrate species in Murcia (fox carcasses). Mean number of individuals±SD per carcass is shown, together with the total number of events with contact, marking and rubbing behaviour for each species recorded. Species that scavenge frequently in our study areas are indicated by an asterisk.
- **Table S2c.** Carcass use patterns by vertebrate species in Espuña (fox carcasses). Mean number ofindividuals±SD per carcass is shown, together with the total number of events with contact,marking and rubbing behaviour for each species recorded. Species that scavenge frequently inour study areas are indicated by an asterisk.155
- Table S2d. Carcass use patterns by vertebrate species in Espuña (other carcasses). Mean number of individuals±SD per carcass is shown, together with the total number of events with contact, marking and rubbing behaviour for each species recorded. Species that scavenge frequently in our study areas are indicated by an asterisk.

#### **INDEX OF FIGURES**

#### INTRODUCTION

# CHAPTER 1: Research on meat-borne parasites in wildlife: the challenge of building a science-based epidemiology

- Figure 1. Key ecological terms commonly used to describe meat consumption in carnivore animals.
- Figure 2. Worldwide geographical distribution of published articles on meat-borne pathogens (*Trichinella* spp., *T. gondii* and other pathogens) at the wildlife-livestock-human interface. 55

- Figure S2. Occurrence of ecological and epidemiological terms selected through VOSviewer, categorized into three clusters (see term interactions in Figure 5)......72

# **CHAPTER 2:** Smart carnivores think twice: scavenging behavior of red fox at carnivore carcasses in relation to the transmission risk of meat-borne parasites

# CHAPTER 3: Describing the risk of non-trophically transmitted parasites based on red fox behavior vis-à-vis carnivore carcasses

# SUMMARY

In this PhD dissertation, we have delved into the epidemiological consequences emerged from the interactions between wildlife and carnivorous mammal carcasses in three areas of southeastern Spain. Moreover, we have assessed whether ecological terms and concepts are adequately and accurately used in epidemiological studies about the trophic transmission of pathogens at the wildlife-livestock-human interface. We have also performed a systematic review to analyze the main aspects of these epidemiological studies, as well as to describe the degree of interdisciplinary collaboration and the type of evidence on which their epidemiological inferences and conclusions are based.

Ecological interactions have been traditionally studied considering only the most striking components of the ecosystem, with little attention being paid to smaller and less conspicuous elements, such as parasites. Notwithstanding, these organisms are currently seen as important components of ecosystems that need to be carefully evaluated to get a more realistically understanding of not only the composition but also the functioning of ecological networks. The epidemiology of parasites, which can include trophic and nontrophic transmission routes in their life cycles, is largely influenced by host behavior. The latter is often a result of an evolutionary response to decrease the infection risk. Therefore, due to the high complexity of factors involved in the epidemiology of parasites, an interdisciplinary approach is required for its study. This holistic vision would enable specific terms and concepts associated with each discipline to be known and appropriately used by researchers. Moreover, it would allow a closer collaboration between specialists from the field of Biology and Veterinary, being the basis of new horizons of knowledge in epidemiological research.

In **Chapter 1** we addressed the current state of knowledge about parasite transmission through meat consumption at the wildlife-livestock-human interface. In this systematic review, we analyzed the main characteristics that define the epidemiological studies conducted in this field. Among other aspects, we assessed the degree of interdisciplinarity of the research teams, the accuracy in the use of ecological terms related to meat consumption in the wild, and the scientific reliability of arguments used to support the epidemiological conclusions reached by these studies.

For this purpose, we conducted a systematic review of scientific articles and bibliographic reviews published on or before December 2015, including in the title or in the abstract any of the following combinations of terms: "Carrion" AND "Pathogen" OR

"Trichinella" OR "Toxoplasma" OR "Neospora"; "Meat" AND "Pathogen" OR "Trichinella" OR "Toxoplasma" OR "Neospora"; "Scaveng\*" AND "Pathogen" OR "Trichinella" OR "Toxoplasma" OR "Neospora"; and "Predat\*" AND "Pathogen" OR "Trichinella" OR "Toxoplasma" OR "Neospora". We used the Web of Science database to perform the bibliographic search. Trichinella spp., Toxoplasma gondii and Neospora caninum were selected for the study because they are meat-borne parasites with a wide range of hosts in their life cycles and indeed they have a relevant impact on animal and public health (this last in the case of Trichinella spp. and T. gondii). While most of the research studying the trophic behavior of wild mammals has been carried out by biologists, epidemiological studies of meat-borne pathogens have been mainly conducted by veterinarians, showing a remarkable lack of interdisciplinary collaboration among them. In this systematic review, we found that most of the articles analyzed justified the trophic transmission of parasites using exclusively arguments obtained from bibliographic references (51.7%) or using non-science-based assertions (46.1%). The remaining articles based the transmission on indirect evidence (2.2%; e.g., inferring the type of host's diet from the analysis of its feces composition). On the other hand, ecological terms in many scientific articles and literature reviews were absent and, when mentioned, were inaccurate or even misused. Only one article and one review used the ecological terms correctly and accurately. This lack of precision and rigor may be due because scientific publications are mostly carried out by unidisciplinary research teams, both in the case of scientific articles and bibliographic reviews (74.2% and 80.6%, respectively). Furthermore, these unidisciplinary teams were mostly composed by veterinarians in articles (95.5%) and reviews (76%). These results highlight the need to establish interdisciplinary collaborations between researchers trained in Ecology and Epidemiology to improve the study of trophic transmission of parasites at the wildlife-livestock-human interface. In this sense, this integrated and enriched perspective would enhance the approach, design, interpretation and assessment of scientific studies concerning disease ecology. Moreover, it would promote the use of precise ecological terminology which is essential for describing the trophic behavior of carnivore wild species, and thus avoiding inaccuracies or errors that could cause future non-scientific and incorrect epidemiological interpretations. Therefore, our proposal is that studies on wildlife diseases should be carried out from a holistic perspective within a One Health approach. For this, ecological aspects involved in the maintenance and dispersion of pathogens and, generally, in the epidemiology of diseases of domestic animals, wildlife and humans in the wild should be effectively integrated.

In **Chapter 2** we thoroughly examined the behavior of scavenging vertebrates at carnivore carcasses, with special focus on interaction between red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) and conspecific carrion. Thereafter, we tried to infer the possible epidemiological consequences that this behavior could have for the transmission of meat-borne parasites through carrion consumption.

Understanding about the ecological factors that influence the epidemiology of wildlife diseases is increasing. Within this context, it is particularly important to understand host avoidance behaviors to reduce the risk of infection by parasites. However, there is very little information about the ecological role of carnivore carcasses and the epidemiological implications that scavenging behaviors may have on parasite transmission through carnivore carrion consumption. The scarcity of detailed studies has led to the widespread assumption that intraspecific carrion consumption is an important route of meat-borne parasite transmission, among which Trichinella spp., T. gondii and N. caninum stand out. The red fox, a ubiquitous facultative scavenger, is particularly relevant in the transmission of parasites. The fox is distributed in numerous ecosystems and is considered one of the most important wild reservoirs of pathogens with zoonotic and veterinary implications. Between November 2016 and March 2018, a fieldwork study was carried out to analyze by camera trapping the trophic behavior patterns established between wild carnivores and mammalian carnivore carcasses. Fifty-six fox carcasses and ten carcasses of other mesocarnivore species were monitored in three areas: Sierras de Cazorla, Segura y Las Villas Natural Park (n=27 foxes), periurban areas of Murcia city (n=19 foxes) and Sierra Espuña Regional Park (n=10 foxes and 10 mesocarnivores other than the fox: four stone martens -Martes foina-, three badgers -Meles meles-, two genets -Genetta genetta- and a wild cat -Felis silvestris silvestris-). These areas were selected for having different scavenger communities and degrees of anthropization. An automatic camera was placed in front of each carcass to capture 15-second videos at one-minute intervals, provided that movement was detected. Monitoring extended until carcasses were completely consumed (no remains or only skin) or up to a maximum of 10 weeks if consumption was not complete (bone and skin remains). We found that carrion consumption depended on the type of carcass (conspecific vs. heterospecific for the consumer) and the time elapsed since the carrion was available. Foxes were very efficient in detecting mesocarnivore carrion, but the widespread behavior consisted of avoiding consumption, especially of conspecific carcasses. Only 16.9% of fox events recorded in conspecific carrion corresponded to

Summary

intraspecific consumption. Cannibalism was recorded in 63% of the carcasses in Cazorla, 32% in Murcia, and 40% at fox carrion sites in Espuña. No intraspecific consumption events were recorded in carrion of other mesocarnivores in Espuña. In addition, consumption events, when recorded, were delayed several days (carrion other than foxes) or weeks (carrion of foxes) from the time of detection. These results suggest that the decision to consume carrion from phylogenetically close species is probably conditioned by two contrasting forces: the use of phylogenetically similar species, which is a resource that has a high nutritional value, as opposed to the risk of acquiring meat-borne parasites shared with these host species. Both conditioning factors, which decrease over time, would be key factors in the delayed consumption of carnivore carcasses. In general, our study demonstrates that carnivore carrion is a fundamental component in the "landscape of disgust" of carnivores.

In **Chapter 3** we investigated the vertebrate behavior (contact, marking by feces and urine, rubbing against or near carrion), especially of the red fox, at carnivore carcass sites, interpreting such non-trophic behavior from the perspective of possible epidemiological consequences related to non-trophic transmitted pathogens.

In general, the heterogeneous spatial and temporal distribution of pathogen transmission risk is characterized by the existence of points with a greater infection risk than others. Trophic resources favoring animal concentration contribute to increase considerably the risk of infection, and therefore may be good examples of local places with high epidemiological relevance or hotspots. When these resources are infected, animals need to assess both the risks and benefits they assume when interacting with them. In this sense, carrion is a paradigmatic example of a resource that may be associated with pathogen transmission through trophic and non-trophic ways. Despite being a brief temporary resource, carnivore carcasses have longer persistence in the ecosystem than the herbivore ones, since they tend to be avoided by other carnivore consumers. Thus, they can become an interesting model to analyze the interactions between wildlife and carrion, as well as the transmission risk of pathogens by non-trophic routes. To this effect, a field study by camera trapping was carried out between November 2016 and March 2018 to assess the behavior of wildlife (scavengers and non-scavengers) at mesocarnivore carcass sites. The same general sampling methodology of Chapter 2 was followed, including the same 66 carcasses and three study areas. Carcass sites were visited by a high variety of vertebrates, whose behavior depended on the visiting species, the study area and the type of carrion. Scavenger

6

species contacted more frequently with carrion, probably as a result of their scavenging habits. Contact events represented 40.6% of total events recorded. Specifically, of total contact events, 64.4% were in Cazorla, 16.6% in Murcia, and 7.6% and 11.5% in Espuña (fox carcasses and carcasses other than fox, respectively). Considering only events of visiting foxes, 43.4% of them were associated with intraspecific contact. Contact events by foxes occurred more frequently and earlier at heterospecific carcasses than at conspecifics ones, being delayed by several weeks especially in the latter. Regarding rubbing events by foxes, a similar pattern was observed at heterospecific and conspecific carrion, although the frequency of rubbing was greater in carcasses other than fox. This result supports the hypothesis that carnivores try to avoid contact with conspecific carrion in order to reduce the risk of acquiring non-trophically transmitted pathogens. In addition, rubbing contact with carrion was more frequent than contact resulting from marking with urine or feces. Thus, close contact caused by rubbing of visitor species with carrion could play an important role in the transmission of ectoparasites, most notably Sarcoptes scabiei. Related to marking by foxes, it was most frequently recorded at fox carcass sites, probably because they are used as inter- and intraspecific information points of longer persistence than other carcasses. Marking events (urine and feces) in fox carcasses could pose an epidemiological risk, since there are places where some viruses excreted by these routes are probably more present, such as canine parvovirus and distemper virus, or parasites, such as protozoa and helminths with direct life cycle. Our results also indicate that the propensity to assume risks of pathogen transmission would be higher in more competitive environments (i.e. where obligate scavengers are present, such as griffon vultures -Gyps fulvus-), since the availability of food resources for facultative scavengers could be limited. According to our general hypothesis, foxes avoided contact with carrion during the first weeks, probably to reduce the risk of infection by non-trophically transmitted parasites, especially in conspecific carcasses. However, other pathogens that are more persistent in the environment, such as some viruses, bacterial spores, and eggs of certain helminth species, may remain infective in the ecosystem for months or years, so this strategy seems ineffective for some parasites transmitted by non-trophic routes.

In general, this thesis provides a detailed knowledge about ecological interactions between carrion of carnivorous mammals and vertebrate wildlife. This information is a fundamental basis for inferring the epidemiological consequences that could be derived from these relationships, both for trophically and non-trophically transmitted parasites. In addition, this thesis encourages the need to increase interdisciplinary collaboration to address these studies from a One Health perspective, highlighting the importance of using correct ecological terminology and, above all, epidemiological interpretations based on accurate data.

# RESUMEN

En esta tesis doctoral hemos profundizado en el estudio de las consecuencias epidemiológicas que pueden conllevar las interacciones entre la fauna silvestre y los cadáveres de mamíferos carnívoros en tres zonas del sureste de España. Además, hemos evaluado si los términos y conceptos ecológicos se emplean adecuadamente y con precisión en los estudios epidemiológicos sobre la transmisión trófica de patógenos en la interfaz silvestre-doméstico-humano. Asimismo, hemos analizado, mediante una revisión sistemática de la literatura científica publicada, las principales características de este tipo de estudios epidemiológicos, describiendo el grado de colaboración interdisciplinar que los define y el tipo de evidencias sobre las que sustentan las inferencias epidemiológicas y conclusiones a las que llegan.

Tradicionalmente, las interacciones ecológicas han sido estudiadas atendiendo a los componentes más llamativos del ecosistema, prestando poca atención a otros elementos más pequeños y menos evidentes, como los parásitos. No obstante, en la actualidad, los parásitos se consideran componentes fundamentales de los ecosistemas que deben ser evaluados con detenimiento y que ayudan a entender de forma más realista no solo la composición, sino también el funcionamiento de las redes ecológicas. La epidemiología de los parásitos, que pueden utilizar vías de transmisión trófica y no trófica en sus respectivos ciclos biológicos, está muy influenciada por el comportamiento de los hospedadores, que en muchas ocasiones es una respuesta comportamental adquirida evolutivamente para disminuir el riesgo de infección. Por tanto, la complejidad de los factores que intervienen en la epidemiología de los parásitos hace necesario abordar su estudio desde una perspectiva interdisciplinar. Esta visión holística permitiría que los términos y conceptos asociados a cada disciplina fuesen conocidos y usados correctamente por parte de investigadores de otras disciplinas. Además, favorecería una colaboración estrecha entre especialistas del campo de la Biología y la Veterinaria, siendo la base de nuevos horizontes de conocimiento en la investigación epidemiológica.

En el **Capítulo 1** se abordó el estado actual del conocimiento sobre la transmisión de parásitos por consumo de carne en la interfaz silvestre-doméstico-humano. En este trabajo de revisión sistemática analizamos las características principales que definen los estudios epidemiológicos realizados en este campo. Entre otros aspectos, se ha valorado el grado de interdisciplinaridad de los equipos de investigación, la precisión en el uso de los términos ecológicos relacionados con el consumo de carne en la naturaleza, así como la solvencia científica de los argumentos empleados para sostener las conclusiones epidemiológicas a las que llegan dichos estudios.

A tal fin, se realizó una revisión sistemática de artículos científicos y revisiones bibliográficas publicadas con fecha igual o anterior a diciembre de 2015 que incluyeran en el título o en el resumen alguna de las siguientes combinaciones de términos: "Carrion" AND "Pathogen" OR "Trichinella" OR "Toxoplasma" OR "Neospora"; "Meat" AND "Pathogen" OR "Trichinella" OR "Toxoplasma" OR "Neospora"; "Scaveng\*" AND "Pathogen" OR "Trichinella" OR "Toxoplasma" OR "Neospora"; and "Predat\*" AND "Pathogen" OR "Trichinella" OR "Toxoplasma" OR "Neospora". Para la búsqueda se usó la base de datos Web of Science. Se seleccionaron Trichinella spp, Toxoplasma gondii y *Neospora caninum* para el estudio por ser parásitos transmitidos por consumo de carne, con un amplio rango de hospedadores en su ciclo biológico y con un impacto importante sobre la sanidad animal y la salud pública (en el caso de Trichinella spp. y T. gondii). Mientras que la mayoría de los trabajos que estudian los comportamientos tróficos de los mamíferos silvestres han sido llevados a cabo por biólogos, los estudios epidemiológicos de patógenos transmitidos por consumo de carne han sido realizados principalmente por veterinarios, evidenciándose una notable falta de colaboración interdisciplinar. En esta revisión sistemática hemos comprobado que la mayoría de los artículos analizados justificaron la transmisión trófica de los parásitos utilizando exclusivamente argumentos obtenidos a partir de referencias bibliográficas (51.7%) o afirmaciones infundadas (46.1%), mientras que el resto de los artículos basaron la transmisión en evidencias indirectas (2.2%; por ejemplo, infiriendo el tipo de dieta del hospedador estudiado a partir del análisis de la composición de sus heces). Por otro lado, en muchos de los artículos científicos y revisiones bibliográficas no se emplearon los términos ecológicos asociados al consumo de carne y, cuando se usaron, se hizo de una forma imprecisa o incluso errónea. Solamente un artículo y una revisión utilizaron los términos ecológicos de forma correcta y precisa. Esta falta de precisión y rigurosidad puede estar motivada por el hecho de que las publicaciones científicas son realizadas mayoritariamente por equipos de investigación unidisciplinares, tanto en el caso de los artículos científicos como en las revisiones bibliográficas (74.2% y 80.6%, respectivamente). Además, estos equipos unidisciplinares están compuestos en su mayoría por veterinarios, tanto en artículos (95.5%) como en revisiones (76%). Estos resultados destacan la necesidad de establecer colaboraciones interdisciplinares entre científicos formados en el campo de la Ecología y de la Epidemiología para profundizar en
el estudio de la transmisión trófica de los parásitos en la interfaz silvestre-domésticohumano. En este sentido, y desde una visión integradora más enriquecedora, se podría mejorar el planteamiento, diseño, interpretación y valoración de los trabajos científicos referentes a la ecología de las enfermedades. Además, podría promover el empleo preciso de la terminología ecológica, que es esencial para describir el comportamiento trófico de los carnívoros silvestres y, de esta manera, evitar imprecisiones o errores que pudieran ser origen de futuras interpretaciones epidemiológicas sin base científica e incorrectas. Por tanto, nuestra propuesta es que los estudios sobre las enfermedades infectocontagiosas en la fauna silvestre sean realizados desde una perspectiva holística y con un enfoque *One Health*. Para ello, deben integrarse de forma efectiva los aspectos ecológicos que intervienen en el mantenimiento y dispersión de los agentes infecciosos en la naturaleza y, en general, en la epidemiología de las enfermedades de los animales domésticos, de la fauna silvestre y del hombre en el medio natural.

En el **Capítulo 2** se estudió en detalle el comportamiento de los vertebrados carroñeros, con especial énfasis en el zorro rojo (*Vulpes vulpes*), ante cadáveres de mesocarnívoros (incluidos cadáveres de zorro). A partir de esta información, tratamos de inferir las posibles consecuencias epidemiológicas que puede conllevar este comportamiento en referencia a los parásitos transmitidos por consumo de carroña.

En general, el conocimiento de los factores ecológicos involucrados en la epidemiología de las enfermedades en la fauna silvestre se ha incrementado durante los últimos años. En este contexto, es particularmente importante comprender los comportamientos de evasión de los hospedadores para disminuir el riesgo de infección por parásitos. Sin embargo, hay muy poca información sobre el papel ecológico de los cadáveres de carnívoros, así como de las implicaciones epidemiológicas que el consumo de carroña puede tener sobre la transmisión de parásitos a través de su consumo. Esta escasez de estudios ha propiciado la suposición generalizada de que el consumo de carroña intraespecífico es una importante vía de transmisión de parásitos, entre los que destacan *Trichinella* spp., *T. gondii* y *N. caninum*. En la transmisión de estos parásitos adquiere una especial relevancia el zorro rojo, un carroñero facultativo presente en una amplia diversidad de ecosistemas y que está considerado como uno de los reservorios silvestres más importantes de patógenos con potencial zoonósico y relevancia veterinaria. Entre noviembre de 2016 y marzo de 2018 se realizó un estudio de campo para conocer en profundidad el patrón de comportamiento trófico entre los carnívoros silvestres y los

13

cadáveres de mamíferos carnívoros. Se monitorizaron mediante cámaras trampa 56 cadáveres de zorro y 10 de otras especies de mesocarnívoro en tres áreas: el Parque Natural de las Sierras de Cazorla, Segura y Las Villas (n=27 zorros), áreas periurbanas de Murcia (n=19 zorros) y el Parque Regional de Sierra Espuña (n=10 zorros y 10 mesocarnívoros distintos al zorro: cuatro garduñas -Martes foina-, tres tejones -Meles meles-, dos ginetas -Genetta genetta- y un gato montés -Felis silvestris silvestris-). Estas áreas fueron seleccionadas por tener diferentes comunidades de carroñeros y grados de antropización. En cada punto de estudio se colocó una cámara de activación automática programada para registrar vídeos de 15 segundos, a intervalos de un minuto, cuando detectase movimiento. El seguimiento duró hasta que los cadáveres fueron completamente consumidos (no quedaron restos o solo piel) o hasta un máximo de 10 semanas si el consumo no fue completo (restos de huesos y piel). Se comprobó que el consumo de carroña dependía tanto del tipo de cadáver (congénere vs heteroespecífico respecto al consumidor) como del tiempo transcurrido desde que la carroña estuvo disponible. Los zorros fueron muy eficientes en la detección de la carroña de mesocarnívoros, pero el comportamiento generalizado consistió en rechazar el consumo, especialmente de los cadáveres de congéneres. Únicamente el 16.9% de los eventos registrados de zorro en cadáveres de congéneres correspondieron a consumo intraespecífico. Se registró canibalismo en el 63% de los cadáveres de Cazorla, en el 32% de Murcia y en el 40% de los cadáveres de zorro en Espuña. No se registró ningún evento de consumo intraespecífico en la carroña de otros mesocarnívoros. Además, los eventos de consumo, cuando ocurrieron, se retrasaron varios días (carroña de mesocarnívoros distintos al zorro) o semanas (carroña de zorros) desde el momento de la detección. Estos resultados apoyan la hipótesis de que evitar el consumo de carroña de especies filogenéticamente cercanas es un comportamiento generalizado en los carnívoros que les permite reducir el riesgo de infección por parásitos transmitidos por consumo de carne. Además, nuestro estudio sugiere que la decisión de consumir carroña de especies filogenéticamente cercanas probablemente esté condicionada por dos fuerzas contrarias: el aprovechamiento de la carroña, que es un recurso que tiene un alto valor nutricional, frente al riesgo de adquirir parásitos compartidos. Ambos condicionantes, que disminuyen con el tiempo, serían factores fundamentales involucrados en el consumo tardío de los cadáveres de carnívoros. En general, nuestro estudio demuestra que la carroña de carnívoro es un componente fundamental en el denominado como "paisaje de la aversión" (landscape of disgust) de los carnívoros.

En el **Capítulo 3** se estudió el comportamiento (contacto, marcaje mediante heces y orina, frotamiento contra la carroña o cerca de ella) de los vertebrados (especialmente el zorro rojo) ante cadáveres de carnívoros, interpretando dicho comportamiento no trófico desde la perspectiva de las posibles consecuencias epidemiológicas relacionadas con la transmisión no trófica de patógenos.

En general, la heterogénea distribución temporal y espacial del riesgo de transmisión de patógenos se caracteriza por la existencia de puntos que suponen un mayor riesgo de infección que otros. Los recursos tróficos que favorecen la concentración de animales, incrementando así considerablemente el riesgo de infección, pueden ser buenos ejemplos de estos puntos con elevada importancia epidemiológica o hotspots. Cuando estos recursos están infectados, los animales deben valorar los riesgos y beneficios que asumen al interactuar con ellos. En este sentido, la carroña es un ejemplo paradigmático de recurso que puede estar relacionado con la transmisión de patógenos a través de rutas tróficas y no tróficas. A pesar de que los cadáveres son un recurso temporal breve, los de carnívoros tienen una persistencia en el ecosistema superior a los de herbívoros, dado que tienden a ser evitados por otros carnívoros, por lo que son un modelo interesante para estudiar las interacciones entre la fauna silvestre y la carroña, así como el riesgo de transmisión de patógenos por vía no trófica. Con tal fin, entre noviembre de 2016 y marzo de 2018 se realizó un estudio de campo para evaluar mediante fototrampeo el comportamiento de la fauna silvestre (especies carroñeras y no carroñeras) en puntos con presencia de cadáveres de mesocarnívoros. Se siguió la misma metodología general de muestreo que en el Capítulo 2, incluyendo los mismos 66 cadáveres y las mismas tres áreas de estudio. Los enclaves de los cadáveres fueron visitados por una elevada variedad de vertebrados, cuyo comportamiento con la carroña dependió de la especie visitante, de la zona de estudio y del tipo de carroña. Las especies carroñeras, probablemente por sus hábitos tróficos, contactaron con más frecuencia con los cadáveres. Los eventos totales de contacto supusieron el 40.6% de todos los eventos registrados. En concreto, de los eventos totales de contacto, el 64.4% se registraron en Cazorla, el 16.6% en Murcia y el 7.6% y 11.5% en Espuña (cadáveres de zorro y cadáveres de otros mesocarnívoros, respectivamente). Considerando exclusivamente los eventos de zorro, el 43.4% de ellos se asoció a contacto intraespecífico. Los contactos fueron más frecuentes y tempranos en los cadáveres heteroespecíficos que en los de congéneres, retrasándose varias semanas especialmente en estos últimos. Con respecto a los eventos de frotamiento de los zorros visitantes, se observó

un patrón similar entre los cadáveres heteroespecíficos y los de congéneres, aunque la frecuencia fue mayor en los cadáveres de otras especies. Este resultado apoya la hipótesis de que los carnívoros intentan evitar el contacto con la carroña de congéneres para disminuir el riesgo de adquirir patógenos transmitidos por vía no trófica. Además, los contactos ocasionados por el frotamiento de los visitantes con la carroña fueron más frecuentes que los debidos al marcaje con orina o heces. En este sentido, el contacto mediante frotamiento de la especie visitante con la carroña podría ser un factor clave en la transmisión de ectoparásitos, entre los que destaca Sarcoptes scabiei. Respecto al marcaje por parte de los zorros, se registró con mayor frecuencia en cadáveres de zorro, seguramente debido a que son usados como puntos de información inter- e intraespecífico de larga persistencia, en comparación con otro tipo de cadáveres. Este marcaje mediante orina y heces podría suponer un riesgo epidemiológico, creándose puntos con mayor probabilidad de presencia de algunos agentes víricos excretados por estas vías, como es el caso del parvovirus canino y el moquillo, o parásitos, como protozoos y helmintos de ciclo biológico directo. Nuestros resultados también indican que la propensión a asumir riesgos de transmisión de patógenos sería mayor en ambientes más competitivos (es decir, donde hay carroñeros obligados, como los buitres leonados -Gyps fulvus-), ya que la disponibilidad de recursos tróficos para los carroñeros facultativos sería menor. Acorde a nuestra hipótesis general, los zorros evitan contactar con la carroña durante las primeras semanas, probablemente para disminuir el riesgo de infección por parásitos transmitidos por vía no trófica, especialmente si se trata de cadáveres de congéneres. No obstante, otros patógenos más resistentes a las condiciones ambientales, como algunos virus, esporas de bacterias y huevos de ciertas especies de helmintos, podrían permanecer viables en el ecosistema durante meses o años, por lo que esta estrategia parece ineficaz para algunos patógenos transmitidos por vía no trófica.

En general, esta tesis aporta un conocimiento detallado de las interacciones ecológicas entre la carroña de mamíferos carnívoros y la fauna silvestre vertebrada. Esta información es una base fundamental para inferir las posibles consecuencias epidemiológicas que pueden derivarse de estas relaciones, tanto para parásitos transmitidos por consumo de carne como para aquellos que emplean rutas no tróficas. Además, esta tesis destaca la necesidad de incrementar la colaboración interdisciplinar para abordar estos estudios desde una perspectiva *One Health*, remarcando la importancia de emplear una correcta

terminología ecológica y, ante todo, interpretaciones epidemiológicas que estén fundamentadas en datos precisos.

# **GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

#### **GENERAL BACKGROUND**

This investigation focused on the behavioral patterns of wildlife at carcasses of mammalian mesocarnivores, with particular emphasis on the interactions between species that are phylogenetically related. Specifically, this study aimed to describe trophic and non-trophic interactions that take place among wild carnivore species and, based on these observations, draw the epidemiological implications for pathogens transmitted via meat consumption or direct contact, such as *Trichinella* spp. and *Sarcoptes scabiei*, the etiological agents of trichinellosis and sarcoptic mange, respectively.

This introduction touch (1) the importance of understanding in detail the functioning of ecosystems, recognizing them as a complex network of interactions in which all their multiple elements are interconnected and in which viral, bacterial and parasitic agents are a fundamental part that must be studied. In this context, (2) special attention must be paid to a very large number of host species that have an important ecological role in ecosystems, namely vertebrate carnivores. Regarding these species, (3) it is important to further examine their interactions with carrion, one of their most important trophic resources; in the case of mammalian carnivore carcasses, very little is known. Thanks to these studies, the epidemiological consequences that ecological interactions may have on trophic and non-trophic transmission of parasites could be evaluated. Moreover, (4) these epidemiological implications could be especially important in the case of the red fox (Vulpes vulpes), since it is the most abundant and ubiquitous carnivore on the Iberian Peninsula. Accordingly, the red fox may be a key element in the maintenance and dispersion of a wide variety of parasites, in both relatively undisturbed natural settings as well as areas subject to different degrees of anthropogenic pressure. Finally, in this introduction (5) we advocate the need to approach the study of wildlife diseases from a broad, holistic perspective, including interdisciplinary research teams comprised of specialists such as epidemiologists and ecologists. Cooperation of these researchers is key to ensuring studies in the field of disease ecology achieve sound and coherent conclusions from a One Health perspective.

### THE ECOSYSTEM: A COMPLEX NETWORK OF INTERCONNECTED ELEMENTS

Ecosystems are composed of communities of living organisms that interact with each other and with abiotic factors in their environment. Until relatively recently, these networks of interconnected elements were represented using simple models that did not accurately reflected reality (Brose *et al.*, 2005; Anand *et al.*, 2010). However, in recent years, as understanding of the elements that make up ecosystems improved, the growing trend has been to study living organisms from a broader perspective that attempts to encompass, as far as possible, the majority of the elements and interactions that occur in these complex networks (Parrott, 2010) (Figure 1).

#### FOOD WEB MODELS



**Figure 1.** Graphic representation of food webs without parasites, with trophically and nontrophically transmitted parasites. The figure includes primary producers (P), carnivores (Cv), herbivores (Hv), omnivores (Ov), obligate scavengers (Os) and carrion (C). Red circles represent interactions that facilitate the maintenance and dispersion of parasites in the environment, while the blue one promotes their elimination from the ecosystem. Modified from Moleón and Sánchez-Zapata (2015).

In fact, studying the interactions that occur among the components of these ecological networks is key to understanding how an ecosystem works and, accordingly, implementing measures aimed at preserving biodiversity (Landi *et al.*, 2018). Furthermore, this more complete and realistic perspective enables us to not only define and assess the effects that a certain change may have on an element of the ecosystem, but also predict the consequences that it will have on other organisms that partake in these ecological interactions (Brose *et al.*, 2005). Amid this diversity of organisms, vertebrate animals, among others, have attracted considerable interest from scientists. Nevertheless, other types of organisms have gone unnoticed, and, only in recent years, have they started receiving

more attention. Among them are parasites that, possibly due to their small size, their cryptic nature, and the difficulty of evaluating their effects on free-living hosts, have received little attention in ecological studies (Ostfeld *et al.*, 2008; Hatcher *et al.*, 2012; Sukhdeo, 2012). This lack of scientific studies focusing on the ecology of parasites contrasts with the fact that recent studies have shown the importance of these organisms to the structure of ecological interactions, e.g. influencing the structure of trophic networks and the flow of energy and nutrients (Lafferty *et al.*, 2008; Lefèvre *et al.*, 2009).

Evidence that parasites are fully integrated into ecosystems is that parasite species richness is a bioindicator of habitat quality (Hudson *et al.*, 2006). In fact, in undisturbed natural settings it is more likely to find animals that host more than one parasite species than those that are monoparasitic (Pedersen and Fenton, 2007), which indicates parasites' adaptation to and active participation in ecological interactions. Moreover, parasites are typically so adapted to their hosts that, frequently, they achieve relationships of long-term equilibrium in which both host and parasite survive (Phillips, 2002).

It is crucial to understand the routes of transmission and the life cycles of parasites to describe their ecological and epidemiological characteristics. Parasites that do not involve intermediary hosts have a direct life cycle, which may be completed entirely with the participation of two hosts that act as definitive hosts (Antonovics *et al.*, 2017). Parasites with indirect life cycle are, in general, more complex since they require the participation of intermediate hosts, and their transmission involves various host species (Choisy *et al.*, 2003; Antonovics *et al.*, 2017). Predator-prey relationships are frequently associated with the transmission of a wide range of parasite species, especially those with an indirect life cycle (Parker *et al.*, 2015).

The multitude of interactions between parasites and their hosts results in evolutionary changes in hosts and parasites that, on many occasions, are driven by the heterogeneity of other elements that make up the ecosystem (Penczykowski *et al.*, 2016). In terms of the host, this evolutionary dynamic leads to a series of changes, some of which are behavioral, aimed at reducing the risk of parasite transmission (Hart, 2011; Poirotte *et al.*, 2017). On the other hand, parasites evolve by adopting strategies that allow them to survive in the host, such as immune response evasion (Zambrano-Villa *et al.*, 2002) or searching for alternative hosts (Parker *et al.*, 2015).

In view of the foregoing, understanding the epidemiological consequences of interspecific interactions between these pathogens and other components of the ecosystem is fundamental to the study of parasites (Marcogliese and Cone, 1997). In this sense, scientists face the challenge of studying complex ecological networks that may respond unpredictably to natural or anthropic disequilibrium (MacDougall et al., 2013; Parker et al., 2015). To this end, objective and accurate data on the trophic and non-trophic interactions that occur between different components of the ecosystem are needed. In this regard, especially interesting are the behavioral patterns of wildlife species that could be key to understanding and explaining epidemiological aspects directly related to the maintenance and dispersion of parasites in an ecosystem. The use of camera traps has shown to be a very efficient methodology that provides highly useful information without interfering with the animals' behavior (Caravaggi et al., 2017). This tool has traditionally been used in the field of Ecology, although it is being used increasingly in scientific studies with an epidemiological focus, especially in relation to nocturnal and evasive fauna, such as mammalian carnivores (Kelly et al., 2008; Trolliet et al., 2014; Pyšková et al., 2018). An example of this is the use of this technology to study parasites with important epidemiological implications for wild carnivores on the Iberian Peninsula, as is the case of sarcoptic mange in wolves (Canis lupus) and foxes (Oleaga et al., 2011; Carricondo-Sánchez et al., 2017).

### VERTEBRATE CARNIVORES AND CARRION ECOLOGY

The term carnivore refers to a group of heterotrophic organisms present in all ecosystems that are characterized by a diet based on the consumption of animal tissues. This diet may consist of consuming animals that were either dead or alive before the interaction between the carnivore and the prey, referred to as scavenging or predation (Getz, 2011), respectively. Likewise, this consumption may take place between individuals of different species (interspecific consumption) or the same species (intraspecific consumption, or cannibalism) (Abrams, 1987; Polis, 1991). It is worth mentioning the high nutritional value of meat, especially of prey that are phylogenetically similar to the consumer, which explains the nutritional importance of trophic behavior based on intraspecific consumption (Meffe and Crump, 1987; Mayntz and Toft, 2006).

Within carnivorous vertebrates, there is a gradient between species that depend almost entirely on meat, such as Felidae, and those that also exploit plant-based trophic resources. Foxes are a paradigmatic example of those that feed on a wide variety of plant and animal sources (Díaz-Ruiz *et al.*, 2013). In general, strict carnivores are more vulnerable to environmental changes than more generalist species.

Another important subdivision in carnivores, based specifically on the consumption of carrion, is whether these species scavenge exclusively or as a complement to other food sources. In the first group are obligate scavengers, such as the griffon vulture *Gyps fulvus* (Buechley and Şekercioğlu, 2016); the second group is composed of facultative scavengers, such as the red fox (Díaz-Ruiz *et al.*, 2013). Competition between and among groups of scavengers is high (Moleón *et al.*, 2014), although consumption is well structured (Selva and Fortuna, 2007), which allows for the maximum coexistence of different scavenger species (Sebastián-González *et al.*, 2016). The presence of specialized scavengers like vultures can reduce the amount of carrion available for opportunistic scavengers like red foxes, which may limit their abundance (Morales-Reyes *et al.*, 2017).

In trophic networks, the energy flow per link associated with scavenging is greater than for predation, which demonstrates its importance in the functioning of ecosystems (Wilson and Wolkovich, 2011). Despite this evidence, the consumption of carrion has traditionally been largely unexplored (Moleón and Sánchez-Zapata, 2015). The presence of carcasses in nature is fundamental for the survival of numerous species (DeVault *et al.*, 2003; Sebastián-González *et al.*, 2019). Apart from the obvious ecological role as a source of nutrients, carcass sites are characterized by the accumulation of a large variety of organic material (carrion remains, invertebrates, urine and feces from visiting species, feathers, etc.). Thus, carcass sites can be regarded as hotspots of biodiversity (Barton *et al.*, 2013).

### CARRION: ECOLOGICAL INTERACTIONS AND EPIDEMIOLOGICAL CONSEQUENCES

The role of carrion as a trophic resource has been extensively described in the case of herbivores (DeVault *et al.*, 2003; Sebastián-González *et al.*, 2019). Only recently has carrion from carnivore species begun to be studied in detail (Olson *et al.*, 2016; Moleón *et al.*, 2017). These studies have shown that the pattern of consumption for different types of carrion differs considerably. Specifically, carrion from mammalian carnivores persists longer in the natural environment because scavengers, especially mesocarnivores, tend to avoid it (Moleón *et al.*, 2017). It has been suggested that this behavior is probably the result of an evolutionary adaptation of the host, whose objective is to reduce the risk of

transmission of pathogens, given that phylogenetic similarities between two species of carnivores means there is a greater number of shared infectious agents (Huang *et al.*, 2014; Moleón *et al.*, 2017). In this regard, it has been established that some carnivorous species can detect the presence of volatile organic compounds associated with certain pathogens using their olfactory sense (Pradel *et al.*, 2007; Ferrero *et al.*, 2011; Cernosek *et al.*, 2020), which allows them to differentiate carcasses that do not pose a health risk from those that should be avoided. This coincides with recent observations that mammalian carnivores exposed to pieces of meat from herbivores and carnivores of similar external appearances avoid the latter, i.e., those that are of higher parasite risk (Moleón *et al.*, 2017).

The finding that carrion from mammalian carnivores is rejected by phylogenetically similar consumers (mesocarnivores) has also been verified in the case of red fox by other authors that analyzed its diet from scats; they indicated that cannibalism is a highly unusual behavior in this canid species (Cagnacci et al., 2003; Remonti et al., 2005). However, despite this evidence, it is widely believed in part of the scientific community that intraspecific consumption (cannibalism) is a typical behavior among carnivores that favors the transmission of some parasites, especially in relation to the sylvatic life cycle of Trichinella spp. (Campbell, 1988; Pozio, 2000; Pozio and Murrell, 2006; Badagliacca et al., 2016). This assumption, which largely lacks empirical support, is most likely due to the authors' incorrect interpretation of data. For example, finding hairs of a given species, such as fox, in its feces has frequently been interpreted as an indicator of cannibalism, without considering that the existence of these hairs could be due to the animal's grooming behavior (Remonti et al., 2005). This connection made by the scientific community between cannibalism and the mode of transmission of parasites among mammalian carnivores becomes apparent when analyzing the most repeated words in scientific articles by performing a search of the literature on this topic. Specifically, the bibliometric map generated using VOSviewer software (Van Eck et al., 2010), based on articles that examined the transmission of *Trichinella* spp. in wildlife species, shows a clear association between the key words 'transmission' and 'cannibalism' in these studies (Figure 2).



**Figure 2.** Bibliometric map generated from 23 scientific articles identified using the search term ["*Trichinella*" AND "cannibal\*" AND "wild"] on the Web of Science (1900–June 2020). Green cluster: conceptual references to *Trichinella* spp.; red cluster: terms related to the transmission of the parasite; blue cluster: terms related to the existence of the parasite's sylvatic cycle.

Given that the persistence of carrion in the environment largely depends on the community of scavengers present there, it is noteworthy that in areas with few or no vultures, the scavenging rate decreases (Ogada *et al.*, 2012; Morales-Reyes *et al.*, 2017). Vultures provide important ecosystem services worldwide by eliminating microorganisms present in carcasses that could have repercussions for the health of other wildlife species (Zepeda Mendoza *et al.*, 2018). In this respect, carrion may host a wide variety of pathogens (Cantlay *et al.*, 2017; Stella *et al.*, 2018). For this reason, studies should be performed to determine what role carrion plays in the transmission of viral, bacterial and parasitic agents in ecosystems. This type of studies is of greater necessity in areas where obligate scavengers are not present, as well as in the case of carnivore vertebrate carrion since the risk of transmission to other carnivores is higher.

Regarding the persistence of pathogens in carnivore carrion, some infective stages remain viable from few days to several weeks, depending on the characteristics of each pathogen and environmental factors, in particular temperature. For example, the rabies virus can remain viable for three days at 35°C, but this figure increases to 18 days at 4°C (McElhinney *et al.*, 2014). Another example is *Trichinella* spp. cyst larvae in muscles,

which can be infectious for 2-3 weeks at 23°C (Oivanen *et al.*, 2002), but are capable of surviving 2-3 months at low temperatures, as was demonstrated in fox carcasses covered by snow (Rossi *et al.*, 2019). The characteristic anaerobic conditions of carcasses are very well tolerated by *Trichinella* spp. due to its adaptation to anaerobic metabolism (Pozio, 2016; Rossi *et al.*, 2019).

Among the most prominent parasites capable of trophic transmission in the wild are the nematode *Trichinella* spp. and the protozoa *Toxoplasma gondii* and *Neospora caninum*. The present eco-epidemiological study focuses on these pathogens because they are some of the most widespread parasites around the world, have a broad range of carnivore hosts, depend entirely (*Trichinella* spp.) or partially (*T. gondii* and *N. caninum*) on trophic transmission to complete their biological life cycle (Dubey, 1991; Gondim, 2006; Pozio and Murrell, 2006) and, in the case of *Trichinella* spp. and *T. gondii*, they are zoonotic agents. Prolonged environmental persistence of mammalian carnivore carcasses could have important epidemiological effects on all susceptible host species present at the wildlifedomestic-human interface (Figure 3).

It is important to consider that carrion can also be an indirect food source for scavengers and predators that feed on necrophagous arthropods (Moreno-Opo and Margalida, 2013). This could have important epidemiological implications given that these invertebrates could act as paratenic hosts (Riva *et al.*, 2015). In this sense, mammalian carnivore carrion, due to its prolonged persistence in the environment compared to herbivore carrion, hosts a well-structured community of necrophagous arthropods (Muñoz-Lozano *et al.*, 2019).



**Figure 3.** Graphic representation of the persistence of herbivore carrion infected with *T. gondii* (A) and carnivore carrion infected with *Trichinella* spp. (B). The longer carrion persists without being consumed, the more protracted the presence of parasites in the environment. Based on Moleón *et al.* (2017).

Finally, carrion also serves various important non-trophic functions in ecosystems, from being a source of materials for the construction of birds' nests to constituting a key element in the epidemiology of pathogens transmitted by direct contact or through the air (Turner *et al.*, 2014; Moleón and Sánchez-Zapata, 2016). As for non-trophic transmission of pathogens, this study focuses on *S. scabiei*, the mite that causes sarcoptic mange, which is mainly transmitted by direct contact. As with the previously mentioned parasites, *S. scabiei* has a wide range of host species that includes mammalian carnivores present on the Iberian Peninsula, can survive for several weeks in the environment, and has a major impact on wild carnivore populations (Arlian *et al.*, 1984; Oleaga *et al.*, 2011; Arlian and Morgan, 2017).

### **BIOLOGY AND THE EPIDEMIOLOGICAL ROLE OF RED FOX AND OTHER MESOCARNIVORES**

The red fox is one of the most widespread mammals in the world, inhabiting regions of Eurasia, North Africa, North America and Australia. Its ecological plasticity allows it to occupy many geographical regions with different climatic conditions, from the Sahara desert to the Boreal region (Hoffmann and Sillero-Zubiri, 2016).

It is the most widely distributed and abundant carnivore mammal on the Iberian Peninsula, where exhibits a wide trophic spectrum (Díaz-Ruiz *et al.*, 2013). In general, its diet is based on rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*), small mammals, carrion and fruits (Díaz-Ruiz *et al.*, 2013). Consumption of carrion by foxes depends on many factors. For example, in winter they typically increase carcass consumption due to a lack of alternative resources (Rossi *et al.*, 1992; Selva *et al.*, 2005; Genovart *et al.*, 2010).

The red fox's eclecticism enables it to dwell in urban and periurban areas where it finds abundant human waste, pet food, and even domestic animals (Contesse et al., 2004; Mackenstedt et al., 2015). This has afforded it special attention, not only as a pathogen reservoir with health implications for wildlife species, but also for domestic animals and human beings (Mackenstedt et al., 2015; Karamon et al., 2018). In this sense, the fox's role in the sylvatic life cycle of various zoonotic parasites has been amply documented, with Trichinella spp. and T. gondii being among the most studied ones (Pozio and Murrell, 2006; Sobrino et al., 2007; Mackenstedt et al., 2015). The fox merits special attention as a reservoir of Echinococcus multilocularis (Duscher et al., 2015), a cestode with serious health and economic consequences for humans globally (Budke et al., 2006). The complex life cycle of many parasites makes it difficult to know all the possible interactions between wildlife, domestic animals and humans that could pose a risk of transmission of any of these parasites. For this reason, it is important to carefully assess the presence of wildlife species such as the red fox in anthropized environments, considering the lack of knowledge about many aspects of the life cycles and epidemiological features of these parasites (Mackenstedt et al., 2015).

In addition to foxes, other widespread mesocarnivore scavengers on the Iberian Peninsula, like stone martens (*Martes foina*), genets (*Genetta genetta*) and badgers (*Meles meles*), should be considered when studying ecological and epidemiological aspects of carrion because they all share habitat and resources (Gaubert *et al.*, 2015; Abramov *et al.*, 2016; Hoffmann and Sillero-Zubiri, 2016; Kranz *et al.*, 2016; Amaya-Castaño and Palomares, 2018). Moreover, all of these species are hosts of the previously described parasites affecting foxes (mainly *Trichinella* spp. and *T. gondii*), so they may also play an epidemiological role in the maintenance and dispersion of their sylvatic life cycle (Pozio and Murrell, 2006; Sobrino *et al.*, 2007, 2008). For this reason, disease surveillance should be used to track these pathogens in all the wildlife species that are potential reservoirs of these zoonoses, especially if they inhabit urban or periurban areas (Lempp *et al.*, 2017).

Moreover, the previously mentioned mesocarnivores are hosts of some viruses that may pose a risk to the conservation of threatened Iberian wildlife species, such as the Iberian lynx (*Lynx pardinus*) and the European wildcat (*Felis silvestris silvestris*) (Duarte *et al.*, 2013).

#### **ECOLOGY AND EPIDEMIOLOGY: A HOLISTIC VISION**

One of the main foundations for driving genuine scientific progress, which also has a practical application, is the promotion of evidence-based science (Jensen and Gerber, 2020). This concept refers to the use and presentation of rigorously interpreted and discussed scientific data obtained by combining researchers' experience and personal skills with the evidence provided by systematic studies (Jensen and Gerber, 2020). Traditionally, one of the main errors scientists have made when studying the epidemiology of pathogens in wildlife, as well as in the wildlife-domestic-human interface, is the lack of general knowledge integration from different expertise disciplines. A good indication of this is that, despite advances in human medicine using antimicrobials, the appearance of zoonotic diseases in wildlife species that affect humans is increasingly prevalent (Mackenzie et al., 2013). This demonstrates the pressing need to approach the study of zoonotic diseases from a holistic perspective whereby the conservation of habitats and biodiversity and human health are closely related (Cunningham et al., 2017). To this effect, an interdisciplinary approach with the joint participation of specialists with expertise in animal and human diseases is necessary, as suggested by the World Health Organization and the European Union (Busani et al., 2006), with the goal of performing epidemiological studies within the One Health framework (Mackenzie et al., 2013; Gyles, 2016; Cunningham et al., 2017) (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Graphic representation of the One Health concept. Based on Gyles (2016).

Although the first article that mentioned the need to establish collaborations between disciplines with practical applications dates from 1944 (Brozek and Keys, 1944), only in the last decades has this proposal seen renewed support. This coincides with the confirmation that parasites need to be included and considered as fundamental part of ecosystems, while encouraging researchers to approach the study of wildlife diseases from an ecological perspective (Marcogliese and Cone, 1997; Marcogliese, 2003; Sukhdeo, 2012). With this new vision, the contribution of research teams specialized in disciplines such as Epidemiology and Ecology is needed to propose, design, interpret, and assess scientific information concerning ecology and wildlife diseases (Lafferty *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, considering future studies will address increasingly complex ecological networks, the need for the participation of researchers with different profiles, such as those with backgrounds in bioinformatics, is anticipated (Michalska-Smith and Allesina, 2019).

When research projects are approached from an interdisciplinary perspective, a key element is the correct and precise use of scientific terminology from each specific field of knowledge. This avoids errors and misunderstandings while promoting an accurate exchange of information and ideas among disciplines (Wells and Richmond, 1995; Hodges, 2008). In this sense, it is desirable to raise interdisciplinary collaboration on scientific studies with the goal of increasing the diversity of approaches to help interpret and discuss the results (Disis and Slattery, 2010). Some unidisciplinary studies may incur in erroneous or imprecise use of scientific terms and concepts, especially if the research is carried out in a field of study different from the researchers' discipline of expertise (Jax *et al.*, 1992; Hodges, 2008). In this sense, a lack of rigor and accuracy in the use of terminology and concepts may be the source of the chain of errors that may be repeated in subsequent publications. In the specific case of studying wildlife diseases, these inherited and repeated errors could also have negative health consequences on wildlife and domestic species when they are applied to disease management (Margalida and Colomer, 2012; Gortázar *et al.*, 2015).

With the goal of increasing the scientific rigor of research, and, thus, obtaining robust findings that can be used in the management of wildlife species and the conservation of biodiversity in general, detailed fieldwork studies are also recommended (Ríos-Saldaña *et al.*, 2018). One possible explanation for the decreasing frequency of studies whose conclusions are based on fieldwork is that they are undervalued from the perspective of publications in comparison to other type of studies (Fitzsimmons and Skevington, 2010). The lesser importance given to fieldwork-based articles, which impedes researchers' professional and career growth (Reich, 2013), may encourage undertaking studies with a less solid empirical basis. Nonetheless, scientific studies with an ecological and epidemiological approach should include rigorous fieldwork, for which a non-invasive methodology may be necessary to provide objective and accurate information; as such, camera trapping may prove very useful in disease ecology studies.

#### REFERENCES

Abramov, A., Kranz, A., Herrero, J., Choudhury, A. & Maran, T. (2016). *Martes foina, The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species*, e.T29672A45202514.

Abrams, P. A. (1987). On classifying interactions between populations. Oecologia, 73(2), 272-281.

Amaya-Castaño, G. C. & Palomares, F. (2018). Effect of human influence on carnivore presence in a Mediterranean human-modified area in the Southwestern Iberian Peninsula / Efecto de la influencia humana sobre la presencia de carnívoros en un área mediterránea humanizada del suroeste de la península ibérica, *Galemys*, *30*, 9-20.

Anand, M., Gonzalez, A., Guichard, F., Kolasa, J. & Parrott, L. (2010). Ecological systems as complex systems: challenges for an emerging science. *Diversity*, 2(3), 395-10.

Antonovics, J., Wilson, A. J., Forbes, M. R., Hauffe, H. C., Kallio, E. R., Leggett, H. C., Longdon, B., Okamura, B., Sait, S. M. & Webster, J. P. (2017). The evolution of transmission mode. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *372*(1719), 20160083.

Arlian, L. G. & Morgan, M. S. (2017). A review of *Sarcoptes scabiei*: past, present and future. *Parasites & Vectors*, *10*, 297.

Arlian, L. G., Runyan, R. A., Achar, S. & Estes, S. A. (1984). Survival and infectivity of *Sarcoptes scabiei* var. *canis* and var. *hominis*. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, *11*(2), 210-215.

Badagliacca, P., Di Sabatino, D., Salucci, S., Romeo, G., Cipriani, M., Sulli, N., Dall'Acqua, F., Ruggieri, M., Calistri, P. & Morelli, D. (2016). The role of the wolf in endemic sylvatic *Trichinella britovi* infection in the Abruzzi region of Central Italy. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *231*, 124-127.

Barton, P. S., Cunningham, S. A., Lindenmayer, D. B. & Manning, A. D. (2013). The role of carrion in maintaining biodiversity and ecological processes in terrestrial ecosystems. *Oecologia*, *171*(4), 761-772.

Brose, U., Berlow, E. L. & Martinez, N. D. (2005). Scaling up keystone effects from simple to complex ecological networks. *Ecology Letters*, 8(12), 1317-1325.

Brozek, J. & Keys, A. (1944). General aspects of interdisciplinary research in experimental human biology. *Science*, *100*(2606), 507-512.

Budke, C. M., Deplazes, P. & Torgerson, P. R. (2006). Global socioeconomic impact of cystic echinococcosis. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 12(2), 296-303.

Buechley, E. R. & Şekercioğlu, Ç. H. (2016). The avian scavenger crisis: looming extinctions, trophic cascades, and loss of critical ecosystem functions. *Biological Conservation*, 198, 220-228.

Busani, L., Caprioli, A., Macrì, A., Mantovani, A., Scavia, G. & Seimenis, A. (2006). Multidisciplinary collaboration in veterinary public health. *Annali dell'Istituto Superiore Di Sanita*, 42(4), 397-400.

Cagnacci, F., Lovari, S. & Meriggi, A. (2003). Carrion dependence and food habits of the red fox in an Alpine area. *Italian Journal of Zoology*, 70(1), 31-38.

Campbell, W. C. (1988). Trichinosis revisited--another look at modes of transmission. *Parasitology Today*, *4*(3), 83-86.

Cantlay, J. C., Ingram, D. J. & Meredith, A. L. (2017). A review of zoonotic infection risks associated with the wild meat trade in Malaysia. *Ecohealth*, 14(2), 361-388.

Caravaggi, A., Banks, P. B., Burton, A. C., Finlay, C. M. V., Haswell, P. M., Hayward, M. W., Rowcliffe, M. J. & Wood, M. D. (2017). A review of camera trapping for conservation behaviour research. *Remote Sensing in Ecology and Conservation*, *3*(3), 109-122.

Carricondo-Sánchez, D., Odden, M., Linnell, J. D. C. & Odden, J. (2017). The range of the mange: Spatiotemporal patterns of sarcoptic mange in red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) as revealed by camera trapping. *PLoS One*, *12*(4), e0176200.

Cernosek, T., Eckert, K. E., Carter, D. O. & Perrault, K. A. (2020). Volatile organic compound profiling from postmortem microbes using gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Journal of Forensic Sciences*, 65(1), 134-143.

Choisy, M., Brown, S. P., Lafferty, K. D. & Thomas, F. (2003). Evolution of trophic transmission in parasites: why add intermediate hosts? *The American Naturalist*, *162*(2), 172-181.

Contesse, P., Hegglin, D., Gloor, S., Bontadina, F. & Deplazes, P. (2004). The diet of urban foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) and the availability of anthropogenic food in the city of Zurich, Switzerland. *Mammalian Biology*, 69(2), 81-95.

Cunningham, A. A., Daszak, P. & Wood, J. L. N. (2017). One Health, emerging infectious diseases and wildlife: two decades of progress? *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*. *Series B, Biological Sciences*, *372*(1725), 20160167.

DeVault, T., Beasley, J., Olson, Z. H., Moleón, M., Carrete, M., Margalida, A. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. (2016). Ecosystem services provided by avian scavengers. In: C. H. Şekercioğlu, D. G. Wenny, C. J. Whelan (Eds.), Why do birds matter? Avian ecological function and ecosystem services (pp 235–270). Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

DeVault, T., Rhodes, O. E. & Shivik, J. A. (2003). Scavenging by vertebrates: behavioral, ecological, and evolutionary perspectives on an important energy transfer pathway in terrestrial ecosystems. *Oikos*, *102*(2), 225-234.

Díaz-Ruiz, F., Delibes-Mateos, M., García-Moreno, J. L., López-Martín, J. M., Ferreira, C. & Ferreras, P. (2013). Biogeographical patterns in the diet of an opportunistic predator: the red fox *Vulpes vulpes* in the Iberian Peninsula. *Mammal Review*, 43(1), 59-70.

Disis, M. L. & Slattery, J. T. (2010). The road we must take: multidisciplinary team science. *Science Translational Medicine*, *2*(22), 22cm9.

Duarte, M. D., Henriques, A. M., Barros, S. C., Fagulha, T., Mendonça, P., Carvalho, P., Monteiro, M., Fevereiro, M., Basto, M. P., Rosalino, L. M., Barros, T., Bandeira, V., Fonseca, C. & Cunha, M. V. (2013). Snapshot of viral infections in wild carnivores reveals ubiquity of parvovirus and susceptibility of Egyptian mongoose to feline panleukopenia virus. *PLoS One*, *8*(3), e59399.

Dubey, J. P. (1991). Toxoplasmosis--an overview. *The Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health*, 22 Suppl, 88-92.

Duscher, G. G., Leschnik, M., Fuehrer, H. P. & Joachim, A. (2015). Wildlife reservoirs for vectorborne canine, feline and zoonotic infections in Austria. *International Journal for Parasitology*. *Parasites and Wildlife*, 4(1), 88-96.

Ferrero, D. M., Lemon, J. K., Fluegge, D., Pashkovski, S. L., Korzan, W. J., Datta, S. R., Spehr, M., Fendt, M. & Liberles, S. D. (2011). Detection and avoidance of a carnivore odor by prey. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *108*(27), 11235-11240.

Fitzsimmons, J. M. & Skevington, J. H. (2010). Metrics: don't dismiss journals with a low impact factor. *Nature*, *466*(7303), 179.

Gaubert, P., Carvalho, F., Camps, D. & Do Linh San, E. (2015). *Genetta genetta. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species*, e.T41698A45218636.

Genovart, M., Negre, N., Tavecchia, G., Bistuer, A., Parpal, L. & Oro, D. (2010). The young, the weak and the sick: evidence of natural selection by predation. *PLoS One*, *5*(3), e9774.

Getz, W. M. (2011). Biomass transformation webs provide a unified approach to consumerresource modelling. *Ecology Letters*, 14(2), 113-124.

Gondim, L. F. P. (2006). Neospora caninum in wildlife. Trends in Parasitology, 22(6), 247-252.

Gortázar, C., Diez-Delgado, I., Barasona, J. A., Vicente, J., De La Fuente, J. & Boadella, M. (2015). The wild side of disease control at the wildlife-livestock-human interface: a review. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, *1*, 27.

Gyles, C. (2016). One medicine, one health, one world. *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 57(4), 345-346.

Hart, B. L. (2011). Behavioral defenses in animals against pathogens and parasites: parallels with the pillars of medicine in humans. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*. *Series B, Biological Sciences*, *366*(1583), 3406-3417.

Hatcher, M. J., Dick, J. T. & Dunn, A. M. (2012). Diverse effects of parasites in ecosystems: linking interdependent processes. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, *10*(4), 186-194.

Hodges, K. E. (2008). Defining the problem: terminology and progress in ecology. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 6(1), 35-42.

Hoffmann, M. & Sillero-Zubiri, C. (2016). Vulpes vulpes. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species, e.T23062A46190249.

Huang, S., Bininda-Emonds, O. R. P., Stephens, P. R., Gittleman, J. L. & Altizer, S. (2014). Phylogenetically related and ecologically similar carnivores harbour similar parasite assemblages. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *83*(3), 71-680.

Hudson, P. J., Dobson, A. P. & Lafferty, K. D. (2006). Is a healthy ecosystem one that is rich in parasites? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 21(7), 381-385

Jax, K., Zauke, G. P. & Vareschi, E. (1992). Remarks on terminology and the description of ecological systems. *Ecological Modelling*, 63(1), 133-141.

Jensen, E. A. & Gerber, A. (2020). Evidence-based science communication. Frontiers in Communication, 4, 78.

Karamon, J., Dąbrowska, J., Kochanowski, M., Samorek-Pieróg, M., Sroka, J., Różycki, M., Bilska-Zając, E., Zdybel, J. & Cencek, T. (2018). Prevalence of intestinal helminths of red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) in central Europe (Poland): a significant zoonotic threat. *Parasites & Vectors*, *11*, 436.

Kelly, M. J., Noss, A. J., Di Bitetti, M. S., Maffei, L., Arispe, R. L., Paviolo, A., De Angelo, C. D. & Di Blanco, Y. E. (2008). Estimating puma densities from camera trapping across three study sites: Bolivia, Argentina, and Belize. *Journal of Mammalogy*, *89*(2), 408-418.

Kranz, A., Abramov, A., Herrero, J. & Maran, T. (2016). *Meles meles. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species*, e.T29673A45203002.

Lafferty, K. D., Allesina, S., Arim, M., Briggs, C. J., De Leo, G., Dobson, A. P., Dunne, J. A., Johnson, P. T. J., Kuris, A. M., Marcogliese, D. J., Martinez, N. D., Memmott, J., Marquet, P. A., McLaughlin, J. P., Mordecai, E. A., Pascual, M., Poulin, R. & Thieltges, D. W. (2008). Parasites in food webs: the ultimate missing links. *Ecology Letters*, *11*(6), 533-546.

Landi, P., Minoarivelo, H. O., Brännström, Å., Hui, C. & Dieckmann, U. (2018). Complexity and stability of ecological networks: a review of the theory. *Population Ecology*, *60*(4), 319-345.

Lefèvre, T., Lebarbenchon, C., Gauthier-Clerc, M., Missé, D., Poulin, R. & Thomas, F. (2009). The ecological significance of manipulative parasites. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 24(1), 41-48.

Lempp, C., Jungwirth, N., Grilo, M. L., Reckendorf, A., Ulrich, A., Neer, A. van, Bodewes, R., Pfankuche, V. M., Bauer, C., Osterhaus, A. D. M. E., Baumgärtner, W. & Siebert, U. (2017). Pathological findings in the red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*), stone marten (*Martes foina*) and raccoon dog (*Nyctereutes procyonoides*), with special emphasis on infectious and zoonotic agents in Northern Germany. *PLoS One*, 12(4), e0175469.

MacDougall, A. S., McCann, K. S., Gellner, G. & Turkington, R. (2013). Diversity loss with persistent human disturbance increases vulnerability to ecosystem collapse. *Nature*, *494*(7435), 86-89.

Mackenstedt, U., Jenkins, D. & Romig, T. (2015). The role of wildlife in the transmission of parasitic zoonoses in peri-urban and urban areas. *International Journal for Parasitology: Parasites and Wildlife*, 4(1), 71-79.

Mackenzie, J. S., Jeggo, M., Daszak, P. & Richt, J. A. (2013). One Health: The human-animalenvironment interfaces in emerging infectious diseases: the concept and examples of a One Health approach. Berlin: Springer.

Marcogliese, D. J. (2003). Food webs and biodiversity: are parasites the missing link? *Journal of Parasitology*, *89*, 106-113.

Marcogliese, D. J. & Cone, D. K. (1997). Food webs: a plea for parasites. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 12(8), 320-325.

Margalida, A. & Colomer, M. À. (2012). Modelling the effects of sanitary policies on European vulture conservation. *Scientific Reports*, *2*, 753.

Mateo-Tomás, P., Olea, P. P., Moleón, M., Vicente, J., Botella, F., Selva, N., Viñuela, J. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. A. (2015). From regional to global patterns in vertebrate scavenger communities subsidized by big game hunting. *Diversity and Distributions*, *21*(8), 913-924.

Mayntz, D. & Toft, S. (2006). Nutritional value of cannibalism and the role of starvation and nutrient imbalance for cannibalistic tendencies in a generalist predator. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 75(1), 288-297.

McElhinney, L. M., Marston, D. A., Brookes, S. M. & Fooks, A. R. (2014). Effects of carcase decomposition on rabies virus infectivity and detection. *Journal of Virological Methods*, 207, 110-113.

Meffe, G. K. & Crump, M. L. (1987). Possible growth and reproductive benefits of cannibalism in the mosquitofish. *The American Naturalist*, 129(2), 203-212.

Michalska-Smith, M. J. & Allesina, S. (2019). Telling ecological networks apart by their structure: a computational challenge. *PLoS Computational Biology*, *15*(6), e1007076.

Moleón, M., Martinez-Carrasco, C., Muellerklein, O. C., Getz, W. M., Muñoz-Lozano, C. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. A. (2017). Carnivore carcasses are avoided by carnivores. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *86*(5), 1179-1191.

Moleón, M. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. A. (2015). The living dead: time to integrate scavenging into ecological teaching. *BioScience*, 65(10), 1003-1010.

Moleón, M. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. A. (2016). Non-trophic functions of carcasses: from death to the nest. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 14(6), 340-341.

Moleón, M., Sánchez-Zapata, J. A., Selva, N., Donázar, J. A. & Owen-Smith, N. (2014). Interspecific interactions linking predation and scavenging in terrestrial vertebrate assemblages. *Biological Reviews*, 89(4), 1042-1054.

Morales-Reyes, Z., Sánchez-Zapata, J. A., Sebastián-González, E., Botella, F., Carrete, M. & Moleón, M. (2017). Scavenging efficiency and red fox abundance in Mediterranean mountains with and without vultures. *Acta Oecologica*, *79*, 81-88.

Moreno-Opo, R. & Margalida, A. (2013). Carcasses provide resources not exclusively to scavengers: patterns of carrion exploitation by passerine birds. *Ecosphere*, 4(8), 105.

Muñoz-Lozano, C., Martín-Vega, D., Martínez-Carrasco, C., Sánchez-Zapata, J. A., Morales-Reyes, Z., Gonzálvez, M. & Moleón, M. (2019). Avoidance of carnivore carcasses by vertebrate scavengers enables colonization by a diverse community of carrion insects. *PLoS One*, *14*(8), e0221890.

Ogada, D. L., Torchin, M. E., Kinnaird, M. F. & Ezenwa, V. O. (2012). Effects of vulture declines on facultative scavengers and potential implications for mammalian disease transmission. *Conservation Biology*, *26*(3), 453-460.

Oivanen, L., Mikkonen, T., Haltia, L., Karhula, H., Saloniemi, H. & Sukura, A. (2002). Persistence of *Trichinella spiralis* in rat carcasses experimentally mixed in different feed. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 43(4), 203-210.

Oleaga, Á., Casais, R., Balseiro, A. & Gortázar, C. (2011). New techniques for an old disease: sarcoptic mange in the Iberian wolf, *Veterinary Parasitology*, *181*(2-4), 255-266.

Olson, Z. H., Beasley, J. C. & Rhodes O. E. (2016). Carcass type affects local scavenger guilds more than habitat connectivity. *PLoS One*, *11*(2), e0147798.

Ostfeld, R. S., Keesing, F. & Eviner, V. T. (2008). Infectious disease ecology. Nueva Jersey: Princeton University Press.

Parker, G. A., Ball, M. A. & Chubb, J. C. (2015). Evolution of complex life cycles in trophically transmitted helminths. I. Host incorporation and trophic ascent. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 28(2), 67-291.

Parrott, L. (2010). Measuring ecological complexity. *Ecological Indicators*, 10(6), 1069-1076.

Pedersen, A. B. & Fenton, A. (2007). Emphasizing the ecology in parasite community ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 22(3), 133-139.

Penczykowski, R. M., Laine, A. L. & Koskella, B. (2016). Understanding the ecology and evolution of host–parasite interactions across scales. *Evolutionary Applications*, 9(1), 37-52.

Phillips, R. S. (2002). Parasitism: life cycles and host defences against parasites. In Encyclopedia of life sciences. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Poirotte, C., Massol, F., Herbert, A., Willaume, E., Bomo, P. M., Kappeler, P. M. & Charpentier, M. J. E. (2017). Mandrills use olfaction to socially avoid parasitized conspecifics. *Science Advances*, *3*(4), e1601721.

Polis, G. A. (1991). Complex desert food webs: an empirical critique of food web theory. *The American Naturalist*, 138(1), 123-155.

Pozio, E. (2000). Factors affecting the flow among domestic, synanthropic and sylvatic cycles of *Trichinella*. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *93*(3-4), 241-262.

Pozio, E. (2016). Adaptation of *Trichinella* spp. for survival in cold climates. *Food and Waterborne Parasitology*, *4*, 4-12.

Pozio, E. & Murrell, K. D. (2006). Systematics and epidemiology of *Trichinella*. Advances in Parasitology, 63, 367-439.

Pradel, E., Zhang, Y., Pujol, N., Matsuyama, T., Bargmann, C. I. & Ewbank, J. J. (2007). Detection and avoidance of a natural product from the pathogenic bacterium *Serratia marcescens* by *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(7), 2295-2300.

Pushkin, D. B. (1997). Scientific terminology and context: how broad or narrow are our meanings? *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *34*(6), 661-668.

Pyšková, K., Kauzál, O., Storch, D., Horáček, I., Pergl, J. & Pyšek, P. (2018). Carnivore distribution across habitats in a central-European landscape: a camera trap study. *ZooKeys*, 770, 227-246.

Reich, E. S. (2013). Science publishing: the golden club. Nature, 502(7471), 291-293.

Remonti, L., Balestrieri, A., Domenis, L., Banchi, C., Lo Valvo, T., Robetto, S. & Orusa, R. (2005). Red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) cannibalistic behaviour and the prevalence of *Trichinella britovi* in NW Italian Alps. *Parasitology Research*, *97*(6), 431-435.

Ríos-Saldaña, C. A., Delibes-Mateos, M. & Ferreira, C. C. (2018). Are fieldwork studies being relegated to second place in conservation science? *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 14, e00389.

Riva, E., Fiel, C. & Steffan, P. (2015). The immature stages of *Dermestes maculatus*, *Sarcophaga* sp. and *Phaenicia sericata* as potential paratenic hosts for *Trichinella spiralis* in nature. *Parasitology Research*, *114*(1), 149-154.

Rossi, L., Interisano, M., Deksne, G. & Pozio, E. (2019). The subnivium, a haven for *Trichinella* larvae in host carcasses. *International Journal for Parasitology: Parasites and Wildlife*, 8, 229-233.

Rossi, L., Pozio, E., Mignone, W., Ercolini, C. & Dini, V. (1992). Epidemiology of sylvatic trichinellosis in north-western Italy. *Revue scientifique et technique (International Office of Epizootics)*, 11(4), 1039-46.

Sebastián-González, E., Barbosa, J. M., Pérez-García, J. M., Morales-Reyes, Z., Botella, F., Olea, P. P., Mateo-Tomás, P., Moleón, M., Hiraldo, F., Arrondo, E., Donázar, J. A., Cortés-Avizanda, A., Selva, N., Lambertucci, S. A., Bhattacharjee, A., Brewer, A., Anadón, J. D., Abernethy, E., Rhodes, O. E., Turner, K., Beasley, J. C., DeVault, T. L., Ordiz, A., Wikenros, C., Zimmermann, B., Wabakken, P., Wilmers, C. C., Smith, J. A., Kendall, C. J., Ogada, D., Buechley, E. R., Frehner, E., Allen, M. L., Wittmer, H. U., Butler, J. R. A., Toit, J. T., Read, J., Wilson, D., Jerina, K., Krofel, M., Kostecke, R., Inger, R., Samson, A., Naves-Alegre, L. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. A. (2019). Scavenging in the Anthropocene: human impact drives vertebrate scavenger species richness at a global scale. *Global Change Biology*, *25*(9), 3005-3017.

Sebastián-González, E., Moleón, M., Gibert, J. P., Botella, F., Mateo-Tomás, P., Olea, P. P., Guimarães, P. R. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. A. (2016). Nested species-rich networks of scavenging vertebrates support high levels of interspecific competition. *Ecology*, *97*(1), 95-105.

Selva, N. & Fortuna, M. A. (2007). The nested structure of a scavenger community. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 274(1613), 1101-1108.

Selva, N., Jędrzejewska, B., Jędrzejewski, W. & Wajrak, A. (2005). Factors affecting carcass use by a guild of scavengers in European temperate woodland. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 83(12), 1590-1601.

Sobrino, R., Cabezón, O., Millán, J., Pabón, M., Arnal, M. C., Luco, D. F., Gortázar, C., Dubey, J. P. & Almería, S. (2007). Seroprevalence of *Toxoplasma gondii* antibodies in wild carnivores from Spain. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *148*(3-4), 187-192.

Sobrino, R., Dubey, J. P., Pabón, M., Linarez, N., Kwok, O. C., Millán, J., Arnal, M. C., Luco, D. F., López-Gatius, F., Thulliez, P., Gortázar, C. & Almería, S. (2008). *Neospora caninum* antibodies in wild carnivores from Spain. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *155*(3-4), 190-197.

Stella, S., Tirloni, E., Castelli, E., Colombo, F. & Bernardi, C. (2018). Microbiological evaluation of carcasses of wild boar hunted in a hill area of Northern Italy. *Journal of Food Protection*, *81*(9), 1519-1525.

Sukhdeo, M. V. (2012). Where are the parasites in food webs? Parasites & Vectors, 5, 239.

Trolliet, F., Vermeulen, C., Huynen, M. C. & Hambuckers, A. (2014). Use of camera traps for wildlife studies: a review. *Biotechnologie, Agronomie, Société et Environnement, 18*(3), 446-454.

Turner, W. C., Kausrud, K. L., Krishnappa, Y. S., Cromsigt, J. P. G. M., Ganz, H. H., Mapaure, I., Cloete, C. C., Havarua, Z., Küsters, M., Getz, W. M. & Stenseth, N. C. (2014). Fatal attraction: vegetation responses to nutrient inputs attract herbivores to infectious anthrax carcass sites. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281(1795), 20141785.

Van Eck, N. J., Waltman, L., Dekker, R. & Van den Berg, J. (2010). A comparison of two techniques for bibliometric mapping: Multidimensional scaling and VOS. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, *61*(12), 2405-2416.

Wells, J. V. & Richmond, M. E. (1995). Populations, metapopulations, and species populations: what are they and who should care? *Wildlife Society Bulletin (1973-2006), 23*(3), 458-462.

Wilson, E. E. & Wolkovich, E. M. (2011). Scavenging: how carnivores and carrion structure communities. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 26(3), 129-135.

Zambrano-Villa, S., Rosales-Borjas, D., Carrero, J. C. & Ortiz-Ortiz, L. (2002). How protozoan parasites evade the immune response. *Trends in Parasitology*, *18*(6), 272-278.

Zepeda Mendoza, M. L., Roggenbuck, M., Manzano Vargas, K., Hansen, L. H., Brunak, S., Gilbert, M. T. P. & Sicheritz-Pontén, T. (2018). Protective role of the vulture facial skin and gut microbiomes aid adaptation to scavenging. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 60(1), 61.

## **OBJECTIVES**

The overall objective of this doctoral thesis is the study of the behavior of wild species in relation to carnivore carcasses in areas with different degrees of anthropization and biodiversity, underscoring the epidemiological consequences that may be deduced from these interactions.

The recognition of parasites as an integral part of ecosystems has led to an increase in complexity of the epidemiological studies of wildlife diseases. In this sense, the importance of establishing interdisciplinary scientific collaboration that enables improving the assessment and discussion of results brings us to the first objective of this doctoral thesis:

To describe and evaluate the scientific knowledge of the meat-borne parasite transmission to carnivores at the wildlife-domestic-human interface. This study focuses on parasites transmitted through the consumption of meat that are worldwide distributed (*Trichinella* spp., *Toxoplasma gondii* and *Neospora caninum*). The specific objectives are (a) to explore whether claims that parasites are transmitted through meat consumption in the wildlife are scientifically founded, (b) to determine whether specific ecological concepts and terms are used correctly and accurately in epidemiological studies that address meat-borne parasite transmission in wild species, and (c) to evaluate whether the appropriate use of these concepts and terms is related to the degree of interdisciplinarity of the research teams who participate in this type of studies. This objective will be addressed in Chapter 1.

Concerning the trophic transmission of parasites, and in accordance with recently published studies, the apprehension of mammalian carnivores to get infected may condition the consumption of carnivore carrion by this type of scavengers. This avoidance behavior seems especially strong when the carrion belongs to species which are phylogenetically close to the consumer. For this reason, the second objective of this doctoral thesis is:

2. To evaluate the trophic behavior of vertebrate scavengers regarding the consumption of carnivore carcasses over time in areas with different communities of scavengers and degrees of anthropization. In this section, special attention will be paid to the scavenging behavior of the red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*), considering from an epidemiological perspective the consequences that such behavior can have on the transmission of meat-borne parasites in the wild. This objective will be addressed in Chapter 2.

This avoidance behavior of species visiting carnivore carcasses may include approach and contact patterns of interest for the epidemiological study of non-trophically transmitted pathogens. For this reason, the third objective of this doctoral thesis is:

3. To describe the pattern of non-trophic interactions among vertebrates, both carnivores and herbivores, and carnivore carcasses in areas with different degrees of anthropization and biodiversity. Particular focus will be placed on non-trophic interactions between carcasses and red fox, interpreting from an epidemiological approach the possible consequences of such behaviors on the propagation on non-trophically transmitted pathogens. This objective will be addressed in Chapter 3.

## **CHAPTER 1**

RESEARCH ON MEAT-BORNE PARASITES IN WILDLIFE: THE CHALLENGE OF BUILDING A SCIENCE-BASED EPIDEMIOLOGY

#### ABSTRACT

In recent years, the study of parasites has gained notoriety in Ecology, especially from a phylogenetic-evolutionary perspective and in relation to food webs. Thus, a holistic vision that integrates both the epidemiological and ecological perspectives is critical to address the study of infectious diseases in wildlife. Here, we conducted a systematic review of studies on parasite transmission by meat consumption, by either predation or scavenging, at the wildlife-livestock-human interface, with the aim of determine if a) assumptions about the transmission of meat-borne parasites in wildlife are based on accurate evidences, b) the key ecological terms on meat consumption are used correctly and accurately, and c) the precise use of this terminology relates to the degree of interdisciplinarity of the research team. Most of the articles analyzed were carried out by unidisciplinary teams (74.2%), mostly composed of veterinarians, and only a minority (25.8%) were interdisciplinary teams comprising mainly veterinarians, biologists or physicians. To support the epidemiological interpretation of meat-borne parasite transmission, 46.1% of the publications made non-science-based assertions, 51.7% relied exclusively on statements drawn from bibliographical references, and none of the studies based their conclusions on accurate field data. One of the consequences of the lack of interdisciplinary collaboration in the study of meat-borne parasite transmission in wildlife was that ecological terms related to the trophic behavior of carnivores were often not used and, when mentioned, were used inaccurately or even erroneously. We suggest that interdisciplinary collaboration may favor the correct and accurate use of scientific language in research on disease ecology, which could facilitate effective communication among disciplines and thus consolidate future interdisciplinary collaborations.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Parasites are fundamental components of all ecosystems and therefore are involved in the structure and functioning of natural communities (Dobson and Hudson, 1986; Price *et al.*, 1986; Gómez and Nichols, 2013; Seabloom *et al.*, 2015). The diversity of parasites is huge and includes an immense array of taxonomic groups and life-history traits (Poulin, 2007; Fountain-Jones *et al.*, 2018; Llopis-Belenguer *et al.*, 2019). An evidence that parasites are fully integrated into ecosystems is that many of them have life cycles involving different definitive, intermediate, accidental and paratenic host species, as a result of co-evolutionary processes (Price *et al.*, 1986; Brunner and Eizaguirre, 2016; Sarabian *et al.*, 2018). This implies a great number of ecological interactions and strategies for the maintenance and transmission dynamics of parasites (Parker *et al.*, 2003). Consequently, the study of the epidemiology of parasites and, in particular, the way they are transmitted in the environment remains one of the major challenges in epidemiological, ecological and evolutionary research (Ezenwa *et al.*, 2006; Sukhdeo, 2012).

Currently, it is recommended that the study of infectious diseases be undertaken from a One Health approach (Jenkins *et al.*, 2015; Sleeman *et al.*, 2019). The implementation of this holistic perspective, although difficult to carry out in wildlife, is necessary to understand the epidemiological role played by wild species. Since any modification of ecological interactions could result in a change in the epidemiology of pathogens (Altizer *et al.*, 2013), ecological aspects must be taken into account when studying parasites in wildlife, especially nowadays due to the global environmental change that our planet is undergoing (Parmesan, 2006).

The trophic route is one of the most frequent ways of parasite transmission in the wild (Lafferty and Kuris, 2002). Most studies on the trophic behavior of wild carnivorous mammals have been carried out by biologists, while the epidemiological study of meatborne pathogens in nature has been undertaken by veterinarians. Epidemiological interpretation of how the sylvatic cycle of parasites is maintained must be supported by scientific evidence of the ecological interactions involved in such a transmission route (Fountain-Jones *et al.*, 2018). In this regard, it is particularly widespread in a veterinary epidemiology context that the transmission of meat-borne parasites in wild carnivores (e.g., Trichinella spp., Toxoplasma gondii and Neospora caninum) occurs in part by scavenging behaviors, including intraspecific consumption (i.e., cannibalism) (Campbell, 1988; Pozio, 1998; Pozio, 2000; Gondim, 2006; Pozio and Murrell, 2006; Dubey and Jones, 2008; Almería, 2013; Lopes et al., 2015; Badagliacca et al., 2016). However, this last statement is in contradiction with recent findings showing that carnivorous mammals generally have a low cannibalistic tendency (Selva et al., 2005; Moleón et al., 2017). This indicates that the scientific evidence supporting this epidemiological interpretation is often weak (Von Elm and Egger, 2004; Zaccai, 2004) and insufficiently based on accurate fieldwork data (Ríos-Saldaña et al., 2018). In addition, it suggests that the interdisciplinary collaboration in epidemiological research is limited (Disis and Slattery, 2010; Blanco, 2014). At this point, we must highlight that wrong scientific statements and unfounded assertions may
have important negative consequences on the management of domestic and wild animals' health (Margalida and Colomer, 2012; Gortázar *et al.*, 2015).

The existence of many factors that may influence the transmission of parasites in the wild encourages the collaboration between biologists and veterinarians when undertaking epidemiological studies. This interdisciplinary approach requires the use of concepts and terms with specific meaning to each of these scientific disciplines. When researching from an interdisciplinary approach, the precise and correct use of scientific language is essential to avoid errors and misinterpretations (Wells and Richmond, 1995; Pushkin, 1996; Hodges, 2008; Bridle *et al.*, 2013; Fischer *et al.*, 2015). Only in this way can effective communication and the sharing and integration of accurate ideas between disciplines be successfully achieved (Ripple *et al.*, 2016).

The general goal of this study is to systematically review the current status of knowledge about parasite transmission through trophic behavior in terrestrial vertebrate carnivores at the wildlife-livestock-human interface. The systematic review focuses on meat-borne pathogens, in particular three parasites widely distributed around the world (Trichinella spp., T. gondii and N. caninum), with the aim of providing answers to the following questions: a) are statements about the transmission of meat-borne parasites in wildlife based on accurate evidences?; b) are the key ecological concepts and terms on meat consumption used correctly and accurately in epidemiological studies on trophic transmission of parasites in wildlife?; and, c) does the precise use of this terminology relate to the degree of interdisciplinarity of the research team involved in the epidemiological study? We hypothesize that epidemiological studies in wildlife conducted by veterinarians generally assume that certain trophic behaviors, such as cannibalism, are common among wild carnivorous mammals and, therefore, reach epidemiological conclusions that are not science-based. Our prediction is that interdisciplinary studies between ecologists and veterinarians employ the terms and concepts related to trophic behavior with more accuracy. Our study provides information to be taken into account in the design of future epidemiological researches on wildlife, especially those related to the transmission of meatborne parasites.

### **MATERIAL AND METHODS**

#### Defining key ecological terms

This systematic review is based on parasites transmitted by meat consumption at the wildlife-livestock-human interface. For this reason, it requires the definition of key ecological terms frequently employed in ecology and other biology disciplines when referring to vertebrate carnivores (Figure 1). First, "carnivore" is any animal that eats meat and other animal tissues, irrespective of its taxonomic identity. Second, the term "predation" refers to the consumption of a prey that has been killed by the consumer, while "scavenging" refers to the consumption of "carrion", i.e., tissues from animals that have died from causes other than predation by the consumer (Getz, 2011; Olea *et al.*, 2019). Third, a distinction can be made depending on the species to which the consumer and the prey belong. When the prey, either predated or scavenged, and the consumer belong to different species, we refer to "interspecific predation/scavenging" or, generally, "cannibalism" (Polis, 1981; Abrams, 1987). Thus, it should be noted that the concept of cannibalism includes the consumption of both predated and scavenged animals.



Figure 1. Key ecological terms commonly used to describe meat consumption in carnivore animals.

### Search protocol and selection criteria

We conducted a systematic review of scientific publications on pathogens transmitted by meat consumption, with special attention to three parasites (Trichinella spp., T. gondii and N. caninum). The election of these paradigmatic meat-borne parasites is justified by the wide range of wild host species, as well as because they are zoonotic agents (T. gondii and Trichinella spp.) or have an impact on livestock health (T. gondii and N. caninum) (Hill and Dubey, 2002; Pozio and Murrell, 2006; Dubey et al., 2007). Following guidelines provided by Haddaway et al. (2015), and according to the protocol outlined by PRISMA (Moher et al., 2009), we used the Web of Science database to search for "articles" and "reviews" published on or before December 2015 that included the following terms in the title or abstract: "Carrion" AND "Pathogen" OR "Trichinella" OR "Toxoplasma" OR "Neospora"; "Meat" AND "Pathogen" OR "Trichinella" OR "Toxoplasma" OR "Neospora"; "Scaveng\*" AND "Pathogen" OR "Trichinella" OR "Toxoplasma" OR "Neospora"; and "Predat\*" AND "Pathogen" OR "Trichinella" OR "Toxoplasma" OR "Neospora". Since the scope of this study was restricted to epidemiological studies at the wildlife-livestock-human interface, including vertebrate hosts, the research was limited to published studies in three scientific categories: "Veterinary Science", "Pathology", and "Parasitology". The search was completed with additional articles found by Google Scholar and PubMed, as well as with references obtained by reading the bibliography sections of the articles found in the consulted bibliographic databases. Data extraction, selection and analysis were conducted by the first author of this study, with co-authors cross-checking data when necessary.

In the first phase duplicated publications were excluded and 12,945 records were obtained. After restricting the search to the scope of the three scientific categories mentioned above, the records were reduced to 2,603. The selection of the final set of publications was performed on the basis of a two-step process following the recommendations of Dressel *et al.* (2015). The first step was to check the title and abstract of each publication in order to assess the relevance of the subject and eligibility and to separate "research articles" from "reviews", excluding other kind of publications different from the previous ones (e.g., letters, book chapters and congress proceedings). The second step was to read the full content of the papers to identify those studies within the scope of this systematic review. At this point, epidemiological studies involving only domestic animals (without referring wildlife trophic interaction), laboratory and experimental

studies, articles dealing exclusively with human medicine, food science studies and articles on invertebrate hosts were excluded. This resulted in 89 research articles and 31 reviews for in-depth review (Figure S1 and Appendix S1).

### Data extraction and analysis

Each selected publication was carefully read to extract the following general information: "year" of publication; country in which the research was carried out (i.e., the study area; only for articles, following the criterion of assigning the country according to the area where the study was carried out); and "biome" of the study area (from Olson et al., 2001). In addition, the following eco-epidemiological information was extracted from each of the selected articles: wild and domestic "host species" (i.e., those vertebrate species listed in the publication that are susceptible to the pathogen investigated); "class" to which the host species belongs (Amphibia, Reptilia, Aves, Mammalia); "feeding behavior" of the host species (carnivore, herbivore, omnivore); type of "pathogen" studied (helminths, protozoa, bacteria, viruses, prions); the "process" of obtaining the consumed meat, as argued/indicated/suggested by authors (predation, scavenging, cannibalism, meat-borne pathogen transmission in humans, any combination of the above, and not mentioned); and the "type of evidence" on which the parasite transmission route, if any, was inferred (direct evidence, such as direct observation or video recording of animals consuming prey; scientific bibliography; indirect evidence, such as diet studies from feces; and non-sciencebased assertions). Moreover, we checked whether the ecological terms related to meat consumption by carnivores (Figure 1) were correctly used in the reviewed publications (articles and reviews). The "use of terms" was classified as: not used (when the term was not mentioned in the article), misused (when the term was incorrectly used, i.e., it was used to describe a different process), inaccurately used (for example, when the term cannibalism was used without specifying whether it refers to cannibalistic predation or cannibalistic scavenging), and correctly used (when the context in which the term is applied leaves no doubt as to the precision of its use). Finally, the research "profile" of the co-authors of articles and reviews (veterinarian, biologist, physician, another research profile) was recorded, as inferred from each author's affiliation. Based on this, "research teams" were classified as unidisciplinary (when all the co-authors belonged to the same discipline) or interdisciplinary teams (when there were co-authors of at least two different disciplines).

From the selected publications, it was evaluated whether a) the type of evidence on which the study based its conclusions about the meat-borne parasite transmission was science-based and b) the correct and precise use of the ecological terms and concepts were related to the unidisciplinary or interdisciplinary character of the research team.

With the aim of revealing relationships between epidemiological and ecological terms used in articles about pathogen transmission through meat consumption at the wildlifelivestock-human interface, we identified clusters of terms extracted from the content of the selected publications. For this purpose, we used VOSviewer (http://www.vosviewer.com/), a free software for creating and visualizing semantic networks or term maps from scientific literature (Van Eck and Waltman, 2010; Perianes-Rodriguez *et al.*, 2016). The software applies text mining and clustering functions to analyze co-occurrence of terms (Van Eck and Waltman, 2010). We focused on the terms (n=388 terms; we did not consider general words such as articles, prepositions and pronouns) that co-occurred in the title or abstract of at least two articles. We then examined the terms initially selected by the software and removed those that were not considered key terms directly related to the core of the study and that are usually mentioned, such as "analysis", "antibody", "antigen", "data", "human infection", "laboratory", "patient", "PCR", "result", "sample", "sex", "study" or survey". Thus, we obtained a final subset of 25 terms of epidemiological and ecological relevance (Figure S2) to construct the semantic network.

### RESULTS

#### Type of meat-borne pathogens in wildlife subject to study

In relation to the meat-borne pathogens studied at the wildlife-livestock-human interface, most of the tested articles involved helminths (61.8%; 55/89), being in all cases publications focusing on *Trichinella* spp. Protozoa was the second most studied group of meat-borne parasites (30.3%; 27/89), with most articles targeting *T. gondii* (88.9%). Bacteria, viruses and prions compounded the minority group (14.6%; 13/89) with predominance of articles focused on bacteria of the genera *Salmonella, Leptospira* and *Mycobacterium*. The rest of pathogens (viruses and prions) had a marginal appearance in our search. On the other hand, one article addressed the study of all the groups of pathogens mentioned (helminths, protozoa and others), two papers jointly analyzed protozoa and helminths, and other two studies dealt with protozoan parasites and other pathogens belonging to the minority group (Figure S3, Table S1).

### Temporal and geographical distribution of included studies

The majority of articles and reviews have been published since 2000 (Figure S4). Most articles on the transmission of pathogens through meat consumption in wildlife were published in Europe and North America, mainly United States, Italy and Spain (Figure 2). Europe concentrated 63.6% (35/55) and 41.7% (10/24) of articles on *Trichinella* spp. and *T. gondii*, respectively, while 21.8% (12/55) and 16.7% (4/24) of articles on these pathogens, respectively, came from North America. Most of articles were focused on two biomes (Figure S5): temperate broadleaf and mixed forests (34.4%; 44/128 total biomes mentioned in the 89 articles) and Mediterranean forests, woodlands, and scrub (22.1%; 27/128).



Figure 2. Worldwide geographical distribution of published articles on meat-borne pathogens (*Trichinella* spp., *T. gondii* and other pathogens) at the wildlife-livestock-human interface.

### Parasites and host species assessed

In the articles evaluated (n=89), a total of 148 vertebrate species belonging to 104 genera were identified as hosts involved in the transmission of meat-borne parasites. Suidae family constituted the largest group of studied hosts (40.4%; 36/89, including 26 publications on wild boar, two on domestic pig and eight on both), followed by the genera *Vulpes* (32.6%; 29/89), *Canis* (19.1%; 17/89), *Ursus* (15.7%; 14/89), *Rattus* (13.5%; 12/89) and *Felis* (11.2%; 10/89). All articles checked focused on at least one wild species (median: 2; range: 1-33), and 15 publications (16.9%) also addressed at least one domestic species (median: 1; range: 1-4), mainly livestock.

With regard to articles focusing on the study of *Trichinella* spp., 88.1% dealt with mammals, 8.5% with birds and 3.4% with reptiles. Overall, 57.1% of articles addressed omnivorous mammal species, 26% carnivorous mammals and 7.8% herbivorous mammals; the remaining 6.5% and 2.6% corresponded to publications about *Trichinella* spp. affecting carnivorous birds and carnivorous reptiles, respectively.

The articles involving *T. gondii* were mainly conducted on mammals (85.7%), followed by birds (14.3%). Among the former, 32.4%, 32.4% and 24.3% focused on carnivorous, omnivorous and herbivorous species, respectively. The remaining publications (10.8%) dealt with carnivorous bird species. Regarding articles investigating other meat-borne pathogens, 88.9% dealt with mammals (48% omnivores, 32% carnivores and 20% herbivores) and 11.1% with carnivorous birds (Figure 3).



**Figure 3.** Taxonomic group and feeding behavior of host species of *Trichinella* spp., *T. gondii* and other pathogens, according to the reviewed publications. Reptiles are not shown because their appearance in the reviewed publications was anecdotal.

# Evidences supporting epidemiological interpretation on meat-borne parasite transmission

All checked articles indicated some form of transmission; specifically, 52.8% (47/89) of the studies mentioned two or more possible routes of acquiring parasites transmitted by meat consumption, while 47.2% (42/89) mentioned only one way of transmission. Scavenging was the most frequently referred transmission route (62.9%; 56/89), followed by animal meat consumption in humans (41.6%; 37/89), cannibalism (25.8%; 23/89) and predation (24.7%; 22/89).

With regard to the evidences or premises on which the authors supported the mentioned transmission routes (Figure 4), most of the articles used exclusively statements taken from scientific bibliography (51.7%; 46/89), followed by studies with non-science-based assertions about the transmission route (46.1%; 41/89). Only two articles (2.2%; 2/89) used indirect evidences, such as the analysis of host's feces, as a basis for supporting their epidemiological conclusions about the transmission route. None of the 89 articles reviewed supplied direct scientific evidence to support their epidemiological conclusions.



Figure 4. Evidences or assumptions on which the authors supported their conclusions on the transmission routes of the parasites mentioned in their studies.

# Degree of team interdisciplinarity and use of key ecological terms related to meat consumption

Articles conducted by unidisciplinary teams represented a higher proportion (74.2%; 66/89) than those done by interdisciplinary teams (25.8%; 23/89) (Table 1). Most epidemiological studies on meat-borne parasites at the wildlife-livestock-human interface have been conducted by unidisciplinary teams of veterinarians (95.5%; 63/66), followed by research teams composed exclusively of physicians (3%; 2/66) and biologists (1.5%; 1/66). Moreover, the studies conducted by interdisciplinary teams were composed mainly of veterinarians and biologists (65.2%; 15/23), followed by veterinarians and physicians (17.4%; 4/23). Only two articles were made by teams integrating veterinarians, biologists and physicians (8.7%; 2/23). Authorship in interdisciplinary collaboration belonged mainly to veterinarians (95.7%; 22/23), followed by biologists (78.3%; 18/23) and physicians (30.4%; 7/23).

**Table 1.** Distribution of articles (A) and reviews (R) on transmission of meat-borne parasites at the wildlife-livestock-human interface, according to the unidisciplinary or interdisciplinary character of the research team, which may be composed of veterinarians, biologists, physicians and other research profiles, as well as any combination of them.

	Veteri	eterinarian		Biologist		Physician		Other	
—	А	R	А	R	А	R	А	R	
	$\leftarrow$		— 2 arti	icles —		$\longrightarrow$	-	-	
Veterinarian	63	19	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Biologist	15	1	1	-	-	-	-	-	
Physician	4	5	1	-	2	6	-	-	
Other	1	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	

Regarding the scientific reviews checked in our study, most of them were also performed by unidisciplinary teams (80.6%; 25/31) formed by veterinarians (76%; 19/25) and physicians (24%; 6/25). The reviews conducted by interdisciplinary groups (19.4%; 6/31) involved veterinarians and physicians (83.3%; 5/6) and veterinarians and biologists (16.7%; 1/6).

In relation to the unidisciplinary articles analyzed, 30.3% (20/66) did not use key ecological terms, 31.8% (21/66) misused them and 36.4% (24/66) utilized them inaccurately. Only one unidisciplinary article used the ecological terminology correctly (1.5%; 1/66). Regarding articles conducted by interdisciplinary teams, key ecological terms

were not used, misused and inaccurately used in 43.5% (10/23), 8.7% (2/23) and 47.8% (11/23) of articles, respectively. None of the articles carried out by interdisciplinary research teams properly used these key ecological terms applied to the trophic transmission of meat-borne parasites. In relation to unidisciplinary reviews, in 32% (8/25) of them the use of key ecological terms was not detected, 32% (8/25) misused them, 32% (8/25) used the terms inaccurately, and only one review (4%; 1/25) used them properly. In the reviews carried out by interdisciplinary teams, these percentages were 16.7% (1/6), 0% (0/6) and 83.3% (5/6), respectively, with no review correctly using these key ecological terms.

### Semantic network of epidemiological and ecological terms

In the semantic map constructed with the epidemiological and ecological terms most frequently used in the articles examined, three thematic clusters emerged (Figure 5). One of them was related to key terms commonly mentioned in ecological studies on trophic behavior of wild animals (e.g., "carcass", "carrion", "scavenger", "prey", "scavenging"). In contrast, the other two clusters included concepts frequently used in epidemiological studies on wildlife diseases, zoonoses and diseases shared with domestic animals (e.g., "pig", "sylvatic cycle", "human", "cannibalism", "trichinellosis"). In particular, one cluster was related to "*Trichinella* spp." and Suidae species ("wild boar" and "pig"), while the other cluster was related to "*T. gondii*", "fox", "wolf" and, to a lesser extent, "*N. caninum*".



**Figure 5.** Semantic network to identify relationships between ecological and epidemiological terms in articles on transmission of meat-borne parasites at the wildlife-livestock-human interface. Each color shows a thematic cluster, and the diameter of the colored circles is proportional to the number of times a certain term is cited in the reviewed publications.

### DISCUSSION

#### General patterns in the literature on meat-borne parasite transmission

The growing concern for the study of infectious agents from a One Health perspective has led to a significant increase in the number of scientific publications addressing the study of pathogens at the wildlife-livestock-human epidemiological interface over the past two decades (Wiethoelter *et al.*, 2015), as shown in this review for articles and reviews focused on the transmission of parasites by meat consumption. Wildlife constitutes an important reservoir for the maintenance and transmission of a large number of zoonotic pathogens shared with domestic animals, among which *Trichinella* spp., *T. gondii* and *N. caninum* are particularly noteworthy (Bidaisee and Macpherson, 2014; Bird and Mazet, 2018). Since the beginning of the 21st century there has been an increase in the number of articles and scientific reviews focusing on the study of the transmission of parasites by meat consumption in wild species, mainly *Trichinella* spp. and *T. gondii*. It is striking that there was a reduction in the number of publications in 2012, possibly as a result of the impact of the economic crisis on science, as investment in research normally decreases in recession times (Hopwood, 2009; Izsak and Radošević, 2016).

Most of the scientific articles published on topics related to the transmission of meatborne pathogens at the wildlife-livestock-human interface have been carried out in economically developed areas of the world, mainly Europe and North America, where the investment in science is highest (Tollefson, 2018). These results are consistent with the fact that most publications are from a high-ranking country based on the human development index, a metric correlated with gross domestic product (Livingston et al., 2016). In fact, there is a positive relationship between a country's gross domestic product and its research and development spending (Meo et al., 2013). These results highlight the need to increase research efforts on carnivorism in areas of the world that are rich in biodiversity, including carnivorous vertebrate species and complex predator-prey and host-parasite relationships (Van der Giessen et al., 2001; Ripple et al., 2014; Ratnayeke et al., 2018). In fact, the majority of the studies published have focused their research on two biomes: temperate broadleaf and mixed forests, and Mediterranean forests, woodlands, and scrub. This geographic bias has been previously described in the ecological literature (Pereira et al., 2010). That is, the biomes that have received the greatest attention from the scientific community are those located in the countries that most invest in science. This situation means that other biomes of undoubted scientific interest are neglected (Murphy and Romanuk, 2016), especially in Tropical and Subtropical areas that have a rich community of vertebrate carnivores, and where the epidemiological dynamics of meat-borne pathogens are likely to be different, due to their own ecological particularities.

In relation to the meat-borne pathogens studied, *Trichinella* spp. received by far the highest attention from researchers. This is probably because it is a genus that comprises several nematode species widely distributed, with a large variety of warm-blooded vertebrate hosts distributed in a wide range of biomes (Pozio and Murrell, 2006). In addition, it is one of the meat-borne parasites of greatest concern to public health authorities as a zoonosis (Gottstein et al., 2009; Turiac et al., 2017), and the most studied meat-borne pathogen at the wildlife-livestock-human epidemiological interface. This is probably due to the fact that Trichinella spp. is transmitted to humans through the ingestion of game meat, highlighting the epidemiological role of wild boar, rodents and wild canids in maintaining the sylvatic cycle of Trichinella spp. (Pozio, 2000). The second most frequently studied parasite was T. gondii. It is a zoonotic protozoa that affects a wide range of domestic and wild hosts, both birds and mammals. Although T. gondii has other routes of transmission, for carnivores and omnivores, including humans, infection predominantly occurs by meat consumption (Dubey, 2010). Despite this, our systematic review shows that T. gondii has raised less interest in the study of the epidemiology of meat-borne parasites in the wild (Hill and Dubey, 2002; Belluco et al., 2016).

The small number of articles dealing with *N. caninum* at the wildlife-livestock-human interface may be explained because researchers seem to focus more exclusively on livestock species, particularly cattle, where this parasite causes significant economic losses (Dubey and Lindsay, 1996; Dubey *et al.*, 2007). However, it has been shown that, in addition to dogs (*Canis familiaris*), other wild canids such as coyotes (*C. latrans*), wolves (*C. lupus*) and dingoes (*C. lupus dingo*) are definitive hosts that can be infected by consumption of meat from ungulate intermediate hosts (Donahoe *et al.*, 2015). Another reason possibly explaining the reduced number of articles is that *N. caninum* is not a zoonotic agent.

Regarding the host species assessed, most studies focus on the Suidae family (wild boar and domestic pig) and carnivores of the genera *Vulpes*, *Canis*, *Ursus* and *Felis*. This is consistent with the fact that these hosts participate in the sylvatic and peri-domestic life cycle of *Trichinella* spp. (Korhonen *et al.*, 2016), which was the most frequently studied meat-borne parasite according to our review. On the other hand, in the case of felids, they are definitive hosts of *T. gondii* and, therefore, a key host in the development of the life cycle of this protozoan (Dubey, 2010).

It should be noted that a total of 148 vertebrate species have been identified in this systematic review. About 90% of them were mammals, the rest being carnivorous birds (hosts of *Trichinella pseudospiralis* and *T. gondii*) and, to a lesser extent, reptiles (hosts of *Trichinella papuae* and *Trichinella zimbabwensis*) (Korhonen *et al.*, 2016; Pozio, 2016). In the case of studies of *Trichinella* spp., omnivorous species were analyzed more frequently, possibly due to the key role played by the wild boar in the life cycle of this meat-borne parasite (Pozio *et al.*, 2009); the second most studied group was that of carnivorous mammals. These results were expected, taking into account that the selection of publications of the present study was made based on parasites transmitted by meat consumption. In the case of *T. gondii* and other meat-borne pathogens, the results were similar, as was also to be expected for the same reason.

## The need of accurate evidences and interdisciplinarity in epidemiological research of meat-borne parasites

Our systematic review shows that the study of the transmission of meat-borne parasites at the wildlife-livestock-human epidemiological interface is weakly supported by accurate evidences. In the case of meat-borne parasites in the wild, most studies indicated that transmission occurs through carrion consumption, and to a lesser extent through cannibalism and predation. However, more than half of articles based these statements exclusively on the scientific literature already published. Moreover, about 46% used in the discussion of their results arguments that have not been scientifically proven, i.e., they mention trophic behaviors of the studied host species that have not been confirmed by scientific investigations. Some studies (2.2%) used indirect methods to demonstrate a certain trophic behavior (e.g., inferring transmission routes from the analysis of the host's feces). This has two main problems: it is very difficult from feces analysis to distinguish between predation and scavenging (Sánchez-Zapata *et al.*, 2010), and the presence of a given material in the feces does not necessarily prove prey consumption (e.g., the presence of red fox hairs in red fox feces seems to correspond mainly to the coat-cleaning behavior of foxes rather than to cannibalism; Remonti *et al.*, 2005). None of the evaluated studies used direct methods for obtaining accurate field data to demonstrate the mentioned trophic behavior of a host species. Camera trapping could help to gather high-quality information on meat consumption (e.g., Moleón *et al.*, 2017) and reach robust epidemiological conclusions about the transmission of meat-borne pathogens in the wild (Hanna, 2004; Colombo *et al.*, 2017).

Research on the transmission routes of meat-borne parasites was mainly carried out by unidisciplinary teams. The scarce participation of teams formed exclusively by biologists or physicians indicated that the study of wildlife diseases is mainly undertaken by veterinarians. Our semantic map evidenced the scarce collaboration between disciplines in the study of the trophic transmission of parasites by meat consumption at the wildlifelivestock-human interface. Three term clusters were appreciated, one of which was formed by terms commonly used in ecology and was clearly separated from the other two, which included terms usually cited in epidemiological studies conducted by veterinarians. Undoubtedly, epidemiological research on wild animals requires the participation of veterinarians but, if we want to approach it from a One Health perspective (Gyles, 2016; Sleeman et al., 2019), an integrated view of the epidemiological and ecological aspects is required. For this reason, interdisciplinary collaboration between veterinarians, ecologists and physicians needs to be increased in epidemiological studies (Bridle et al., 2013). Although rare, there are examples of research in the field of wildlife diseases undertaken by interdisciplinary teams that have made significant scientific progress (Medlock et al., 2007; Jaenson et al., 2018). Unfortunately, one obstacle to be overcome is the lack of scientific funding, which is often directed towards unidisciplinary teams despite the fact that, in general terms, scientific results obtained by interdisciplinary teams often have a greater impact on the scientific community and, moreover, maintain this interest for more years (Bromham et al., 2016; Kwon et al., 2017).

The lack of interdisciplinary collaboration led to a more deficient use of the key ecological terms and concepts related to the trophic behavior of carnivores. This calls for closer interdisciplinary collaboration between veterinarians, ecologists, physicians and other researchers. Research approached from a holistic perspective implies the creation of new research horizons. However, in order to avoid errors and misinterpretations, the precise and correct use of the scientific language of each of the disciplines involved in the research should be prioritary (Pushkin, 1996; Hodges, 2008; Herrando-Pérez *et al.*, 2014), which

facilitates effective communication between disciplines and, consequently, the consolidation of future interdisciplinary collaborations (Perez, 2015; Ripple *et al.*, 2016).

### REFERENCES

Abrams, P.A. (1987). On classifying interactions between populations. Oecologia, 73, 272-281.

Almería, S. (2013). Neospora caninum and wildlife. ISRN Parasitology, 2013, 947347.

Altizer, S., Ostfeld, R. S., Johnson, P. T. J., Kutz, S. & Harvell, C. D. (2013). Climate change and infectious diseases: from Evidence to a predictive framework. *Science*, *341*(6145), 514-519.

Badagliacca, P., Di Sabatino, D., Salucci, S., Romeo, G., Cipriani, M., Sulli, N., Dall'Acqua, F., Ruggieri, M., Calistri, P. & Morelli, D. (2016). The role of the wolf in endemic sylvatic *Trichinella britovi* infection in the Abruzzi region of Central Italy. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 231, 124-127.

Belluco, S., Mancin, M., Conficoni, D., Simonato, G., Pietrobelli, M. & Ricci, A. (2016). Investigating the determinants of *Toxoplasma gondii* prevalence in meat: a systematic review and meta-regression. *PLoS One*, *11*(4), e0153856.

Bidaisee, S. & Macpherson, C. N. L. (2014). Zoonoses and One Health: a review of the literature. *Journal of Parasitology Research*, 2014, 874345.

Bird, B. H. & Mazet, J. A. K. (2018). Detection of emerging zoonotic pathogens: an integrated One Health approach. *Annual Review of Animal Biosciences*, *6*, 121-139.

Blanco, G. (2014). Can livestock carrion availability influence diet of wintering red kites? Implications of sanitary policies in ecosystem services and conservation. *Population Ecology*, *56*(4), 593-604.

Bridle, H., Vrieling, A., Cardillo, M., Araya, Y. & Hinojosa, L. (2013). Preparing for an interdisciplinary future: a perspective from early-career researchers. *Futures*, *53*, 22-32.

Bromham, L., Dinnage, R. & Hua, X. (2016). Interdisciplinary research has consistently lower funding success. *Nature*, *534*, 684-687.

Brunner, F. S. & Eizaguirre, C. (2016). Can environmental change affect host/parasite-mediated speciation? *Zoology*, *119*(4), 384-394.

Campbell, W. C. (1988). Trichinosis revisited-another look at modes of transmission. *Parasitology Today*, *4*(3), 83-86.

Colombo, M., Gervais, R. & Sprenger, J. (2017). Introduction: objectivity in science. *Synthese 194*, 4641-4642.

Disis, M. L. & Slattery, J. T. (2010). The road we must take: multidisciplinary team science. *Science translational medicine*, 2(22), 22cm9.

Dobson, A.P. & Hudson, P.J. (1986). Parasites, disease and the structure of ecological communities. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 1(1), 11-15.

Donahoe, S. L., Lindsay, S. A., Krockenberger, M., Phalen, D. & Šlapeta, J. (2015). A review of neosporosis and pathologic findings of *Neospora caninum* infection in wildlife. *International Journal for Parasitology: Parasites and Wildlife*, 4(2), 216-238.

Dressel, S., Sandström, C. & Ericsson, G. (2015). A meta-analysis of studies on attitudes toward bears and wolves across Europe 1976-2012. *Conservation Biology*, 29(2), 565-574.

Dubey, J. P. (2010). Toxoplasmosis of Animals and Humans. Florida: CRC Press.

Dubey J. P. & Jones, J. L. (2008) *Toxoplasma gondii* infection in humans and animals in the United States. *International Journal for Parasitology*, *38*(11), 1257-1278.

Dubey, J. P. & Lindsay, D. S. (1996). A review of *Neospora caninum* and neosporosis. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 67(1-2), 1-59.

Dubey, J. P., Schares, G. & Ortega-Mora, L. M. (2007). Epidemiology and control of Neosporosis and *Neospora caninum*. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 20(2), 323-367.

Ezenwa, V. O., Price, S., Altizer, S., Vitone, N. D. & Cook, K. C. (2006). Host traits and parasite species richness in even and odd-toed hoofed mammals, Artiodactyla and Perissodactyla. *Oikos*, *115*(3), 526-536.

Fischer, J. D., Schneider, S. C., Ahlers, A. A. & Miller, J. R. (2015). Categorizing wildlife responses to urbanization and conservation implications of terminology. *Conservation Biology*, *29*(4), 1246-1248.

Fountain-Jones, N. M., Pearse, W. D., Escobar, L. E., Alba-Casals, A., Carver, S., Davies, T. J., Kraberger, S., Papeş, M., Vandegrift, K., Worsley-Tonks, K. & Craft, M. E. (2018). Towards an eco-phylogenetic framework for infectious disease ecology. *Biological Reviews*, *93*(2), 950-970.

Getz, W. M. (2011). Biomass transformation webs provide a unified approach to consumerresource modelling. *Ecology letters*, 14(2), 113-124.

Gómez, A. & Nichols, E. (2013). Neglected wild life: parasitic biodiversity as a conservation target. *International Journal for Parasitology. Parasites and Wildlife*, 2, 222-227.

Gondim, L. F. P. (2006). Neospora caninum in wildlife. Trends in Parasitology, 22(6), 247-252.

Gortázar, C., Diez-Delgado, I., Barasona, J.A., Vicente, J., De La Fuente, J. & Boadella, M. (2015). The wild side of disease control at the wildlife-livestock-human interface: a review. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, *1*, 27.

Gottstein, B., Pozio, E. & Noeckler, K. (2009). Epidemiology, diagnosis, treatment, and control of Trichinellosis. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 22(1), 127-145.

Gyles, C. (2016). One medicine, one health, one world. *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 57(4), 345-346.

Haddaway, N. R., Woodcock, P., Macura, B. & Collins, A. (2015). Making literature reviews more reliable through application of lessons from systematic reviews. *Conservation Biology*, *29*(6), 1596-1605.

Hanna, J. F. (2004). The scope and limits of scientific objectivity. *Philosophy of Science*, 71(3), 339-361.

Herrando-Pérez, S., Brook, B. W. & Bradshaw, C. J. A. (2014). Ecology needs a convention of nomenclature. *BioScience*, 64(4), 311-321.

Hill, D. & Dubey, J. P. (2002). Toxoplasma gondii: transmission, diagnosis and prevention. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, 8(10), 634-640.

Hodges, K. E. (2008). Defining the problem: terminology and progress in ecology. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 6(1), 35-42.

Hopwood, A. G. (2009). The economic crisis and accounting: implications for the research community. *Accounting, Organizations and Society*, 34(6-7), 797-802.

Izsak, K. & Radošević, S. (2016). EU research and innovation policies as factors of convergence or divergence after the crisis. *Science and Public Policy*, *44*(2), 274-283.

Jaenson, T. G. T., Petersson, E. H., Jaenson, D. G. E., Kindberg, J., Pettersson, J. H. O., Hjertqvist, M., Medlock, J. M. & Bengtsson, H. (2018). The importance of wildlife in the ecology and epidemiology of the TBE virus in Sweden: incidence of human TBE correlates with abundance of deer and hares. *Parasites & Vectors*, 11(1), 477.

Jenkins, E. J., Simon, A., Bachand, N. & Stephen, C. (2015). Wildlife parasites in a One Health world. Trends in Parasitology, 31(5), 174-180.

Korhonen, P. K., Pozio, E., La Rosa, G., Chang, B. C., Koehler, A. V., Hoberg, E. P., Boag, P. R., Tan, P., Jex, A. R., Hofmann, A., Sternberg, P. W., Young, N. D. & Gasser, R. B. (2016). Phylogenomic and biogeographic reconstruction of the *Trichinella* complex. *Nature communications*, 7, 10513.

Kwon, S., Solomon, G. E. A., Youtie, J. & Porter, A. L. (2017). A measure of knowledge flow between specific fields: Implications of interdisciplinarity for impact and funding. *PLoS One*, *12*(10), e0185583.

Lafferty, K. D. & Kuris, A. M. (2002). Trophic strategies, animal diversity and body size. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 17(11), 507-513.

Livingston, G., Waring, B., Pacheco, L. F., Buchori, D., Jiang, Y., Gilbert, L. & Jha, S. (2016). Perspectives on the global disparity in ecological science. *BioScience*, *66*(2), 147-155.

Llopis-Belenguer, C., Balbuena, J.A., Lange, K., De Bello, F. & Blasco-Costa, I. (2019). Towards a unified functional trait framework for parasites. *Trends in Parasitology*, *35*(12), 972-982.

Lopes, A. P., Vila-Viçosa, M. J., Coutinho, T., Cardoso, L., Gottstein, B., Müller, N. & Cortes, H. C. E. (2015). *Trichinella britovi* in a red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) from Portugal. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *210*(3-4), 260-263.

Margalida, A. & Colomer, M. À. (2012). Modelling the effects of sanitary policies on European vulture conservation. *Scientific Reports*, *2*, 753.

Medlock, J. M., Snow, K. R. & Leach, S. (2007). Possible ecology and epidemiology of medically important mosquito-borne arboviruses in Great Britain. *Epidemiology & Infection*, 135(3), 466-482.

Meo, S. A., Al Masri, A. A., Usmani, A. M., Memon, A. N. & Zaidi, S. Z. (2013). Impact of GDP, spending on R&D, number of universities and scientific journals on research publications among Asian countries. *PLoS One*, *8*(6), e66449.

Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J. & Altman, D. G. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *PLoS Medicine*, 6(7), e1000097.

Moleón, M., Martínez-Carrasco, C., Muellerklein, O. C., Getz, W. M., Muñoz-Lozano, C. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. A. (2017). Carnivore carcasses are avoided by carnivores. *The Journal of Animal Ecology*, *86*(5), 1179-1191.

Murphy, G. E. P. & Romanuk, T. N. (2016). Data gaps in anthropogenically driven local-scale species richness change studies across the Earth's terrestrial biomes. *Ecology and Evolution*, 6(9), 2938-2947.

Olea, P. P., Mateo-Tomás, P. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. A. (2019) Introduction to the topic of carrion ecology and management. In: P. Olea, P. Mateo-Tomás & J. A. Sánchez-Zapata (Eds.), Carrion ecology and management (pp. 1-20). Cham: Springer.

Olson, D. M., Dinerstein, E., Wikramanayake, E. D., Burgess, N. D., Powell, G. V. N., Underwood, E. C., D'amico, J. A., Itoua, I., Strand, H. E., Morrison, J. C., Loucks, C. J., Allnutt, T. F., Ricketts, T. H., Kura, Y., Lamoreux, J. F., Wettengel, W. W., Hedao, P. & Kassem, K. R. (2001). Terrestrial ecoregions of the world: a new map of life on Earth: a new global map of terrestrial ecoregions

provides an innovative tool for conserving biodiversity. *BioScience*, 51(11), 933-938.

Parker, G. A., Chubb, J. C., Ball, M. A. & Roberts, G. N. (2003). Evolution of complex life cycles in helminth parasites. *Nature*, 425(6957), 480-484.

Parmesan, C. (2006). Ecological and evolutionary responses to recent climate change. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 37, 637-669.

Pereira, H. M., Belnap, J., Brummitt, N., Collen, B., Ding, H., Gonzalez-Espinosa, M., Gregory, R. D., Honrado, J., Jongman, R. H., Julliard, R., McRae, L., Proença, V., Rodrigues, P., Opige, M., Rodriguez, J. P., Schmeller, D. S., Van Swaay, C. & Vieira, C. (2010). Global biodiversity monitoring. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 8, 459-460.

Perez, A. M. (2015). Past, present, and future of veterinary epidemiology and economics: One Health, many challenges, no silver bullets. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 8(9), 459-460.

Perianes-Rodriguez, A., Waltman, L. & Van Eck, N. J. (2016). Constructing bibliometric networks: a comparison between full and fractional counting. *Journal of Informetrics*, *10*(4), 1178-1195.

Polis, G. A. (1981). The evolution and dynamics of intraspecific predation. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 12, 225-251.

Poulin, R. (2007). Are there general laws in parasite ecology? Parasitology, 134(Pt 6), 763-776.

Pozio, E. (1998). Trichinellosis in the European Union: epidemiology, ecology and economic impact. *Parasitology Today*, 14(1), 35-38.

Pozio, E. (2000). Factors affecting the flow among domestic, synanthropic and sylvatic cycles of *Trichinella*. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *93*(3-4), 241-262.

Pozio, E. (2016). *Trichinella pseudospiralis* an elusive nematode. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 231, 97-101.

Pozio, E. & Murrell, K. D. (2006). Systematics and epidemiology of *Trichinella*. Advances in Parasitology, 63, 367-439.

Pozio, E., Rinaldi, L., Marucci, G., Musella, V., Galati, F., Cringoli, G., Boireau, P. & La Rosa, G. (2009). Hosts and habitats of *Trichinella spiralis* and *Trichinella britovi* in Europe. *International Journal for Parasitology*, *39*(1), 71-79.

Price, P., Westoby, M., Atsatt, P., Fritz, R., Thompson, J. & Mobley, K. (1986). Parasite mediation in ecological interactions. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, *17*, 487-505.

Pushkin, B. D. (1996). A comment on the need to use scientific terminology appropriately in conception studies. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *33*, 223-224.

Ratnayeke, S., Manen, F. T. van, Clements, G. R., Kulaimi, N. A. M. & Sharp, S. P. (2018). Carnivore hotspots in Peninsular Malaysia and their landscape attributes. *PLoS One*, *13*(4), e0194217.

Remonti, L., Balestrieri, A., Domenis, L., Banchi, C., Lo Valvo, T., Robetto, S. & Orusa, R. (2005). Red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) cannibalistic behaviour and the prevalence of *Trichinella britovi* in NW Italian Alps. *Parasitology Research*, 97(6), 431-435.

Ríos-Saldaña, C. A., Delibes-Mateos, M. & Ferreira, C. C. (2018). Are fieldwork studies being relegated to second place in conservation science? *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 14, e00389.

Ripple, W. J., Chapron, G., Lopez-Bao, J. V., Durant, S. M., Macdonald, D. W., Lindsay, P. A. & Bennett, E. L. (2016). Saving the world's terrestrial megafauna. *Bioscience*, *66* (10), 807-812.

Ripple, W. J., Estes, J. A., Beschta, R. L., Wilmers, C. C., Ritchie, E. G., Hebblewhite, M., Berger, J., Elmhagen, B., Letnic, M., Nelson, M. P., Schmitz, O. J., Smith, D. W., Wallach, A. D. &

Wirsing, A. J. (2014). Status and ecological effects of the world's largest carnivores. *Science*, 343(6167), 1241484.

Sánchez-Zapata, J. A., Eguía, S., Blázquez, M., Moleón, M. & Botella, F. (2010). Unexpected role of ungulate carcasses in the diet of Golden Eagles *Aquila chrysaetos* in Mediterranean mountains, *Bird Study*, *57*(3), 352-360.

Sarabian, C., Curtis, V. & McMullan, R. (2018). Evolution of pathogen and parasite avoidance behaviours. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, 373(1751), 20170256.

Seabloom, E. W., Borer, E. T., Gross, K., Kendig, A. E., Lacroix, C., Mitchell, C. E., Mordecai, E. A. & Power, A. G. (2015). The community ecology of pathogens: coinfection, coexistence and community composition. *Ecology Letters*, *18*(4), 401-415.

Selva, N., Jędrzejewska, B., Jędrzejewski, W. & Wajrak, A. (2005). Factors affecting carcass use by a guild of scavengers in European temperate woodland. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 83(12), 1590-1601.

Sleeman, J. M., Richgels, K. L. D., White, C. L. & Stephen, C. (2019). Integration of wildlife and environmental health into a One Health approach. *Revue scientifique et technique (International Office of Epizootics)*, 38(1), 91-102.

Sukhdeo, M. V. (2012). Where are the parasites in food webs? Parasites & Vectors, 5, 239.

Tollefson, J. (2018). China declared world's largest producer of scientific articles. *Nature*, 553(7689), 390.

Turiac, I. A., Cappelli, M. G., Olivieri, R., Angelillis, R., Martinelli, D., Prato, R. & Fortunato, F. (2017). Trichinellosis outbreak due to wild boar meat consumption in southern Italy. *Parasites & Vectors*, *10*, 107.

Van der Giessen, J. W., Rombout, Y., Van der Veen, A. & Pozio, E. (2001). Diagnosis and epidemiology of *Trichinella* infections in wildlife in The Netherlands. *Parasite*, 8(2 Suppl), S103-S105.

Van Eck, N. J. & Waltman, L. (2010). Software survey: VOSviewer, a computer program for bibliometric mapping. *Scientometrics*, *84*, 523-538.

Von Elm, E. & Egger, M. (2004). The scandal of poor epidemiological research. *BMJ*, 329(7471), 868-869.

Wells, J. & Richmond, M. (1995). Populations, metapopulations, and species populations: what are they and who should care? *Wildlife Society Bulletin (1973-2006), 23*(3), 458-462.

Wiethoelter, A. K., Beltrán-Alcrudo, D., Kock, R. & Mor, S. M. (2015). Global trends in infectious diseases at the wildlife-livestock interface. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *112*(31), 9662-9667.

Zaccai, J. (2004). How to assess epidemiological studies. *Postgraduate Medical Journal*, 80(941), 140-147.

### SUPPLEMENTARY FILES

Table S1.	Number	of scientific	articles	focusing	on th	e study	of th	e most	relevant	meat-born	e
pathogens.											

Type of pathogen	Genus or species	Number of articles
Protozoa	Toxoplasma gondii	24
	Neospora caninum	7
	Sarcocystis spp.	2
Helminths	Trichinella spp.	55
	Echinococcus spp.	1
Others (bacteria,	Salmonella spp.	4
viruses, prions)	Leptospira spp.	4
	Mycobacterium spp.	3



**Figure S1.** Flow diagram of the results of the identification, screening, eligibility, assessment and inclusion of the reviewed articles and reviews.



Figure S2. Occurrence of ecological and epidemiological terms selected through VOSviewer, categorized into three clusters (see term interactions in Figure 5).



**Figure S3.** Distribution of the number of articles checked according to the group of meat-borne pathogens at the wildlife-livestock-human interface.





**Figure S4.** Temporal distribution of articles (upper graph) and reviews (lower graph) published per year addressing the study of meat-borne parasites at the wildlife-domestic-human interface. Publications focusing on *Trichinella* spp., *T. gondii* and other pathogens are shown, as well as the temporal distribution of the sum of all publications.



Figure S5. Distribution of evaluated articles according to the fourteen biogeographic biomes described by Olson *et al.* (2001).

Appendix S1. List of articles and reviews selected for this systematic review.

### Articles

Afonso, E., Thulllez, P., Pontier, D. & Gilot-Fromont, E. (2007). Toxoplasmosis in prey species and consequences for prevalence in feral cats: not all prey species are equal. *Parasitology*, *134*(14), 1963-1971.

Akerstedt, J., Lillehaug, A., Larsen, I.-L., Eide, N. E., Arnemo, J. M. & Handeland, K. (2010). Serosurvey for canine distemper virus, canine adenovirus, *Leptospira interrogans*, and *Toxoplasma gondii* in free-ranging canids in Scandinavia and Svalbard. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 46(2), 474-480.

Anderson, J. L., Meece, J. K., Koziczkowski, J. J., Clark, D. L., Radcliff, R. P., Nolden, C. A., Samuel, M. D. & Ellingson, J. L. E. (2007). *Mycobacterium avium* subsp *paratuberculosis* in scavenging mammals in Wisconsin. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 43(2), 302-308.

Arévalo, A., Bringas, M. J., Rodríguez, R. & Menor, A. (2009). Outbreak description of trichinellosis in Salamanca (Spain). *Revista Española De Quimioterapia*, 22(2), 115-116.

Asbakk, K., Aars, J., Derocher, A. E., Wiig, O., Oksanen, A., Born, E. W., Dietz, R., Sonne, C., Godfroid, J. & Kapel, C. M. O. (2010). Serosurvey for *Trichinella* in polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*) from Svalbard and the Barents Sea. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 172(3-4), 256-263.

Bancerz-Kisiel, A., Socha, P. & Szweda, W. (2016). Detection and characterisation of *Yersinia enterocolitica* strains in cold-stored carcasses of large game animals in Poland. *Veterinary Journal*, 208, 102-103.

Bandino, E., Goddi, L., Mulas, M., Murgia, M. C., Soddu, M., Marucci, G., Pezzotti, P., Cabras, P. A. & Pozio, E. (2015). *Trichinella britovi* from domestic to wild animals of Sardinia, Italy. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *212*(3-4), 262-266.

Beck, R., Beck, A., Kusak, J., Mihaljevic, Z., Lucinger, S., Zivicnjak, T., Huber, D., Gudan, A. & Marinculic, A. (2009). Trichinellosis in wolves from Croatia. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *159*(3-4), 308-311.

Blaga, R., Durand, B., Stoichici, A., Gherman, C., Stefan, N., Cozma, V. & Boireau, P. (2009). Animal *Trichinella* infection in Romania: geographical heterogeneity for the last 8 years. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *159*(3-4), 290-294.

Blaga, R., Gherman, C., Cozma, V., Zocevic, A., Pozio, E. & Boireau, P. (2009). *Trichinella* species circulating among wild and domestic animals in Romania. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *159*(3-4), 218-221.

Blanco, G. (2014). Can livestock carrion availability influence diet of wintering red kites? Implications of sanitary policies in ecosystem services and conservation. *Population Ecology*, *56*(4), 593-604.

Chiari, M., Ferrari, N., Giardiello, D., Lanfranchi, P., Zanoni, M., Lavazza, A. & Alborali, L. G. (2014). Isolation and identification of *Salmonella* spp. from red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) and badgers (*Meles meles*) in northern Italy. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 56(1), 86.

Chiari, M., Zanoni, M., Tagliabue, S., Lavazza, A. & Alborali, L. G. (2013). *Salmonella* serotypes in wild boars (*Sus scrofa*) hunted in northern Italy. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 55(1), 42.

Cleaveland, S., Mlengeya, T., Kazwala, R. R., Michel, A., Kaare, M. T., Jones, S. L., Eblate, E., Shirima, G. M. & Packer, C. (2005). Tuberculosis in Tanzanian wildlife. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, *41*(2), 446-453.

Coelho, C., Gomes, J., Inacio, J., Amaro, A., Mesquita, J. R., Pires, I., Lopes, A. P. & Vieira-Pinto, M. (2015). Unraveling *Sarcocystis miescheriana* and *Sarcocystis suihominis* infections in wild boar. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 212(3-4), 100-104.

Coelho, C., Vieira-Pinto, M., Faria, A. S., Vale-Gonçalves, H., Veloso, O., Paiva-Cardoso, M., Mesquita, J. R. & Lopes, A. P. (2014). Serological evidence of *Toxoplasma gondii* in hunted wild boar from Portugal. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 202(3-4), 310-312.

Da Silva, R. C., Zetun, C. B., Gimenes Bosco, S. M., Bagagli, E., Rosa, P. S. & Langoni, H. (2008). *Toxoplasma gondii* and *Leptospira* spp. infection in free-ranging armadillos. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *157*(3-4), 291-293.

Darwich, L., Cabezón, O., Echeverria, I., Pabón, M., Marco, I., Molina-López, R., Alarcia-Alejos, O., López-Gatius, F., Lavín, S. & Almería, S. (2012). Presence of *Toxoplasma gondii* and *Neospora caninum* DNA in the brain of wild birds. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *183*(3-4), 377-381.

Davidson, R. K., Gjerde, B., Vikoren, T., Lillehaug, A. & Handeland, K. (2006). Prevalence of *Trichinella* larvae and extra-intestinal nematodes in Norwegian red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*). *Veterinary Parasitology*, *136*(3-4), 307-316.

Dick, T., Kingscote, B., Strickland, M. & Douglas, C. (1986). Sylvatic trichinosis in Ontario, Canada. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 22(1), 42-47.

Dubey, J. P., Hill, D., Zarlenga, D., Choudhary, S., Ferreira, L. R., Oliveira, S., Verma, S. K., Kwok, O. C. H., Driscoll, C. P., Spiker, H. & Su, C. (2013). Isolation and characterization of new genetic types of *Toxoplasma gondii* and prevalence of *Trichinella murrelli* from black bear (*Ursus americanus*). *Veterinary Parasitology*, *196*(1-2), 24-30.

Dubey, J. P., Velmurugan, G. V., Ulrich, V., Gill, J., Carstensen, M., Sundar, N., Kwok, O. C. H., Thulliez, P., Majumdar, D. & Su, C. (2008). Transplacental toxoplasmosis in naturally-infected white-tailed deer: Isolation and genetic characterisation of *Toxoplasma gondii* from foetuses of different gestational ages. *International Journal for Parasitology*, *38*(8-9), 1057-1063.

Dubey, J. P., Verma, S. K., Calero-Bernal, R., Cassinelli, A. B., Kwok, O. C. H., Van Why, K., Su, C. & Humphreys, J. G. (2015). Isolation and genetic characterization of *Toxoplasma gondii* from black bears (*Ursus americanus*), bobcats (*Lynx rufus*), and feral cats (*Felis catus*) from Pennsylvania. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology*, 62(3), 410-415.

Fernández-Aguilar, X., Alzaga, V., Villanúa, D., Cabezón, O., García-Bocanegra, I., Dubey, J. P. & Almería, S. (2013). Epidemiology and prevalence of *Toxoplasma gondii* infection in the Iberian hare (*Lepus granatensis*). *Veterinary Parasitology*, *196*(1-2), 194-198.

Friant, S., Paige, S. B. & Goldberg, T. L. (2015). Drivers of bushmeat hunting and perceptions of zoonoses in Nigerian hunting communities. *PloS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 9(5), e0003792.

Gajadhar, A. A., Bisaillon, J. R. & Appleyard, G. D. (1997). Status of *Trichinella spiralis* in domestic swine and wild boar in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research*, 61(4), 256-259.

Gauss, C. B. L., Dubey, J. P., Vidal, D., Ruiz, F., Vicente, J., Marco, I., Lavín, S., Gortázar, C. & Almería, S. (2005). Seroprevalence of *Toxoplasma gondii* in wild pigs (*Sus scrofa*) from Spain. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 131(1-2), 151-156.

Gondim, L. S. Q., Abe-Sandes, K., Uzeda, R. S., Silva, M. S. A., Santos, S. L., Mota, R. A., Vilela, S. M. O. & Gondim, L. F. P. (2010). *Toxoplasma gondii* and *Neospora caninum* in sparrows (*Passer domesticus*) in the Northeast of Brazil. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *168*(1-2), 121-124.

Gottstein, B., Pozio, E., Connolly, B., Gamble, H. R., Eckert, J. & Jakob, H. P. (1997). Epidemiological investigation of trichinellosis in Switzerland. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *72*(2), 201-207.

Hill, D. E., Pierce, V., Murrell, K. D., Ratliffe, N., Rupp, B., Fournet, V. M., Zarlenga, D. S., Rosenthal, B. M., Gamble, H. R., Kelly, K. & Dulin, M. (2010). Cessation of *Trichinella spiralis* transmission among scavenging mammals after the removal of infected pigs from a poorly managed farm: implications for Trichinae transmission in the US. *Zoonoses and Public Health*, *57*(7-8), 116-123.

Hill, D. E., Samuel, M. D., Nolden, C. A., Sundar, N., Zarlenga, D. S. & Dubey, J. P. (2008). *Trichinella murrelli* in scavenging mammals from south-central Wisconsin, USA. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 44(3), 629-635.

Holzbauer, S. M., Agger, W. A., Hall, R. L., Johnson, G. M., Schmitt, D., Garvey, A., Bishop, H. S., Rivera, H., de Almeida, M. E., Hill, D., Stromberg, B. E., Lynfield, R. & Smith, K. E. (2014). Outbreak of *Trichinella spiralis* infections associated with a wild boar hunted at a game farm in Iowa. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *59*(12), 1750-1756.

Hurníková, Z., Chovancova, B., Bartkova, D. & Dubinsky, P. (2007). Role of wild carnivores in the maintenance of trichinellosis in the Tatras National Park, Slovakia. *Helminthologia*, 44(1), 18-20.

Hurníková, Z. & Dubinsky, P. (2009). Long-term survey on *Trichinella* prevalence in wildlife of Slovakia. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 159(3-4), 276-280.

Hurníková, Z., Hrckova, G., Agren, E., Komorova, P., Forsman, J., Chovancova, B., Molnar, L. & Letkova, V. (2014). First finding of *Trichinella pseudospiralis* in two tawny owls (*Strix aluco*) from Sweden. *Helminthologia*, *51*(3), 190-197.

Hurníková, Z., Miterpáková, M. & Chovancová, B. (2009). The important zoonoses in the protected areas of the Tatra National Park (TANAP). *Wiadomosci Parazytologiczne*, 55(4), 395-398.

Jittapalapong, S., Sarataphan, N., Maruyama, S., Hugot, J. P., Morand, S. & Herbreteau, V. (2011). Toxoplasmosis in rodents: ecological survey and first evidences in Thailand. *Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases*, *11*(3), 231-237.

Jori, F., Godfroid, J., Michel, A. L., Potts, A. D., Jaumally, M. R., Sauzier, J. & Roger, M. (2014). An assessment of zoonotic and production limiting pathogens in rusa deer (*Cervus timorensis rusa*) from Mauritius. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, *61*, 31-42.

Kang, S. W., Doan, H. T. T., Noh, J. H., Choe, S. E., Yoo, M. S., Kim, Y. H., Reddy, K. E., Nguyen, T. T. D., Quyen, D. V., Nguyen, L. T. K., Kweon, C. H. & Jung, S. C. (2013). Seroprevalence of *Toxoplasma gondii* and *Trichinella spiralis* infections in wild boars (*Sus scrofa*) in Korea. *Parasitology International*, 62(6), 583-585.

Kirjusina, M., Deksne, G., Marucci, G., Bakasejevs, E., Jahundovica, I., Daukste, A., Zdankovska, A., Berzina, Z., Esite, Z., Bella, A., Galati, F., Krumina, A. & Pozio, E. (2015). A 38-year study on *Trichinella* spp. in wild boar (*Sus scrofa*) of Latvia shows a stable incidence with an increased parasite biomass in the last decade. *Parasites & Vectors*, *8*, 137.

Krivokapich, S. J., Molina, V., Bergagna, H. F. J. & Guarnera, E. A. (2006). Epidemiological survey of *Trichinella* infection in domestic, synanthropic and sylvatic animals from Argentina. *Journal of Helminthology*, *80*(3), 267-269.

Kurdova-Mintcheva, R., Jordanova, D. & Ivanova, M. (2009). Human trichinellosis in Bulgaria-Epidemiological situation and trends. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *159*(3-4), 316-319.

La Grange, L. J., Reininghaus, B. & Mukaratirwa, S. (2014). First report of a mixed infection of *Trichinella nelsoni* and *Trichinella* T8 in a Leopard (*Panthera Pardus*) from the greater Kruger National Park, South Africa. *Onderstepoort Journal of Veterinary Research*, 81(1), e1-e3.

Larter, N. C., Forbes, L. B., Elkin, B. T. & Allaire, D. G. (2011). Prevalence of *Trichinella* spp. in black bears, grizzly bears, and wolves in the Dehcho Region, northwest territories, Canada,

including the first report of *T. nativa* in a grizzly bear from Canada. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 47(3), 745-749.

Leiby, D., Schad, G., Duffy, C. & Murrell, K. (1988). *Trichinella spiralis* in an agricultural ecosystem. III. Epidemiological investigations of *Trichinella spiralis* in resident wild and feral animals. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 24(4), 606-609.

Lopes, A. P., Vila-Viçosa, M. J., Coutinho, T., Cardoso, L., Gottstein, B., Mueller, N. & Cortes, H. C. E. (2015). *Trichinella britovi* in a red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) from Portugal. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *210*(3-4), 260-263.

Magnino, S., Frasnelli, M., Fabbi, M., Bianchi, A., Zanoni, M. G., Merialdi, G., Pacciarini, M. L. & Gaffuri, A. (2011). The monitoring of selected zoonotic diseases of wildlife in Lombardy and Emilia-Romagna, northern Italy. In: P. Paulsen., A. Bauer., M. Vodnansky., R. Winkelmayer. & F. J. M. Smulders (Eds.), Game meat hygiene in focus (pp. 223-244). Wageningen: Wageningen Academic Publishers.

Malakauskas, A., Paulauskas, V., Jarvis, T., Keidans, P., Eddi, C. & Kapel, C. M. O. (2007). Molecular epidemiology of *Trichinella* spp. in three Baltic countries: Lithuania, Latvia, and Estonia. *Parasitology Research*, *100*(4), 687-693.

Malmsten, J., Jakubek, E. B. & Bjorkman, C. (2011). Prevalence of antibodies against *Toxoplasma* gondii and *Neospora caninum* in moose (*Alces alces*) and roe deer (*Capreolus capreolus*) in Sweden. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 177(3-4), 275-280.

Marucci, G., La Grange, L. J., La Rosa, G. & Pozio, E. (2009). *Trichinella nelsoni* and *Trichinella* T8 mixed infection in a lion (*Panthera leo*) of the Kruger National Park (South Africa). *Veterinary Parasitology*, *159*(3-4), 225-228.

Mentaberre, G., Porrero, M. C., Navarro-González, N., Serrano, E., Domínguez, L. & Lavín, S. (2013). Cattle drive *Salmonella* infection in the wildlife-livestock interface. *Zoonoses and Public Health*, 60(7), 510-518.

Millán, J., Cabezón, O., Pabón, M., Dubey, J. P. & Almería, S. (2009). Seroprevalence of *Toxoplasma gondii* and *Neospora caninum* in feral cats (*Felis silvestris catus*) in Majorca, Balearic Islands, Spain. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *165*(3-4), 323-326.

Millán, J., García, E. J., Oleaga, A., López-Bao, J. V., Llaneza, L., Palacios, V., Candela, M. G., Cevidanes, A., Rodríguez, A. & León-Vizcaíno, L. (2014). Using a top predator as a sentinel for environmental contamination with pathogenic bacteria: the Iberian wolf and leptospires. *Memorias Do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*, 109(8), 1041-1044.

Miller, I., Jarvis, T. & Pozio, E. (2006). Epidemiological investigations on *Trichinella* infections in farmed fur animals of Estonia. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *139*(1-3), 140-144.

More, G., Maksimov, A., Conraths, F. J. & Schares, G. (2016). Molecular identification of *Sarcocystis* spp. in foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) and raccoon dogs (*Nyctereutes procyonoides*) from Germany. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 220, 9-14.

Moskwa, B., Cybulska, A., Kornacka, A., Cabaj, W. & Bien, J. (2015). Wild boars meat as a potential source of human trichinellosis in Poland: current data. *Acta Parasitologica*, 60(3), 530-535.

Moskwa, B., Gozdzik, K., Bien, J., Borecka, A., Gawor, J. & Cabaj, W. (2013). First report of *Trichinella pseudospiralis* in Poland, in red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*). *Acta Parasitologica*, 58(2), 149-154.

Nardoni, S., Angelici, M. C., Mugnaini, L. & Mancianti, F. (2011). Prevalence of *Toxoplasma* gondii infection in *Myocastor coypus* in a protected Italian wetland. *Parasites & Vectors*, 4, 240.

Nelson, M., Wright, T. L., Pierce, A. & Krogwold, R. A. (2003). A common-source outbreak of trichinosis from consumption of bear meat. *Journal of Environmental Health*, 65(9), 16-19.

Nockler, K., Reckinger, S. & Pozio, E. (2006). *Trichinella spiralis* and *Trichinella pseudospiralis* mixed infection in a wild boar (*Sus scrofa*) of Germany. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *137*(3-4), 364-368.

Oivanen, L., Mikkonen, T. & Sukura, A. (2000). An outbreak of trichinellosis in farmed wild boar in Finland. *Acta Pathologica et Microbiologica Scandinavica*, *108*(12), 814-818.

Owen, I. L., Sims, L. D., Wigglesworth, M. C. & Puana, I. (2000). Trichinellosis in Papua New Guinea. *Australian Veterinary Journal*, 78(10), 698-701.

Parameswaran, N., O'Handley, R. M., Grigg, M. E., Fenwick, S. G. & Thompson, R. C. A. (2009). Seroprevalence of *Toxoplasma gondii* in wild kangaroos using an ELISA. *Parasitology International*, 58(2), 161-165.

Pozio, E., Cossu, P., Marucci, G., Amati, M., Ludovisi, A., Morales, M. A. G., La Rosa, G. & Firinu, T. (2009). The birth of a *Trichinella britovi* focus on the Mediterranean island of Sardinia (Italy). *Veterinary Parasitology*, *159*(3-4), 361-363.

Pozio, E., Foggin, C. M., Gelanew, T., Marucci, G., Hailu, A., Rossi, P. & Gomez Morales, M. A. (2007). *Trichinella zimbabwensis* in wild reptiles of Zimbabwe and Mozambique and farmed reptiles of Ethiopia. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *143*(3-4), 305-310.

Pozio, E., Goffredo, M., Fico, R. & La Rosa, G. (1999). *Trichinella pseudospiralis* in sedentary night-birds of prey from central Italy. *Journal of Parasitology*, 85(4), 759-761.

Pozio, E., Nockler, K., Hoffman, L. & Voigt, W. P. (2000). Autochthonous and imported *Trichinella* isolates in Germany. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 87(2-3), 157-161.

Prestrud, K. W., Asbakk, K., Fuglei, E., Mork, T., Stien, A., Ropstad, E., Tryland, M., Gabrielsen, G. W., Lydersen, C., Kovacs, K. M., Loonen, M. J. J. E., Sagerup, K. & Oksanen, A. (2007). Serosurvey for *Toxoplasma gondii* in arctic foxes and possible sources of infection in the high Arctic of Svalbard. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *150*(1-2), 6-12.

Ramisz, A., Szymborski, J. & Balicka-Ramisz, A. (2001). Epidemiological studies on trichinellosis among swine, wild boars and humans in Poland. *Parasite*, 8(2 Suppl), S90-S91.

Ranque, S., Faugere, B., Pozio, E., La Rosa, G., Tamburrini, A., Pellissier, J. F. & Brouqui, P. (2000). *Trichinella pseudospiralis* outbreak in France. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 6(5), 543-547.

Ranucci, D., Veronesi, F., Moretti, A., Branciari, R., Miraglia, D., Manfredi, M. T. & Fioretti, D. P. (2013). Seroprevalence of *Toxoplasma gondii* in wild boars (*Sus scrofa*) from central Italy. *Parasite*, 20, 48.

Remonti, L., Balestrieri, A., Domenis, L., Banchi, C., Lo Valvo, T., Robetto, S. & Orusa, R. (2005). Red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) cannibalistic behaviour and the prevalence of *Trichinella britovi* in NW Italian Alps. *Parasitology Research*, *97*(6), 431-435.

Rendón-Franco, E., Xicotencatl-García, L., Patricia Rico-Torres, C., Muñoz-García, C., Caso-Aguilar, A., Suzan, G., Correa, D. & Caballero-Ortega, H. (2014). Toxoplasmosis seroprevalence in wild small rodents, potentially preys of ocelots in north-eastern Mexico. *Parasite*, *21*, 57.

Ribicich, M., Gamble, H. R., Bolpe, J., Scialfa, E., Krivokapich, S., Cardillo, N., Betti, A., Cambiaggi Holzmann, M. L., Pasqualetti, M., Farina, F. & Rosa, A. (2010). *Trichinella* infection in wild animals from endemic regions of Argentina. *Parasitology Research*, *107*(2), 377-380.

Richomme, C., Lacour, S. A., Ducrot, C., Gilot-Fromont, E., Casabianca, F., Maestrini, O., Vallee, I., Grasset, A., van der Giessen, J. & Boireau, P. (2010). Epidemiological survey of trichinellosis

in wild boar (Sus scrofa) and fox (Vulpes vulpes) in a French insular region, Corsica. Veterinary Parasitology, 172(1-2), 150-154.

Roqueplo, C., Halos, L., Cabre, O. & Davoust, B. (2011). *Toxoplasma gondii* in wild and domestic animals from New Caledonia. *Parasite*, 18(4), 345-348.

Rossi, L., Pozio, E., Mignone, W., Ercolini, C. & Dini, V. (1992). Epidemiology of sylvatic trichinellosis in north-western Italy. *Revue scientifique et technique (International Office of Epizootics)*, 11(4), 1039-1046.

Salant, H., Hamburger, J., King, R. & Baneth, G. (2013). *Toxoplasma gondii* prevalence in Israeli crows and griffon vultures. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 191(1-2), 23-28.

Santrac, V., Nedic, D. N., Maric, J., Nikolic, S., Stevanovic, O., Vasilev, S., Cvetkovic, J. & Sofronic-Milosavljevic, L. (2015). The first report of *Trichinella pseudospiralis* presence in domestic swine and *T. britovi* in wild boar in Bosnia and Herzegovina. *Acta Parasitologica*, 60(3), 471-475.

Schynts, F., Van der Giessen, J., Tixhon, S., Pozio, E., Dorny, P. & de Borchgrave, J. (2006). First isolation of *Trichinella britovi* from a wild boar (*Sus scrofa*) in Belgium. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *135*(2), 191-194.

Seglina, Z., Bakasejevs, E., Deksne, G., Spungis, V. & Kurjusina, M. (2015). New finding of *Trichinella britovi* in a European beaver (*Castor fiber*) in Latvia. *Parasitology Research*, 114(8), 3171-3173.

Seymour, J., Horstmann-Dehn, L., Rosa, C. & Lopez, J. A. (2014). Occurrence and genotypic analysis of *Trichinella* species in Alaska marine-associated mammals of the Bering and Chukchi seas. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 200(1-2), 153-164.

Steinman, A., Shpigel, N. Y., Mazar, S., King, R., Baneth, G., Savitsky, I. & Shkap, V. (2006). Low seroprevalence of antibodies to *Neospora caninum* in wild canids in Israel. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *137*(1-2), 155-158.

Stieve, E., Beckmen, K., Kania, S. A., Widner, A. & Patton, S. (2010). *Neospora caninum* and *Toxoplasma gondii* antibody prevalence in Alaska wildlife. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 46(2), 348-355.

Thi, N. V., Nguyen, V. D., Praet, N., Claes, L., Gabriel, S., Huyen, N. T. & Dorny, P. (2014). *Trichinella* infection in wild boars and synanthropic rats in northwest Vietnam. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 200(1-2), 207-211.

Tolnai, Z., Szell, Z., Marucci, G., Pozio, E. & Sreter, T. (2014). Environmental determinants of the spatial distribution of *Trichinella britovi* and *Trichinella spiralis* in Hungary. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 204(3-4), 426-429.

Van der Giessen, J. W. B., Rombout, Y., Franchimont, H. J., La Rosa, G. & Pozio, E. (1998). *Trichinella britovi* in foxes in the Netherlands. *Journal of Parasitology*, 84(5), 1065-1068.

Worley, D., Espinosa, R. & Seesee, F. (1991). A survey for trichinosis in selected predatory and scavenger birds in Montana, with an evaluation of the infectivity of 2 mammalian *Trichinella spiralis* isolates in birds. *Journal of the Helminthological Society of Washington*, 58(1), 152-155.

Zimmer, I. A., Fee, S. A., Spratt-Davison, S., Hunter, S. J., Boughtflower, V. D., Morgan, C. P., Hunt, K. R., Smith, G. C., Abernethy, D., Howell, M. & Taylor, M. A. (2009). Report of *Trichinella spiralis* in a red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) in northern Ireland. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *159*(3-4), 300-303.

### Reviews

Almería, S. (2013). Neospora caninum and wildlife. ISRN Parasitology, 2013, 947347.

Appleyard, G. D. & Gajadhar, A. A. (2000). A review of trichinellosis in people and wildlife in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, *91*(4), 293-297.

Bengis, R. G. (1997). Animal health risks associated with the transportation and utilisation of wildlife products. *Revue scientifique et technique (International Office of Epizootics)*, 16(1), 104-110.

Bruschi, F. & Murrell, K. D. (2002). New aspects of human trichinellosis: the impact of new *Trichinella* species. *Postgraduate Medical Journal*, 78(915), 15-22.

Byrom, A. E., Caley, P., Paterson, B. M. & Nugent, G. (2015). Feral ferrets (*Mustela furo*) as hosts and sentinels of tuberculosis in New Zealand. *New Zealand Veterinary Journal*, 63, 42-53.

Dubey, J. P. (1991). Toxoplasmosis—An overview. *The Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health*, 22 Suppl, 88-92.

Dubey, J. P. & Jones, J. L. (2008). *Toxoplasma gondii* infection in humans and animals in the United States. *International Journal for Parasitology*, 38(11), 1257-1278.

Fischer, J. W., Phillips, G. E., Nichols, T. A. & Vercauteren, K. C. (2013). Could avian scavengers translocate infectious prions to disease-free areas initiating new foci of chronic wasting disease? *Prion*, *7*(4), 263-266.

Forbes, L. B. (2000). The occurrence and ecology of *Trichinella* in marine mammals. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *93*(3-4), 321-334.

Gajadhar, A. A., Scandrett, W. B. & Forbes, L. B. (2006). Overview of food- and water-borne zoonotic parasites at the farm level. *Revue scientifique et technique (International Office of Epizootics)*, 25(2), 595-606.

Gortázar, C., Vicente, J., Boadella, M., Ballesteros, C., Galindo, R. C., Garrido, J., Aranaz, A. & de la Fuente, J. (2011). Progress in the control of bovine tuberculosis in Spanish wildlife. *Veterinary Microbiology*, *151*(1-2), 170-178.

Gottstein, B., Pozio, E. & Noeckler, K. (2009). Epidemiology, diagnosis, treatment, and control of trichinellosis. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 22(1), 127-145.

Jones, J. L. & Dubey, J. P. (2012). Foodborne toxoplasmosis. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 55(6), 845-851.

Kapel, C. M. O. (2005). Changes in the EU legislation on *Trichinella* inspection—New challenges in the epidemiology. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *132*(1-2), 189-194.

Khamboonruang, C. (1991). The present status of trichinellosis in Thailand. *The Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health*, *22 Suppl*, 312-315.

King, J. S., Jenkins, D. J., Ellis, J. T., Fleming, P., Windsor, P. A. & Slapeta, J. (2011). Implications of wild dog ecology on the sylvatic and domestic life cycle of *Neospora caninum* in Australia. *Veterinary Journal*, *188*(1), 24-33.

Macpherson, C. N. L. (2005). Human behaviour and the epidemiology of parasitic zoonoses. *International Journal for Parasitology*, 35(11-12), 1319-1331.

Macpherson, C. N. L., Gottstein, B. & Geerts, S. (2000). Parasitic food-borne and water-borne zoonoses. *Revue scientifique et technique (International Office of Epizootics)*, 19(1), 240-258.

Magnino, S., Colin, P., Dei-Cas, E., Madsen, M., McLauchlin, J., Noeckler, K., Maradona, M. P.,

Tsigarida, E., Vanopdenbosch, E. & Van Peteghem, C. (2009). Biological risks associated with consumption of reptile products. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, *134*(3), 163-175.

Mukaratirwa, S., La Grange, L. & Pfukenyi, D. M. (2013). *Trichinella* infections in animals and humans in sub-Saharan Africa: a review. *Acta Tropica*, 125(1), 82-89.

Oivanen, L. & Oksanen, A. (2009). Synanthropic *Trichinella* infection in Finland. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 159(3-4), 281-284.

Owen, I. L. (2005). Parasitic zoonoses in Papua New Guinea. *Journal of Helminthology*, 79(1), 1-14.

Pappas, G. (2010). The changing *Brucella* ecology: novel reservoirs, new threats. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*, *36*, S8-S11.

Pozio, E. (2000). Factors affecting the flow among domestic, synanthropic and sylvatic cycles of *Trichinella*. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *93*(3-4), 241-262.

Pozio, E. (2001). New patterns of Trichinella infection. Veterinary Parasitology, 98(1-3), 133-148.

Pozio, E. (2015). *Trichinella* spp. imported with live animals and meat. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 213(1-2), 46-55.

Pozio, E. & Murrell, K. D. (2006). Systematics and epidemiology of *Trichinella*. Advances in Parasitology, 63:367-439

Rodríguez de las Parras, E., Rodríguez-Ferrer, M., Nieto-Martínez, J., Ubeira, F. M. & Gárate-Ormaechea, T. (2004). Trichinellosis outbreaks in Spain (1990-2001). *Enfermedades Infecciosas Y Microbiologia Clinica*, 22(2), 70-76.

Schantz, P. M. & McAuley, J. (1991). Current status of food-borne parasitic zoonoses in the United States. *The Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health*, *22 Suppl*, 65-71.

Tryland, M., Nesbakken, T., Robertson, L., Grahek-Ogden, D. & Lunestad, B. T. (2014). Human pathogens in marine mammal meat - A northern perspective. *Zoonoses and Public Health*, *61*(6), 377-394.

Wang, Z. Q., Cui, J. & Shen, L. J. (2007). The epidemiology of animal trichinellosis in China. *Veterinary Journal*, *173*(2), 391-398.
# **CHAPTER 2**

SMART CARNIVORES THINK TWICE: SCAVENGING BEHAVIOR OF RED FOX AT CARNIVORE CARCASSES IN RELATION TO THE TRANSMISSION RISK OF MEAT-BORNE PARASITES

#### ABSTRACT

Parasite avoidance behaviors are essential to understand host-parasite coevolution, as well as wildlife epidemiology and energy flow through food webs. However, the strategies, mechanisms and consequences of avoiding trophically transmitted parasites in mammalian carnivores have received little scientific attention. The absence of detailed behavioral studies has led to the widespread assumption that cannibalistic or intraspecific scavenging is a major transmission route for *Trichinella* spp. and other meat-borne parasites, especially for the red fox (Vulpes vulpes). Here, we used videos recorded by camera traps to explore the behavior of red foxes and other mammalian carnivores at 56 intra- and 10 interspecific carnivore carcasses in three areas of southeastern Spain. We found that carrion consumption was dependent on both carcass type (conspecific vs. heterospecific to the consumer) and time since the carcass became available. Red foxes were very efficient in detecting mesocarnivore carrion, but they were generally reluctant to consume them, especially conspecific carcasses. In addition, consumption by foxes, when recorded, was delayed several days (carcasses other than fox) or weeks (fox carcasses) after carcass detection. Other mammalian scavengers showed a similar pattern. These findings support the hypothesis that avoidance of carrion from phylogenetically related prey is a widespread behavior in carnivores to reduce the transmission risk of meat-borne parasites. They also suggest that the foraging decisions of scavengers are probably shaped by two contrasting forces, namely the nutritional reward provided by carrion of phylogenetically similar species and the risk of acquiring meat-borne parasites shared with these species. Overall, we show that carnivore carcasses are fundamental components in the landscape of disgust for carnivores.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Host-parasite interactions are pervasive in ecosystems and may strongly influence food web structure and function (Lafferty *et al.*, 2006, 2008; Byers, 2009; Sukhdeo, 2012). Ecological networks are frequently characterized by multi-host/multi-parasite systems, with hosts being susceptible to both species-specific and multi-host parasites (Petney and Andrews, 1998; Craft *et al.*, 2008; Morand, 2015). Through an astonishing diversity of direct and indirect pathways, parasites may alter consumer-resource dynamics (Hudson *et al.*, 2006; Hatcher *et al.*, 2012). Exploring ecological patterns that are shaped by the continuous arms race between coevolving hosts and parasites (Betts *et al.*, 2016, 2018) may contribute to our understanding of wildlife epidemiology (Pedersen and Fenton 2007; Roche *et al.*, 2012; Vander Wal *et al.*, 2014) and conservation (Herrera and Nunn, 2019).

Host species exhibit a wide array of strategies to avoid, remove and control parasites (hereafter, referred as protozoan and metazoan parasites), including immunological and behavioral responses. Among them, behavior may be regarded as the animals' first line of defence against infection (Hart, 1990, 2011). Given that detecting parasites is challenging, usually due to their small size, animals have "learned", probably at an evolutionary scale, to identify indirect signs of parasitism risk regardless of actual parasite presence (Curtis, 2014; Moleón et al., 2017; Weinstein et al., 2018). In response to trophically transmitted parasites, infection risk can therefore be minimized by avoiding risky foods or feeding sites, i.e., parasite-rich environments (Curtis, 2014; Buck et al., 2018; Hart and Hart, 2018; Weinstein et al., 2018). For instance, herbivores usually avoid grazing close to feces (Ezenwa, 2004). At a landscape scale, hosts are thus forced to change their use of space and time to reduce exposure to parasites (Weinstein et al., 2018). Hosts may perceive parasite infection risk on a three-dimensional "landscape of disgust", with high-risk patches that are avoided and low-risk patches that are safe (Buck et al., 2018; Weinstein et al., 2018), whose distribution and magnitude may change with time (Fritzsche and Allan, 2012). In turn, parasite avoidance behaviors may alter energy flow through food webs (Wood and Johnson, 2015).

Despite the important ecological, evolutionary and epidemiological implications of host behavior (Ezenwa *et al.*, 2016; Sarabian *et al.*, 2018; Weinstein *et al.*, 2018), little is known about the strategies, mechanisms and consequences of trophically transmitted parasite avoidance in carnivore species. In general, carnivores seem to avoid feeding upon conspecific prey (Fox, 1975; Palomares and Caro, 1999; Caro and Stoner, 2003), especially if prey is found dead rather than killed by the consumer, as dead animals may have succumbed to a disease (Hart, 2011; Moleón *et al.*, 2017). Given that phylogenetically related carnivores harbor similar parasite assemblages (Huang *et al.*, 2014), the carnivore is more prone to be infected by parasites present in the carcass if both the consumer and the carcass belong to the same species or to a phylogenetically related group of species (Hart, 2011; Moleón *et al.*, 2017). In this case, scavengers must face a trade-off between the changing nutritive value of the carcass, which is highest for conspecific flesh (Meffe and Crump, 1987; Mayntz and Toft, 2006), and its associated parasite risk (Pfennig *et al.*, 1998; Pfennig, 2000; Rudolf and Antonovics, 2007; Moleón *et al.*, 2017). Both the nutritive

value and the parasite risk decrease with time (Parmenter and MacMahon, 2009; Rossi *et al.*, 2019). Whether and when a scavenger decides to feed on a risky conspecific carcass while obtaining sufficient nutritional revenue are largely unresolved questions in scavenging and disease ecology.

*Trichinella* spp. (phylum Nematoda) and *Toxoplasma gondii* (phylum Apicomplexa) are among the paradigmatic parasites that are transmitted by meat consumption. These multi-host parasites are globally distributed (Dubey, 1991; Pozio and Murrell, 2006) and have been described in Eurasian mammalian carnivores, including the red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) and several mustelids (Pérez-Martín *et al.*, 2000; Oivanen *et al.*, 2002; Sobrino *et al.*, 2007; Kirjušina *et al.*, 2016; Lukášová *et al.*, 2018). The red fox, a ubiquitous and typically generalist carnivore (Wilson and Mittermeier, 2009), is one of the most important reservoirs involved in the sylvatic cycle of many parasites with potential zoonotic and veterinary significance (Karamon *et al.*, 2018). Moreover, foxes are major scavengers (Mateo-Tomás *et al.*, 2015). All of these features make the red fox a good candidate for detailed research on trophic behavior in relation to the risk of parasite transmission (Vercammen *et al.*, 2002; Díaz-Ruiz *et al.*, 2013).

It is widely accepted within the scientific community that scavenging, including intraspecific consumption (i.e., cannibalism), plays an important role in the transmission of meat-borne parasites in wild carnivores, especially *Trichinella* spp. (Campbell, 1988; Pozio, 2000; Pozio and Murrell, 2006; Badagliacca *et al.*, 2016). However, recent empirical and modeling findings have shown that mammalian carnivores tend to avoid feeding on carrion of other carnivores, especially of conspecifics, possibly as a strategy to reduce the risk of acquiring parasites (Moleón *et al.*, 2017). Thus, further research on carnivore scavenging behavior in relation to carcass identity is needed.

The main objective of this study is to assess the consumptive patterns of mammalian carnivore carcasses over time, including the final stages of carcass consumption by scavengers, and in several areas that differ in their scavenging communities and degree of anthropization. We pay particular attention to red fox scavenging behavior in relation to meat-borne parasite risk. Our general hypothesis is that the risk of acquiring parasites through scavenging is dependent on both carcass identity (conspecific *vs*. heterospecific to the consumer) and time since the carcass became available. We predict that carcasses of heterospecifics will be more readily consumed than those of conspecifics, and that

carnivores will engage in cannibalism later when facing conspecific carrion compared to heterospecific carrion. This study may provide a basis for a more accurate interpretation of the epidemiological aspects that characterize the transmission of parasites in the wild (Polley and Thompson, 2015), which is especially relevant in a global context of zoonotic diseases (Evans *et al.*, 2020).

#### **MATERIAL AND METHODS**

#### Study areas

Fieldwork was conducted in three areas of southeastern Spain: Sierras de Cazorla, Segura y Las Villas Natural Park (hereafter Cazorla; 2,099 km<sup>2</sup>, 38°09'N 2°44'W), Sierra Espuña Regional Park (hereafter Espuña; 178 km<sup>2</sup>, 37°51'N 1°32'W) and periurban areas of Murcia city (hereafter Murcia; 415 km<sup>2</sup>, 37°57'N 1°02'W). All areas, especially Cazorla and Espuña, have a mountainous orography. Natural vegetation is dominated by pine forests (mostly Pinus halepensis at low altitudes and P. nigra and P. pinaster at higher altitudes), aromatic shrubs and patches of oak forests (Quercus ilex and Q. faginea; Rivas-Martínez et al., 1987). There is an altitudinal and meteorological gradient from Cazorla (500-2,107 m a.s.l.; mean annual temperature: 12-16°C; mean annual precipitation: 300-950 mm) to Espuña (200-1,583 m a.s.l.; mean annual temperature: 13-18°C; mean annual precipitation: 300-500 mm) and Murcia (190-490 m a.s.l.; mean annual temperature: 17-23°C; mean annual precipitation: 200-450 mm; www.juntadeandalucia.es; siam.imida.es). Meso-, Supra- and Oro-Mediterranean stages are represented in Cazorla, Thermo-, Mesoand Supra-Mediterranean stages in Espuña, and Thermo- and Meso-Mediterranean stages in Murcia. While Cazorla and Espuña are protected areas, Murcia supports moderate to high levels of anthropization, including scattered residential areas and herbaceous and fruit tree cultivations (mainly citrus trees).

In Cazorla, there is a rich representation of both obligate (i.e., vultures) and facultative scavengers. The scavenging community is similar in Espuña, though vultures are less abundant. In Murcia, vultures are mostly absent, and the presence of domestic carnivores (dogs *Canis lupus familiaris* and cats *Felis silvestris catus*) is more frequent. The red fox is the commonest wild mammalian carnivore in all areas, though it is more abundant in Espuña than in Cazorla (there are no detailed data for Murcia; see Moleón *et al.* (2017), Morales-Reyes *et al.* (2017) for more details on the study areas of Cazorla and Espuña).

#### **Data collection**

From November 2016 to March 2018, a total of 66 mesocarnivore carcasses were monitored in Cazorla (n=27 red foxes), Murcia (n=19 red foxes) and Espuña (n=20 carcasses, including ten red foxes, four martens Martes foina, three badgers Meles meles, two genets Genetta genetta and one wild cat Felis silvestris silvestris). Hereafter, carcasses of carnivores other than foxes are designated as "other carcasses". Carcasses came from authorized hunting and recent road kills. Immediately after collection, carcasses were eviscerated, and a serum sample was taken from each animal to perform enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays for antibody detection (ELISA kits, Ingenasa®, Madrid, Spain) against some infectious diseases (canine distemper virus CDV, feline coronavirus FCoV, canine and feline parvovirus CPV/FPV, feline leukemia virus FeLV and feline immunodeficiency virus FIV). In addition, muscle samples from the base of the tongue, the forearms and diaphragm were processed by artificial digestion to detect the presence of Trichinella spp. larvae (Kapel et al., 1994; Gamble et al., 2000). Carcasses used in the study were free from these pathogens. In the case of hunted animals, the tissues adjacent to the shot were removed to eliminate any trace of lead. After necropsy, carcasses were frozen at -20°C in individual plastic bags, with the time elapsed between carnivore death and freezing being less than 18 h (Moleón et al., 2017).

Carcasses were defrosted before their placement in the field for 12-24 h at room temperature. Carcasses were randomly distributed throughout the study areas (minimum distance between neighboring cameras: c. 1 km; Moleón *et al.*, 2017). Each carcass was fixed to a rock or a tree trunk by wires to avoid movement of the carcasses by scavengers away from the recording field of the camera. The wires were camouflaged with plant material and soil (Moleón *et al.*, 2015). Altitudinal range for carcass sites was 772-1676 in Cazorla, 433-1432 in Espuña and 125-448 in Murcia. On the micro-habitat scale (i.e., radius of 10 m around carcasses), sampling places were categorized as "close areas", when the vertical projection of trees and shrubs exceeded 50%, and "open areas" otherwise.

Carcasses were monitored using automatic cameras (Bushnell Trophy Cam and Bushnell Agressor) until complete consumption (i.e., no remains, or only fur left) or for a maximum of 10 weeks if carcasses were not completely consumed (i.e., bones and skin remained). Cameras were placed in discreet locations close to the carcasses (3-4 m) and were programmed to record a 15-second video every minute when detecting movement.

Each carcass site was visited weekly to check batteries and memory cards. Cameras provided information on scavenger species presence and behavior. Recorded scavenging species, with scavenging species defined as any carrion-feeding vertebrate that had previously been recorded feeding at carcasses in our study areas (Sebastián-González *et al.*, 2019), were grouped into three groups: red fox, other mammals and birds. According to O'Brien *et al.* (2003) and Ridout and Linkie (2009), we defined independent events for each carcass as: a) consecutive videos of unequivocally different individuals of the same species or individuals of different species; b) when individual identification was not possible, consecutive videos of individuals of the same species taken more than 30 min apart; and c) non-consecutive videos of individuals of the same species. We then made a distinction between "consumption events", when we observed unequivocal carrion biting and feeding behavior, and "non-consumption events" otherwise.

#### Data analyses: weekly scavenging patterns

First, we explored the general spatiotemporal patterns of mesocarnivore carcass use by the studied scavenging communities. For each study area and carcass type (foxes and others), we calculated, on a weekly basis, the proportion of carcasses that were consumed (i.e., with at least one consumption event) and visited but not consumed (i.e., no consumption events recorded), for all scavengers together and separately for each scavenger group. We did the same for the number of consumption and non-consumption events.

We then explored the changing propensity of red foxes to scavenge mesocarnivore carcasses by calculating these ratios per week: a) consumed:non-consumed carcasses and b) consumption:non-consumption events. In addition, we calculated the accumulated number of carcasses that were a) detected and b) consumed (i.e., at least one consumption event) each week by red foxes. For each carcass, we estimated carcass "detection time" as the time elapsed between carcass placement and the arrival of the first fox. We used Kruskal-Wallis and Mann-Whitney tests to compare detection time by red foxes between fox carcasses in Cazorla, Espuña and Murcia and between other carcasses and fox carcasses in Espuña, respectively.

#### Data analyses: determinants of carrion consumption by fox

We used generalized linear models (GLMs) to analyze the factors influencing "time of first consumption" (only carcasses with at least one consumption event by foxes were used;

n=27) and the "ratio consumption:non-consumption events" (all carcasses detected by fox; n=62). Time of first consumption was calculated as the time elapsed since carcass detection by foxes until the first consumption event by foxes. The sample unit for these analyses was the carcass. The explanatory variables were study "area" (Cazorla, Espuña, Murcia), "habitat" (close, open), "year", "season" (winter –November-February, spring –April and May), "hour" of carcass placement (morning –from dawn to 12:00h, afternoon –from 12:00h to dusk), "carcass type" (fox, other), and carcass "detection time" by foxes (in days). For the ratio consumption:non-consumption events, we also used "scavenger" presence (presence of scavengers other than foxes) and "scavenger consumption" (at least one consumption event by a scavenger other than fox).

We then proceeded with model construction, using Gaussian error distributions and identity functions for time of first consumption and binomial error distributions and logit link functions for the ratio. Model selection was based on Akaike's Information Criterion, which allows the identification of the most parsimonious model (lowest AIC) and ranks the remaining models. For each model, the AIC value was corrected for small sample sizes (AICc). Model selection was done in four steps. First, we constructed univariate models with all the explanatory variables. Second, we constructed bivariate models using all combinations that included the variable retained in the univariate model with lowest AICc. Third, we constructed models with three and four variables (guaranteeing at least c. 10 observations per parameter) with the combinations of variables that provided the lowest AICc values. Fourth, delta AICc ( $\Delta$ AICc) was calculated as the difference in AICc between each model and the best model in the evaluated set, and models with  $\Delta AICc < 2$  were considered to have similar support (Burnham and Anderson, 2002). We calculated the deviance  $(D^2)$  explained by each candidate model according to this formula:  $D^2 = (null)$ deviance - residual deviance) / null deviance \*100 (Burnham and Anderson, 2002). We used R studio software v1.0.143 (R Core Team, 2018).

#### RESULTS

#### The scavenging community

A total of 1,617 events of scavenger species were recorded in the three studied areas (Cazorla: 68%; Murcia: 13%; Espuña: 19%; Table S1). We detected 14 scavenger species (eight mammals and six birds). Species richness was highest in Cazorla (13 spp.) and lowest in Espuña at fox carcasses (5 spp.). Differences in species richness were mainly due to

birds, with six species recorded in Cazorla and only one species in Murcia and Espuña. The red fox was the most frequently recorded species in the three study areas (59.4% of total events). Consumption events represented 15.7% of the total events recorded (Cazorla: 75.9% of total consumption events; Murcia: 5.1%; Espuña, fox carcasses: 2.7%; Espuña, other carcasses: 16.3%). Considering all study areas together, the red fox was responsible for most consumption events (53.4% of total consumption events). Carcasses were consumed by nine species (five birds and four mammals) in Cazorla, two species in Murcia (one bird and one mammal), two species in Espuña at fox carcasses (two mammals), and two species in Espuña at other carcasses (one bird and one mammal). Intraspecific consumption (i.e., cannibalism) was recorded at 63% of carcasses in Cazorla, 32% in Murcia, and 40% (fox carcasses) and 0% (other carcasses) in Espuña. Cannibalism represented 16.9% of the total events recorded for the red fox at fox carcasses. Considering avian scavengers that scavenge more frequently, consumption events were more frequent than non-consumption events, while the opposite was true for all mammalian scavengers (Table S1).

#### Weekly scavenging patterns

For a given week, there were more carcasses visited but not consumed by mammalian scavengers, than carcasses visited and consumed, for all areas and carcass types. This pattern was not observed for scavenging birds, especially in Cazorla, where visited carcasses were more frequently consumed than not consumed. Mammalian scavengers other than fox only consumed fox carcasses. Carcasses visited and consumed were highest in Cazorla, and lowest in Murcia (Figures 1a and S1; Table 1). In relation to events, we observed a similar general pattern, with far more non-consumption events than consumption events, and the highest number of events being recorded in Cazorla. When focusing on Espuña, the main difference was that foxes clearly had more consumption events for other carcasses than for fox carcasses (Figures 1b and S2).



**Figure 1.** Weekly variation in consumption patterns of mesocarnivore carcasses by red fox and other mammalian scavengers in three areas of southeastern Spain. A) Weekly percentage of consumed ("cons."; i.e., with at least one consumption event) and non-consumed ("non-cons."; i.e., visited, but no consumption events recorded) carcasses by red fox and other mammalian scavengers per study area and carcass type. B) Weekly number of consumption ("cons.") and non-consumption ("non-cons.") events by red fox and other mammalian scavengers per study area and carcass type. For a given week, the number of carcasses available to scavengers is given in parentheses. Panels for carcasses of carnivores other than foxes are in boxes.

**Table 1.** Scavenging patterns of red fox carcasses and carcasses of other mesocarnivores in the three study areas of southeastern Spain, according to different scavenger groups. Number of monitored carcasses is indicated for each study area and carcass type. Mean±SD (min.-max.) is shown for carcass detection time, time of first consumption, total events and consumption events. The number of carcasses visited and consumed by each scavenger group is shown together with the percentage relative to the total carcasses monitored per area and carcass type (in parentheses). Time rounded to the nearest hour. We considered carcasses consumed as those carcasses with at least one consumption event by a given scavenger group.

					Time of first	Carcasses	Carcasses		Consumption
Area	Carcass type	Ν	Scavenger group	Detection time (h)	consumption (h)	visited	consumed	Total events	events
Cazorla	Foxes	27	Red fox	77.5±104.5 (4-395)	465.1±371.0 (4-1,191)	27 (100%)	17 (63.0%)	22.0±13.8 (5-53)	4.3±7.0 (0-27)
			Other mammals	132.2±127.5 (2-530)	622.7±212.9 (324-880)	26 (96.3%)	7 (25.9%)	9.6±7.0 (0-24)	0.7±2.0 (0-10)
			Birds	292.5±292.6 (1-890)	231.2±246.8 (20-791)	18 (66.7%)	10 (37.0%)	9.2±11.9 (0-45)	5.5±10.3 (0-37)
			Total	43.7±57.5 (1-195)	371.8±380.7 (4-1,191)	27 (100%)	21 (77.8%)	40.7±21.2 (15-85)	10.5±12.6 (0-40)
Murcia	Foxes	19	Red fox	301.3±244.5 (17-901)	631.8±216.6 (359-932)	16 (84.2%)	6 (31.6%)	8.4±8.8 (0-31)	0.8±1.9 (0-7)
			Other mammals	395.4±342.8 (1-981)	-	12 (63.2%)	0 (0%)	1.4±1.8 (0-7)	0
			Birds	212.8±131.8 (34-350)	386	3 (15.8%)	1 (5.3%)	1.2±3.2 (0-13)	0.2±0.7 (0-3)
			Total	270.5±298.5 (1-974)	626.7±222.8 (359-932)	17 (89.5%)	6 (31.6%)	11.0±11.4 (0-45)	1.0±2.3 (0-8)
Espuña	Foxes	10	Red fox	133.8±103.8 (9-290)	601.0±235.2 (267-795)	9 (90.0%)	4 (40.0%)	7.7±6.2 (0-21)	0.8±1.3 (0-4)
			Other mammals	234.4±194.1 (33-583)	199	10 (100%)	0 (0%)	2.2±1.6 (1-6)	0.2±0.6 (0-2)
			Birds	41	-	1 (10.0%)	0 (0%)	3.8±12.0 (0-38)	0
			Total	102.7±73.4 (9-200)	520.6±271.7 (199-795)	10 (100%)	5 (50.0%)	13.7±13.5 (1-48)	1.0±1.3 (0-4)
	Other	10	Red fox	222.0±184.8 (4-462)	365.4±342.6 (88-927)	10 (100%)	5 (50.0%)	12.9±24.1 (2-81)	5.9±15.6 (0-50)
			Other mammals	292.5±267.0 (34-972)	-	10 (100%)	0 (0%)	3.6±3.1 (1-10)	0
			Birds	502.0±418.3 (257-985)	745	3 (30.0%)	1 (10.0%)	0.6±1.1 (0-3)	0.2±0.6 (0-2)
			Total	150.5±152.9 (4-427)	428.7±343.4 (88-927)	10 (100%)	6 (60.0%)	17.1±23.6 (3-83)	6.1±15.5 (0-50)

The ratio between consumed and non-consumed carcasses by foxes showed a nearly Gaussian distribution, with maximum values (i.e., more carcasses consumed than nonconsumed) from the third (in Cazorla) to the fifth (in Murcia) week in the case of fox carcasses. In the carcasses of other species, the maximum took place in the second week, i.e., two weeks earlier than the maximum for fox carcasses in the same study area (Espuña). Even during the peaks, fox carcasses were more frequently left unconsumed than consumed, and only for other carcasses in Espuña were there more consumed than nonconsumed carcasses. We observed a similar general pattern for events, with peaks occurring from the third week on in the case of fox carcasses and in the second week in the case of other carcasses, i.e., several weeks earlier than the peak for fox carcasses in the same study area. While fox carcasses in Cazorla and other carcasses in Espuña began to be consumed in the first week after their deployment, the first events of consumption of fox carcasses in Espuña and Murcia began to be recorded from the second and third week, respectively. The lowest number of consumption events in relation to non-consumption events at fox carcasses was found in Espuña, were consumption events of other carcasses exceeded nonconsumption events during the peak (Figure 2).



**Figure 2.** Weekly variation in the ratios consumed:non-consumed carcasses and consumption:nonconsumption events by the red fox per study area and carcass type. Values above and below the dashed horizontal gray line indicate, respectively, ratios biased towards consumption and nonconsumption. For a given week, the number of carcasses available to scavengers is given in parentheses. Panel for carcasses of carnivores other than foxes is in the box.

Red foxes detected 94% of studied carcasses, but we recorded consumption events only in one-third to two-thirds of them (Cazorla: 63%; Murcia: 38%; Espuña, fox carcasses: 44%; Espuña, other carcasses: 50%). Foxes detected most carcasses within the first three weeks after carcass deployment. However, the stabilization of the number of carcasses consumed took longer. Within carcasses visited by foxes, the difference in the accumulated number of carcasses consumed and not consumed during the first two weeks was higher for fox carcasses compared to carcasses of other scavengers (Figure 3).



**Figure 3.** Accumulated weekly number of detected (i.e., with at least one event recorded; dashed line) and consumed (i.e., with at least one consumption event; continuous line) carcasses by the red fox per study area and carcass type. Dotted horizontal gray lines represent the accumulated number of available carcasses. For a given week, the number of carcasses available to scavengers is given in parentheses. Panel for carcasses of carnivores other than foxes is in the box.

#### Determinants of carrion consumption by fox

As revealed by the GLM analyses, time of first consumption by foxes since the carcass was detected by foxes was mostly related to detection time by foxes and carcass type, according to the model with the highest  $D^2$  (Table S2). In particular, foxes started to consume earlier carcasses that were detected earlier, as well as carcasses of mesocarnivores other than fox (Table 2, Figure 1). The ratio consumption:non-consumption events of foxes was related to season, detection time by foxes, carcass type, consumption by other scavengers and study area (Table S2), with a ratio more biased towards consumption events in spring than in winter, as well as at carcasses of other mesocarnivores, carcasses detected earlier, and carcasses also consumed by other scavengers and in Murcia, Cazorla and Espuña, in that order (Table 2, Figure 2). **Table 2.** Generalized linear models (GLMs) showing the relationship between "time of first consumption" by foxes and the "ratio consumption:non-consumption events" by foxes with the explanatory variables included in the selected models ("detection time": carcass detection time by foxes; "carcass" type: fox, other; "season": winter, spring; "scav. cons.": consumption by scavengers other than fox; "area": Cazorla, Espuña, Murcia). Only the models with highest D<sup>2</sup> are shown for simplicity. The estimate of the parameters (including the sign), the standard error of the parameters (SE) and the degree of freedom of the models (df) are shown.

<b>Response variable</b>	Model	Parameter	Estimate	SE	df
Time to first consumption	detection time + carcass	Intercept	18.598	3.165	31
		detection time	-0.475	0.311	
		carcass (other)	-6.778	6.456	
Ratio consumption:non-	season + detection time +				
consumption events	carcass + scav. cons. + area	Intercept	-0.269	0.270	61
		season (winter)	-1.814	0.270	
		detection time	-0.059	0.023	
		carcass (other)	1.889	0.416	
		scav_cons (yes)	0.784	0.209	
		area (Espuña)	-1.646	0.462	
		area (Murcia)	0.170	0.327	

#### DISCUSSION

Parasite avoidance behaviors in carnivore species have received little scientific attention, despite being a key defensive barrier against trophically transmitted parasites such as Trichinella spp. (Hart, 1990, 2011; Ezenwa et al., 2016; Sarabian et al., 2018; Weinstein et al., 2018). Here, we found that red foxes were very efficient in detecting mesocarnivore carrion, as they visited nearly all monitored carcasses. However, as expected, they were generally reluctant to consume them, especially conspecific carcasses. In addition, consumption by foxes, when recorded, was delayed several days (carcasses other than fox) or weeks (fox carcasses) after carcass detection. Other mammalian scavengers showed a similar pattern: they detected most carcasses during the first week after their deployment but we observed very few consumption events (no cannibalistic events recorded), with all consumption taking place from the second week on. The use of videos instead of photos and the longer monitoring period in this study may explain why we found more cannibalistic events here than in a previous study in two of the three study areas (Cazorla and Espuña; Moleón et al., 2017). For comparison, in these two study areas, ungulate carcasses are normally consumed within the first week, mainly by vultures, foxes, wild boars and dogs (Mateo-Tomás et al., 2017; Moleón et al., 2017; Arrondo et al., 2019). Overall, our results are in agreement with diet studies on red fox (Fairley, 1970; Remonti

*et al.*, 2005) and other mammalian carnivores (Fox, 1975; Palomares and Caro, 1999; Caro and Stoner, 2003) that indicate that cannibalism is very uncommon in these species, and support the hypothesis that avoidance of carrion from phylogenetically related prey is a widespread behavior in carnivores to prevent meat-borne parasite risk (Moleón *et al.*, 2017).

Why do foxes and other carnivores not feed on carcasses, especially conspecific carrion, upon detection? Our results suggest that the foraging decisions of scavengers are probably shaped by two contrasting forces (Figure 4), namely the nutritional reward provided by carrion of phylogenetically similar species (Meffe and Crump, 1987; Mayntz and Toft, 2006) and the risk of acquiring meat-borne parasites shared with these species (Pfennig *et al.*, 1998; Pfennig, 2000; Rudolf and Antonovics, 2007; Huang *et al.*, 2014; Moleón *et al.*, 2017). On one hand, the nutritional quality of carrion decreases with time (Parmenter and MacMahon, 2009). Thus, the most advantageous strategy for foxes would be feeding before carrion is too degraded. On the other hand, the risk of acquiring viable trophically transmitted parasites is also highest when the carcass is fresh (Pozio, 2016). This may force foxes to wait until the carcass reaches a "safety" parasite load threshold, which is probably more restrictive for conspecific carrion (Figure 4).

At this point, it is important to remark that the risk of parasite infection is a perceived risk related to potential rather than actual parasite presence (Curtis, 2014; Moleón *et al.*, 2017; Weinstein *et al.*, 2018). In this sense, *Trichinella* spp. does not provoke any external lesion or sign of disease after the establishment of the infective larvae in the musculature (Gottstein *et al.*, 2009), and all carnivore carcasses of our study belonged to healthy animals without any macroscopic lesions. Finally, as can be deduced from Figure 4, the risk of acquiring infective meat-borne parasites is probably much more determinant than the nutritive value of the carcass when guiding foraging decisions. Within a carnivore-animal flesh context, all prey can be considered of relatively high-quality (Swift *et al.*, 1979).



**Figure 4.** Conceptual model showing how food quality and safety shape the propensity of mammalian carnivores to scavenge on carcasses of species differing in their phylogenetic distance to the consumer. A) On one hand, the nutritive value, which is maximum for conspecific carcasses, decreases with time. Note that all meat can be regarded as high- to very high-quality food for a carnivore (Swift *et al.*, 1979). On the other hand, the probability that a carcass is free of infective stages of meat-borne parasites increases with time. In fresh carcasses, the risk of acquiring infective meat-borne parasites for a consumer is maximum for conspecific carcasses, and minimum for carcasses belonging to weakly related species. Non-linearity is probably a fundamental property of all of these functions. B) These contrasting forces probably shape the observed patterns of carcass consumption (e.g., this study, Moleón *et al.*, 2017, Morales-Reyes *et al.*, 2017, Arrondo *et al.*, 2019).

When this nutritional value-parasite risk trade-off favors feeding on conspecific and phylogenetically related carcasses may depend on several extrinsic and intrinsic factors. First, the infectivity of *Trichinella* spp. and other meat-borne parasites is highly dependent on environmental conditions (Pozio, 2000). In particular, high humidity and low temperature favors the survival and transmission of these parasites (Oivanen *et al.*, 2002b; Riva *et al.*, 2012; Pozio, 2016; Fariña *et al.*, 2017; Rossi *et al.*, 2019). At constant low temperatures, such as those reached beneath the snow, the infective capacity of *Trichinella* 

britovi larvae in red fox carcasses does not show important reductions during the first four months. However, above the snow, with more oscillating temperatures, the reproductive capacity sharply decreases after two months, and almost no viable larvae are present after three months (Rossi et al., 2019). At higher temperatures (average: 23°C), the number of infective *Trichinella spiralis* larvae in rat carcasses decreases severely after the first week (Oivanen et al., 2002b). In the case of decaying fox meat, the number of infective larvae of several *Trichinella* genotypes has been found to decrease rapidly during the first two weeks at 22-27°C and 100% relative humidity (Von Köller et al., 2001). In our Mediterranean study areas, characterized by mild to warm temperatures and with carcasses rarely covered by snow during winter, meat-borne parasites are expected to survive only a few weeks even in the coldest season. Moreover, in these climatic conditions, carrion decomposes faster than in colder latitudes (Selva et al., 2005), with most non-scavenged flesh disappearing within the first two months due to necrophagous invertebrates, decomposers and dehydration (Muñoz-Lozano et al., 2019). All of this is consistent with our findings. In addition, we found that consumption events were more frequent in relation to nonconsumption events in spring than in winter. At first sight, this result could seem counterintuitive because scavenging by facultative scavengers in general (Sebastián-González et al., 2019), and red fox in particular (Padial et al., 2002; Cagnacci et al., 2003), is more frequent during winter in temperate ecosystems. However, our findings make sense when considering that survival of parasites in decaying meat is temperature-dependent (Riva et al., 2012). Thus, the survival time of these parasites and subsequent risk of parasite transmission associated with carnivore carcasses would be lower in spring compared to winter, especially in mild springs such as those occurring in our study areas.

Overall, foxes fed more and earlier when carcasses were detected earlier, probably because the resource was known for a longer period and/or by more individuals. The fact that the ratio between consumption and non-consumption events of foxes was higher at carcasses that were also consumed by other scavengers suggest some interspecific facilitative process, as is typical in scavenging assemblages (Moleón *et al.*, 2014). Carrion consumption by other scavenger species could be a signal that the carcass is safe, so foxes may have partly relied on these indirect cues to guide their foraging decisions. Differences in the ratio between consumption and non-consumption events among areas suggest that different populations are subject to different environmental constraints besides climate, including different trajectories of anthropization, contrasting local parasite communities

and different competition levels. For instance, in Cazorla, foxes are deprived of a large portion of carrion resources due to abundant vultures (Morales-Reyes *et al.*, 2017), and thus they could be more prone to assuming the risk of consuming carnivore carcasses in this location.

Finally, the fact that some foxes practiced cannibalism while most rejected conspecific carcasses indicates some individual variation in the way foxes confront the trade-off between the nutritional gains and the risk of acquiring parasites associated with carrion. According to state-dependent foraging theory (McNamara and Houston, 1987), hungry, young, senescent and sick individuals could be more prone to feeding on low quality food and assuming the risk of a dangerous meal (Mukherjee and Heithaus, 2013).

#### Epidemiological and ecological consequences

The results of this and previous studies (Moleón et al., 2017) show that cannibalistic scavenging is a rare feeding strategy in mammalian mesocarnivores. In the case of red fox, all mesocarnivore carcasses are risky carcasses, but the risk associated with fox carcasses is highest. Here, we also showed that cannibalistic scavenging, when it does occur, generally takes place after the period of maximum survival of infective stages of potential meat-borne parasites, i.e., several weeks after the carcass becomes available. Overall, this suggests that cannibalistic scavenging is an infrequent transmission route of meat-borne parasites among foxes and other wild carnivores. This challenges the widespread assumption that multi-host parasites such as Trichinella spp. are closely linked to intraspecific consumption, including both predation and scavenging (Campbell, 1988; Pozio, 2000; Badagliacca et al., 2016). This assumption may be partially rooted in the frequent presence of fox hairs in fox feces, which has traditionally interpreted as evidence of cannibalism. However, Remonti et al. (2005) argued that undigested fox hairs found in feces are mainly related to coat-cleaning rather than cannibalism. Thus, the transmission and maintenance of the sylvatic cycle of multi-host parasites transmitted by meat is likely to depend, more than previously thought, on transmission routes other than cannibalistic consumption of infected flesh. Secondary infection from eating carrion insects could also affect scavenging carnivores. However, the survival period of meat-borne parasites inside insect bodies seems to be very limited. For instance, Trichinella larvae may survive and be infective after being ingested by maggots, though maximum survival under the most favorable environmental conditions is five days (Maroli and Pozio, 2000).

Carnivore carcass avoidance by carnivores results in slower nutrient cycling compared to other types of carrion (Moleón *et al.*, 2017). In turn, the longer persistence of carnivore carrion in the environment means an important trophic opportunity for invertebrates and decomposers, especially during the first stages of carcass decomposition. In our study areas, we found a highly structured community of necrophagous and necrophilous insects that exploit mammalian carnivore carcasses (Muñoz-Lozano *et al.*, 2019). While herbivore carcasses are mainly exploited by vertebrates (DeVault *et al.*, 2003; Mateo-Tomás *et al.*, 2015), carnivore carcasses are mostly consumed by smaller organisms (especially in the absence of large avian scavengers), which distribute nutrients at shorter distances. Thus, ecological effects of carnivore carcino are expected to be pervasive mainly at a micro-habitat scale.

#### **Future directions and conclusions**

Carnivore carcasses offer many ecological, evolutionary and epidemiological research opportunities (Moleón et al., 2017). At the population level, exploring patterns of carnivore carrion use and scavenger behavior at carcasses in different systems with contrasting environmental conditions and scavenger and parasite communities could be the first step to disentangle the role of carnivore carcasses in disease transmission. In addition, detailed knowledge about the diversity of potential hosts of multi-host parasites is crucial to fully understand the dynamics of parasitic diseases (Gandon, 2004). Exploring the role of necrophagous insects as vectors and paratenic hosts of meat-borne parasites (Riva et al., 2015) could widen the knowledge on the epidemiological implications of carnivore carrion to different trophic levels through indirect interactions. Individual-level studies on patterns of individual variation in parasite avoidance behavior and their causes and evolutionary and epidemiological consequences are virtually nonexistent. These studies may benefit from the combination of different individual monitoring techniques, such as radiotracking and camera trapping. Recent research has highlighted that, even for species with few distinctive individual features such as red foxes, individual identification may be successfully achieved from camera trapping data (Dorning and Harris, 2019). In general, videos may offer high-quality behavioral information and show details (e.g., confirm consumption events) that can be overlooked by using photographs only.

Overall, we have shown the advantages of detailed behavioral studies that combine different metrics to test –and challenge– widely accepted assumptions on meat-borne parasite transmission. Carnivore carcasses are fundamental components in the landscape of

disgust for carnivores (Buck *et al.*, 2018; Weinstein *et al.*, 2018). Our findings support the view that the indirect, nonconsumptive effects of parasites may strongly impact host behavior, with potential effects that propagate through food webs (Buck *et al.*, 2018; Sarabian *et al.*, 2018). Exploring how animal species and individuals recognize and respond to cues associated with parasite risk may help in our understanding of the ecological and evolutionary relationships between carnivore hosts and their parasites.

#### REFERENCES

Arrondo, E., Morales-Reyes, Z., Moleón, M., Cortés-Avizanda, A., Donázar, J. A. & Sánchez-Zapata, J.A. (2019). Rewilding traditional grazing areas affects scavenger assemblages and carcass consumption patterns. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, *41*, 56-66.

Badagliacca, P., Di Sabatino, D., Salucci, S., Romeo, G., Cipriani, M., Sulli, N., Dall'Acqua, F., Ruggieri, M., Calistri, P. & Morelli, D. (2016). The role of the wolf in endemic sylvatic *Trichinella britovi* infection in the Abruzzi region of Central Italy. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 231, 124-127.

Betts, A., Gray, C., Zelek, M., MacLean, R. C. & King, K. C. (2018). High parasite diversity accelerates host adaptation and diversification. *Science*, *360*(6391), 907-911.

Betts, A., Rafaluk, C. & King, K. C. (2016). Host and parasite evolution in a tangled bank. *Trends in Parasitology*, *32*(11), 863-873.

Buck, J. C., Weinstein, S. B. & Young, H. S. (2018). Ecological and evolutionary consequences of parasite avoidance. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *33*(8), 619-632.

Burnham, K. P. & Anderson, D. R. (2002). Model selection and multimodel inference. A practical information-theoretic approach. New York: Springer.

Byers, J. E. (2009). Including parasites in food webs. Trends in Parasitology, 25(2), 55-57.

Cagnacci, F., Lovari, S. & Meriggi, A. (2003). Carrion dependence and food habits of the red fox in an Alpine area. *Italian Journal of Zoology*, 70(1), 31-38.

Campbell, W. C. (1988). Trichinosis revisited--another look at modes of transmission. *Parasitology Today*, *4*(3), 83-86.

Caro, T. M. & Stoner, C. (2003). The potential for interspecific competition among African carnivores. *Biological Conservation*, 110(1), 67-75.

Craft, M. E., Hawthorne, P. L., Packer, C. & Dobson, A. P. (2008). Dynamics of a multihost pathogen in a carnivore community. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 77(6), 1257-1264.

Curtis, V. A. (2014). Infection-avoidance behaviour in humans and other animals. *Trends in Immunology*, 35(10), 458-464.

DeVault, T. L., Rhodes, O. E. & Shivik, J. A. (2003). Scavenging by vertebrates: behavioural, ecological, and evolutionary perspectives on an important energy transfer pathway in terrestrial ecosystems. *Oikos*, *102*(2), 225-234.

Díaz-Ruiz, F., Delibes-Mateos, M., García-Moreno, J. L., López-Martín, J. M., Ferreira, C. & Ferreras, P. (2013). Biogeographical patterns in the diet of an opportunistic predator: the red fox *Vulpes vulpes* in the Iberian Peninsula. *Mammal Review*, 43(1), 59-70.

Dorning, J. & Harris, S. (2019). The challenges of recognising individuals with few distinguishing features: identifying red foxes *Vulpes vulpes* from camera-trap photos. *PLoS One*, *14*(5), e0216531.

Dubey, J. P. (1991). Toxoplasmosis--an overview. *The Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health*, 22 Suppl, 88-92.

Evans, T. S., Shi, Z., Boots, M., Liu, W., Olival, K. J., Xiao, X., Vandewoude, S., Brown, H., Chen, J. L., Civitello, D. J., Escobar, L., Grohn, Y., Li, H., Lips, K., Liu, Q., Lu, J., Martínez-López, B., Shi, J., Shi, X., Xu, B., Yuan, L., Zhu, G. & Getz, W. M. (2020). Synergistic China-US ecological research is essential for global emerging infectious disease preparedness. *EcoHealth*, *17*, 160-173.

Ezenwa, V. O. (2004). Selective defecation and selective foraging: antiparasite behavior in wild ungulates? *Ethology*, *110*, 851-862.

Ezenwa, V. O., Archie, E. A., Craft, M. E., Hawley, D. M., Martin, L. B., Moore, J. & White, L. (2016). Host behavior-parasite feedback: an essential link between animal behaviour and disease ecology. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 283(1828), 20153078.

Fairley, J. S. (1970). The food, reproduction, form, growth and development of the fox *Vulpes* vulpes (L.) in North-East Ireland. *Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy. Section B: Biological, Geological, and Chemical Science*, 69, 103-137.

Fariña, F., Pasqualetti, M., Ilgová, J., Cardillo, N., Ercole, M., Aronowicz, T., Krivokapich, S., Kašny, M. & Ribicich, M. (2017). Evaluation of the infectivity and the persistence of *Trichinella patagoniensis* in muscle tissue of decomposing guinea pig (*Cavia porcellus*). *Parasitology Research*, *116*(1), 371-375.

Fox, L. R. (1975). Cannibalism in natural populations. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 6, 719-728.

Fritzsche, A. & Allan, B. F. (2012). The ecology of fear: host foraging behavior varies with the spatio-temporal abundance of a dominant ectoparasite. *EcoHealth*, 9(1), 70-74.

Gamble, H. R., Bessonov, A. S., Cuperlovic, K., Gajadhar, A. A., van Knapen, F., Noeckler, K., Schenone, H. & Zhu, X. (2000). International Commission on Trichinellosis: recommendations on methods for the control of *Trichinella* in domestic and wild animals intended for human consumption. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *93*(3-4), 393-408.

Gandon, S. (2004). Evolution of multihost parasites. *Evolution*, 58(3), 455-469.

Gottstein, B., Pozio, E. & Nöckler, K. (2009). Epidemiology, diagnosis, treatment, and control of trichinellosis. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 22(1), 127-145.

Hart, B. L. (1990). Behavioral adaptations to pathogens and parasites: five strategies. *Neuroscience Biobehavioral Reviews*, 14(3), 273-294.

Hart, B. L. (2011). Behavioral defenses in animals against pathogens and parasites: parallels with the pillars of medicine in humans. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*. *Series B, Biological Sciences*, *366*(1583), 3406-3417.

Hart, B. L. & Hart, L. A. (2018). How mammals stay healthy in nature: the evolution of behaviours to avoid parasites and pathogens. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, *373*(1751), 20170205.

Hatcher, M. J., Dick, J. T. & Dunn, A. M. (2012). Diverse effects of parasites in ecosystems: linking interdependent processes. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 10(4), 186-194.

Herrera, J. & Nunn, C. L. (2019). Behavioural ecology and infectious disease: implications for conservation of biodiversity. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, 374(1781), 20180054.

Huang, S., Bininda-Emonds, O. R., Stephens, P. R., Gittleman, J. L. & Altizer, S. (2014). Phylogenetically related and ecologically similar carnivores harbour similar parasite assemblages. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 83(3), 671-680.

Hudson, P. J., Dobson, A. P. & Lafferty, K. D. (2006). Is a healthy ecosystem one that is rich in parasites? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 21(7), 381-385.

Kapel, C. M., Henriksen, S. A., Dietz, H. H., Henriksen, P. & Nansen, P. (1994). A study on the predilection sites of *Trichinella spiralis* muscle larvae in experimentally infected foxes (*Alopex lagopus*, *Vulpes vulpes*). *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, *35*(2), 125-132.

Karamon, J., Dąbrowska, J., Kochanowski, M., Samorek-Pieróg, M., Sroka, J., Różycki, M., Bilska-Zając, E., Zdybel, J. & Cencek, T. (2018). Prevalence of intestinal helminths of red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) in central Europe (Poland): a significant zoonotic threat. *Parasites & Vectors*, *11*, 436.

Kirjušina, M., Bakasejevs, E., Pezzotti, P. & Pozio, E. (2016). *Trichinella britovi* biomass in naturally infected pine martens (*Martes martes*) of Latvia. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 231, 110-114.

Lafferty, K. D., Allesina, S., Arim, M., Briggs, C. J., De Leo, G., Dobson, A. P., Dunne, J. A., Johnson, P. T. J., Kuris, A. M. & Marcogliese, D. J. (2008). Parasites in food webs: the ultimate missing links. *Ecology Letters*, *11*(6), 533-546.

Lafferty, K. D., Dobson, A. P. & Kuris, A. M. (2006). Parasites dominate food web links. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(30), 11211-11216.

Lukášová, R., Marková, J., Bártová, E., Murat, J. B. & Sedlák, K. (2018). Molecular evidence of *Toxoplasma gondii*, *Neospora caninum*, and *Encephalitozoon cuniculi* in red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*). *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, *54*(4), 825-828.

Maroli, M. & Pozio, E. (2000). Influence of temperature on the survival and infectivity of *Trichinella spiralis* larvae in *Sarcophaga argyrostoma* (Diptera, Sarcophagidae) maggots. *Journal of Parasitology*, 86(3), 633-634.

Mateo-Tomás, P., Olea, P. P., Moleón, M., Selva, N. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. A. (2017). Both rare and common species support ecosystem services in scavenging communities. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 26(12), 1459-1470.

Mateo-Tomás, P., Olea, P. P., Moleón, M., Vicente, J., Botella, F., Selva, N., Viñuela, J. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. A. (2015). From regional to global patterns in vertebrate scavenger communities subsidized by big game hunting. *Diversity and Distributions*, *21*(8), 913-924.

Mayntz, D. & Toft, S. (2006). Nutritional value of cannibalism and the role of starvation and nutrient imbalance for cannibalistic tendencies in a generalist predator. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 75(1), 288-297.

McNamara, J. M. & Houston, A. I. (1987). Starvation and predation as factors limiting population size. *Ecology*, 68(5), 1515-1519.

Meffe, G. K. & Crump, M. L. (1987). Possible growth and reproductive benefits of cannibalism in the mosquitofish. *The American Naturalist*, 129(2), 203-212.

Moleón, M., Martínez-Carrasco, C., Muellerklein, O. C., Getz, W. M., Muñoz-Lozano, C. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. A. (2017). Carnivore carcasses are avoided by carnivores. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *86*(5), 1179-1191.

Moleón, M., Sánchez-Zapata, J. A., Sebastián-González, E. & Owen-Smith, N. (2015). Carcass size shapes the structure and functioning of an African scavenging assemblage. *Oikos*, *124*(10), 1391-1403.

Moleón, M., Sánchez-Zapata, J. A., Selva, N., Donázar, J. A. & Owen-Smith, N. (2014). Interspecific interactions linking predation and scavenging in terrestrial vertebrate assemblages. *Biological Reviews*, 89(4), 1042-1054.

Morales-Reyes, Z., Sánchez-Zapata, J. A., Sebastián-González, E., Botella, F., Carrete, M. & Moleón, M. (2017). Scavenging efficiency and red fox abundance in Mediterranean mountains with and without vultures. *Acta Oecologica*, *79*, 81-88.

Morand, S. (2015). (macro-) Evolutionary ecology of parasite diversity: from determinants of parasite species richness to host diversification. *International Journal for Parasitology: Parasites and Wildlife*, 4(1), 80-87.

Mukherjee, S. & Heithaus, M. R. (2013). Dangerous prey and daring predators: a review. *Biological Reviews*, 88(3), 550-563.

Muñoz-Lozano, C., Martín-Vega, D., Martínez-Carrasco, C., Sánchez-Zapata, J. A., Morales-Reyes, Z., Gonzálvez, M. & Moleón, M. (2019). Avoidance of carnivore carcasses by vertebrate scavengers enables colonization by a diverse community of carrion insects. *PLoS One*, *14*(8), e0221890.

O'Brien, T. G., Kinnaird, M. F. & Wibisono, H. T. (2003). Crouching tigers, hidden prey: Sumatran tiger and prey populations in a tropical forest landscape. *Animal Conservation*, *6*(2), 131-139.

Oivanen, L., Kapel, C. M. O., Pozio, E., La Rosa, G., Mikkonen, T. & Sukura, A. (2002a). Associations between *Trichinella* species and host species in Finland. *Journal of Parasitology*, 88(1), 84-88.

Oivanen, L., Mikkonen, T., Haltia, L., Karhula, H., Saloniemi, H. & Sukura, A. (2002b). Persistence of *Trichinella spiralis* in rat carcasses experimentally mixed in different feed. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 43(4), 203-210.

Padial, J. M., Ávila, E. & Gil-Sánchez, J. M. (2002). Feeding habits and overlap among red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) and stone marten (*Martes foina*) in two Mediterranean mountain habitats. *Mammalian Biology*, 67(3), 137-146.

Palomares, F. & Caro, T. M. (1999). Interspecific killing among mammalian carnivores. *The American Naturalist*, 153(5), 492-508.

Parmenter, R. R. & MacMahon, J. A. (2009). Carrion decomposition and nutrient cycling in a semiarid shrub-steppe ecosystem. *Ecological Monographs*, 79(4), 637-661.

Pedersen, A. B. & Fenton, A. (2007). Emphasizing the ecology in parasite community ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 22(3), 133-139.

Pérez-Martín, J. E., Serrano, F. J., Reina, D., Mora, J. A. & Navarrete, I. (2000). Sylvatic trichinellosis in southwestern Spain. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, *36*(3), 531-534.

Petney, T. N. & Andrews, R. H. (1998). Multiparasite communities in animals and humans: frequency, structure and pathogenic significance. *International Journal for Parasitology*, 28(3), 377-393.

Pfennig, D. W. (2000). Effect of predator-prey phylogenetic similarity on the fitness consequences of predation: a trade-off between nutrition and disease? *The American Naturalist*, *155*(3), 335-345.

Pfennig, D. W., Ho, S. G. & Hoffman, E. A. (1998). Pathogen transmission as a selective force against cannibalism. *Animal Behaviour*, 55, 1255-1261.

Polley, L. & Thompson, A. (2015). Parasites and wildlife in a changing world. *Trends in Parasitology*, 31(4), 123-124.

Pozio, E. (2000). Factors affecting the flow among domestic, synanthropic and sylvatic cycles of *Trichinella*. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *93*(3-4), 241-262.

Pozio, E. (2016). Adaptation of *Trichinella* spp. for survival in cold climates. *Food and Waterborne Parasitology*, *4*, 4-12.

Pozio, E. & Murrell, K. D. (2006). Systematics and epidemiology of *Trichinella*. Advances in Parasitology, 63, 367-439.

R Core Team. (2018). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria.

Remonti, L., Balestrieri, A., Domenis, L., Banchi, C., Lo Valvo, T., Robetto, S. & Orusa, R. (2005). Red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) cannibalistic behaviour and the prevalence of *Trichinella britovi* in NW Italian Alps. *Parasitology Research*, *97*(6), 431-435.

Ridout, M. S. & Linkie, M. (2009). Estimating overlap of daily activity patterns from camera trap data. *Journal of Agricultural, Biological and Environmental Statistics*, 14, 322-337.

Riva, E., Fiel, C. & Steffan, P. (2015). The immature stages of *Dermestes maculatus*, *Sarcophaga* sp. and *Phaenicia sericata* as potential paratenic hosts for *Trichinella spiralis* in nature. *Parasitology Research*, *114*(1), 149-154.

Riva, E., Steffan, P., Guzmán, M. & Fiel, C. (2012). Persistence of *Trichinella spiralis* muscle larvae in natural decaying mice. *Parasitology Research*, 111(1), 249-255.

Rivas-Martínez, S., Gandullo, J., Serrada, R., Allué, J., Montero, J. & González, J. (1987). Mapa de series de vegetación de España y memoria. Madrid: Publicaciones del Ministerio de Agricultura, Pesca y Alimentación.

Roche, B., Dobson, A. P., Guégan, J. F. & Rohani, P. (2012). Linking community and disease ecology: the impact of biodiversity on pathogen transmission. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, 367(1604), 2807-2813.

Rossi, L., Interisano, M., Deksne, G. & Pozio, E. (2019). The subnivium, a haven for *Trichinella* larvae in host carcasses. *International Journal for Parasitology: Parasites and Wildlife*, 8, 229-233.

Rudolf, V. H. & Antonovics, J. (2007). Disease transmission by cannibalism: rare event or common occurrence? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 274(1614), 1205-1210.

Sarabian, C., Curtis, V. & McMullan, R. (2018). Evolution of pathogen and parasite avoidance behaviours. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, 373(1751), 20170256.

Sebastián-González, E., Barbosa, J. M., Pérez-García, J. M., Morales-Reyes, Z., Botella, F., Olea, P. P., Mateo-Tomás, P., Moleón, M., Hiraldo, F., Arrondo, E., Donázar, J. A., Cortés-Avizanda, A., Selva, N., Lambertucci, S.A., Bhattacharjee, A., Brewer, A., Anadón, J. D., Abernethy, E., Rhodes, O. E., Turner, K., Beasley, J. C., DeVault, T. L., Ordiz, A., Wikenros, C., Zimmermann, B., Wabakken, P., Wilmers, C. C., Smith, J. A., Kendall, C. J., Ogada, D., Buechley, E. R., Frehner, E., Allen, M. L., Wittmer, H. U., Butler, J. R. A., Toit, J. T., Read, J., Wilson, D., Jerina, K., Krofel, M., Kostecke, R., Inger, R., Samson, A., Naves-Alegre, L. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. A. (2019). Scavenging in the Anthropocene: human impact drives vertebrate scavenger species richness at a global scale. *Global Change Biology*, *25*(9), 3005-3017.

Selva, N., Jedrzejewska, B., Jedrzejewski, W. & Wajrak, A. (2005). Factors affecting carcass use by a guild of scavengers in European temperate woodland. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 83(12), 1590-1601.

Sobrino, R., Cabezón, O., Millán, J., Pabón, M., Arnal, M. C., Luco, D. F., Gortázar, C., Dubey, J. P. & Almería, S. (2007). Seroprevalence of *Toxoplasma gondii* antibodies in wild carnivores from Spain. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *148*(3-4), 187-192.

Sukhdeo, M. V. (2012). Where are the parasites in food webs? Parasites & Vectors, 5, 239.

Vander Wal, E., Garant, D., Calmé, S., Chapman, C. A., Festa-Bianchet, M., Millien, V., Rioux-Paquette, S. & Pelletier, F. (2014). Applying evolutionary concepts to wildlife disease ecology and management. *Evolutionary Applications*, 7(7), 856-868.

Vercammen, F., Vervaeke, M., Dorny, P., Brandt, J., Brochier, B., Geerts, S. & Verhagen, R. (2002). Survey for *Trichinella* spp. in red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) in Belgium. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *103*(1-2), 83-88.

Von Köller, J., Kapel, C. M., Enemark, H. L. & Hindsbo, O. (2001). Infectivity of *Trichinella* spp. recovered from decaying mouse and fox muscle tissue. *Parasite*, 8(2 Suppl), S209-S212.

Weinstein, S. B., Buck, J. C. & Young, H. S. (2018). A landscape of disgust. *Science*, 359(6381), 1213-1214.

Wilson, D. E. & Wittermeier, R. A. (2009). Handbook of the mammals of the world. Vol. 1: Carnivores. Barcelona: Lynx Edicions.

Wood, C. L. & Johnson, P. T. (2015). A world without parasites: exploring the hidden ecology of infection. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 13(8), 425-434.

### SUPPLEMENTARY FILES

			Cazorla (foxes)		Murcia (foxes)		Espuña (foxes)		Espuña (others)	
Class	Common name	Scientific name	Non-cons. events	Cons. events	Non-cons. events	Cons. events	Non-cons. events	Cons. events	Non-cons. events	Cons. events
Birds	Griffon vulture	Gyps fulvus	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Golden eagle	Aquila chrysaetos	0	8	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Little owl	Athene noctua	1	0	19	3	0	0	0	0
	Common raven	Corvus corax	4	16	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Carrion crow	Corvus corone	34	69	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Eurasian jay	Garrulus glandarius	60	54	0	0	38	0	4	2
Mammals	Red fox	Vulpes vulpes	478	117	144	16	69	8	70	59
	Domestic dog	Canis lupus familiaris	13	0	8	0	0	0	2	0
	Wild cat	Felis silvestris silvestris	7	0	2	0	0	0	0	0
	Domestic cat	Felis silvestris catus	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
	Stone marten	Martes foina	62	11	1	0	8	0	18	0
	Eurasian badger	Meles meles	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Common genet	Genetta genetta	27	3	5	0	4	0	2	0
	Wild boar	Sus scrofa	128	5	10	0	8	2	14	0
Total			816	284	190	19	127	10	110	61

Table S1. Non-consumption ("Non-cons. events") and consumption events ("Cons. events") by scavengers recorded per study area and carcass type.

**Table S2.** AICc-based model selection to assess the effect of study "area", "habitat", "year", "season", "hour", "carcass type", other "scavenger" presence, consumption by other scavenger ("scav. cons."), and carcass "detection time" on "time of first consumption" by foxes and the "ratio consumption:non-consumption events" by foxes on mesocarnivore carcasses in southeastern Spain (see text for details on the variables). Number of estimated parameters (k), AICc values, AICc differences ( $\Delta$ AICc) with the model with the lowest AICc, and the variability of the models explained by the predictors (deviance, D<sup>2</sup>) are shown. Selected models are in bold.

Response variable	Model	k	AICc	ΔAICc	D <sup>2</sup>
esponse variable Model   me to first consumption detection time carcass   detection time + carcass detection time + carcass   detection time + habitat hour   habitat season   detection time + season detection time + hour   year detection time + carcass + habitat   detection time + carcass + habitat detection time + carcass + hour   detection time + carcass + season area   detection time + carcass + season area   detection time + area season + detection time + carcass + season	detection time	1	261.12	0	3.62
	carcass	1	262.41	1.29	7.42
	detection time + carcass	2	262.55	1.43	10.81
	detection time + habitat	2	263.26	2.14	
	hour	1	263.28	2.16	
	habitat	1	263.54	2.42	
	season	1	263.56	2.44	
	detection time + season	2	263.60	2.48	
	detection time + hour	2	263.67	2.55	
	year	2	263.85	2.73	
	detection time + carcass + habitat	3	264.10	2.98	
	detection time + year	3	265.09	3.97	
	detection time + carcass + hour	3	265.15	4.03	
	detection time + carcass + season	3	265.37	4.25	
	area	2	265.94	4.82	
	detection time + area	3	266.39	5.27	
Ratio consumption:non-consumption events	season + detection time + carcass + scav. cons. + area	6	337.66	0	34.44
	season + detection time + carcass + scav. cons.	4	348.20	10.54	
	season + detection time + carcass + scav. cons. + year	6	349.00	11.34	
	season + detection time + carcass + area	5	349.71	12.05	
	season + detection time + carcass + scav. cons. + hour	5	349.94	12.28	
	season + detection time + carcass + scav. cons. + scavenger	5	350.48	12.82	

**Table S2 (continued).** AICc-based model selection to assess the effect of study "area", "habitat", "year", "season", "hour", "carcass type", other "scavenger" presence, consumption by other scavenger ("scav. cons."), and carcass "detection time" on "time of first consumption" by foxes and the "ratio consumption:non-consumption events" by foxes on mesocarnivore carcasses in southeastern Spain (see text for details on the variables). Number of estimated parameters (k), AICc values, AICc differences ( $\Delta$ AICc) with the model with the lowest AICc, and the variability of the models explained by the predictors (deviance, D<sup>2</sup>) are shown. Selected models are in bold.

Response variable	Model	k	AICc	∆AICc	<b>D</b> <sup>2</sup>
Ratio consumption:non-consumption events	season + detection time + carcass + scav. cons. + habitat	5	350.66	13.00	
	season + detection time + scav. cons.	3	358.47	20.81	
	season + detection time + carcass + habitat	4	362.70	25.04	
	season + scav. cons.	2	366.91	29.25	
	season + detection time + carcass	3	372.54	34.88	
	season + detection time + habitat	3	373.76	36.10	
	season + detection time + carcass + scavenger	4	374.81	37.15	
	season + detection time + carcass + hour	4	374.90	37.24	
	season + detection time + area	4	374.99	37.33	
	season + detection time + carcass + year	5	375.99	38.33	
	season + detection time	2	376.66	39.00	
	season + detection time + scavenger	3	378.86	41.20	
	season + detection time + hour	3	378.93	41.27	
	season + detection time + year	4	379.94	42.28	
	season + habitat	2	381.51	43.85	
	season + area	3	381.76	44.10	
	season + carcass	2	383.48	45.82	
	season	1	388.20	50.54	
	season + scavenger	2	388.93	51.27	
	season + year	3	389.68	52.02	
	season + hour	2	390.36	52.70	
	carcass	1	402.57	64.91	

**Table S2 (continued).** AICc-based model selection to assess the effect of study "area", "habitat", "year", "season", "hour", "carcass type", other "scavenger" presence, consumption by other scavenger ("scav. cons."), and carcass "detection time" on "time of first consumption" by foxes and the "ratio consumption:non-consumption events" by foxes on mesocarnivore carcasses in southeastern Spain (see text for details on the variables). Number of estimated parameters (k), AICc values, AICc differences ( $\Delta$ AICc) with the model with the lowest AICc, and the variability of the models explained by the predictors (deviance, D<sup>2</sup>) are shown. Selected models are in bold.

Response variable	Model	k	AICc	ΔAICc	D2
Ratio consumption:non-consumption events	area	2	423.54	85.88	
	detection time	1	434.04	96.38	
	year	2	444.69	107.03	
	scavenger	1	446.16	108.50	
	scav. cons.	1	446.78	109.12	
	habitat	1	448.95	111.29	
	hour	1	450.14	112.48	



**Figure S1.** Weekly percentage of consumed (i.e., with at least one consumption event) and nonconsumed (i.e., visited, but no consumption events recorded) carcasses by each scavenger group per study area and carcass type. For a given week, the number of carcasses available to scavengers is given in parentheses. To facilitate comparisons, Y-axis's scale is equal for each study area.



**Figure S2.** Weekly percentage of consumption and non-consumption events by each scavenger group per study area and carcass type. For a given week, the number of carcasses available to scavengers is given in parentheses. To facilitate comparisons, Y-axis's scale is equal for each study area.

## **CHAPTER 3**

### DESCRIBING THE RISK OF NON-TROPHICALLY TRANSMITTED PARASITES BASED ON RED FOX BEHAVIOR VIS-À-VIS CARNIVORE CARCASSES
#### ABSTRACT

The spatial and temporal distribution of pathogens in wildlife is heterogeneous, with specific areas and periods of greatest transmission risk. Trophic resources usually favor the concentration of animals, so the risk of infection associated with these is often greater. In this sense, carrion is an ephemeral trophic resource that can act as a hotspot for meat-borne pathogens, but also for other non-trophically transmitted ones. Carnivore carrion has a greater persistence in the environment than herbivore carrion, which makes it, a priori, an attractive site for different animal species, with a greater number of ecological interactions and, possibly, with epidemiological consequences regarding non-trophic transmission of parasites. In order to investigate this last issue, we used videos recorded by camera traps to evaluate the behavior of wildlife species in three areas of the Iberian Peninsula where a total of 56 fox carcasses and 10 carcasses other than fox were placed. Concerning foxes, contact events were more frequent and earlier at heterospecific carrion than at conspecific ones. These contacts used to be delayed several weeks, especially in conspecific carcasses. In relation to rubbing events, a similar pattern between heterospecific and conspecific carrion was detected, although the frequency was higher in mesocarnivore sites other than fox. Moreover, rubbing contact events by foxes were more frequently detected than contacts resulting from marking. This behavior pattern could be interpreted, from an epidemiological point of view, as an infection risk of pathogens transmitted by direct contact, most notably Sarcoptes scabiei. Marking events were more frequently recorded at fox carcasses, suggesting that they are used as inter- and intraspecific information points of longer persistence. This finding is evidence of the risk posed by carrion sites in the transmission of infective stages eliminated by feces or urine, such as certain viruses and helminth eggs. Overall, foxes were reluctant to contact carrion during the first weeks, especially in conspecific carcasses, probably to reduce the risk of infection by nontrophically transmitted parasites. However, this strategy seems ineffective for the most persistent pathogens in the environment. Our research highlights the importance of the ecological study of wildlife diseases, relating ecological interactions with possible modes of transmission of emerging and re-emerging pathogens.

# **INTRODUCTION**

Pathogen distribution is spatially and temporally heterogeneous, so epidemiological landscapes frequently consist of hotspots for transmission risk within a matrix of reduced

or even no exposure to parasites (Bousema *et al.*, 2012; Buck *et al.*, 2018; Weinstein *et al.*, 2018a). Infection risk hotspots may be driven by either resources that favor aggregation of animals, such as water ponds, food-rich patches or by pathogen-contaminated resources, such as latrines (Buck *et al.*, 2018; Weinstein *et al.*, 2018a, 2018b). The epidemiological risk may also be increased by species-specific behaviors, such as social interaction between individuals of gregarious species or family groups, or during certain times of the year, such as during mating (Altizer *et al.*, 2003; Patterson and Ruckstuhl, 2013; Ezenwa *et al.*, 2016). The infection risk also depends on the diversity of susceptible and alternative hosts in the environment (Johnson and Thieltges, 2010). When food resources and other points of attraction are apparently infected, hosts must weigh perceived infection risk against foraging gains and other benefits (Weinstein *et al.*, 2018b). Understanding host behavioral responses to potential risk of infection associated with food resources is relevant from an ecological and evolutionary perspective, but also provides a solid basis for better interpretation of epidemiological risk factors (Hart, 1990; Kuris, 2003; Penczykowski *et al.*, 2015).

Carcasses are a paradigmatic example of food resource that may be regarded as hotspots for both trophically and non-trophically transmitted pathogens (Turner *et al.*, 2014; Dmitric *et al.*, 2017). This nutrient-rich resource attracts many scavengers in all ecosystems (DeVault *et al.*, 2003; Beasley *et al.*, 2012; Mateo-Tomás *et al.*, 2015; Sebastián-González *et al.*, 2019), leading to concentrations within few meters of up to hundreds of different individuals in the case of vultures (Donázar, 1993). In the absence of vultures, which are very efficient carrion consumers, many opportunistic or facultative scavengers such as mammalian mesocarnivores may readily access carrion (Morales-Reyes *et al.*, 2017). In these conditions, parasite transmission may occur not only from the carcass to the scavenger, but also among different scavengers that co-occur at carcass sites (Ogada *et al.*, 2012). Moreover, the dead animal can be a source of pathogens for non-scavenging species that approach the carcass without the intention of eating it, for other species that contact the carcass with the aim of ingesting the necrophagous invertebrates found on it, as well as for animal species that use the carcass for non-trophic purposes, such as marking behavior and taking material for nest construction (Moleón and Sánchez-Zapata, 2016).

Carcasses are normally an ephemeral resource (DeVault *et al.*, 2003; Barton *et al.*, 2013). However, not all of them have the same duration in the environment. Carcasses of carnivore species generally persist longer than those of herbivore species (Selva *et al.*,

2005; Olson *et al.*, 2016; Moleón *et al.*, 2017, 2020). This is because not all carnivorous species that may feed on herbivore carcasses feel safe to feed on carcasses of phylogenetically related species, especially on conspecific carcasses, given increased risk of acquiring species-specific meat-borne parasites (Hart, 2011; Moleón *et al.*, 2017). Therefore, the opportunities for contact between carcasses and the visiting host species, as well as between the latter, are more numerous in the case of carnivore carcasses. Consequently, the possibility of the host becoming infected through this type of carcasses, especially by non-trophically transmitted pathogens, may also increase. Thus, carnivore carcasses are an excellent model to study host behavior around carcasses in relation to the risk of acquiring non-trophically transmitted parasites, and how this behavior changes with time. However, fine-grained behavioral studies about the risk associated with carcass sites are largely lacking, particularly for carnivore carcino.

In the case of mammalian carnivores, non-trophically transmitted pathogens include a wide range of parasites, fungus, bacteria and virus. These pathogens have characteristics that largely condition their transmission, such as survival time in the environment of the infective stages, the route of infection they have, the number of host species that are susceptible, as well as the life cycle they present (Poulin, 2007). In general, the infection risk of these pathogens through carcasses decreases over time, conditioned by survival in the environment of the infective stages. In addition, this risk increases as the distance between the susceptible host and the carcass decreases. Among the pathogens that cause most impact on wildlife is Sarcoptes scabiei, which produces sarcoptic mange (Niedringhaus et al., 2019). This multi-host ectoparasite is widely distributed and affects an ample range of mammals, including ungulates and carnivores (Pisano et al., 2019; Turchetto *et al.*, 2020). Sarcoptic mange mites are located on the epidermis of the animal, and can be transmitted through direct contact between individuals or indirectly when a susceptible host acquires free mites that have shed the skin of an infected animal, especially in dens and other sheltered sites where S. scabiei may survive for several days (Pence and Ueckermann, 2002). Another infectious agent of major concern for its health impact on wildlife populations is the bacterium Bacillus anthracis, which cause anthrax in ungulates and, to a lesser extent, in carnivores. After the death of the infected animal, this virulent pathogen produces spores around the carcass that can persist in the environment for years, infecting new hosts via ingestion or inhalation (Bellan et al., 2013; Turner et al., 2014). Other widely distributed, non-trophically transmitted infectious agents that can seriously

affect wild carnivore populations are rabies, distemper virus and canine parvovirus, which can be acquired through the saliva, respiratory secretions and feces of infected animals, respectively (Truyen *et al.*, 1998; Gottstein *et al.*, 2009; Nouvellet *et al.*, 2013; McElhinney *et al.*, 2014; Carricondo-Sánchez *et al.*, 2017).

The most ubiquitous mammalian carnivore worldwide is the red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*), a typical generalist species that feeds upon a wide array of animal, plant and fungal foods, including carrion (Wilson and Mittermeier, 2009; Mateo-Tomás *et al.*, 2015). Foxes inhabit a wide range of habitats, including urban and peri-urban areas (Wilson and Mittermeier, 2009). Thus, much has been discussed about the epidemiological role of foxes as reservoirs of pathogens with potential zoonotic and veterinary significance (Di Cerbo *et al.*, 2008; Karamon *et al.*, 2018).

Our main goal is to explore the behavior of potential hosts of non-trophically transmitted pathogens at carnivore carcass sites, with an especial emphasis on the red fox. For this purpose, we monitored the decomposition process of fox and other mesocarnivore carcasses in several areas that differ in their communities of vertebrate carnivores and in a gradient of anthropization. Analyzed behaviors include contact, marking and rubbing, on either the carcass or its vicinities. Our main hypothesis is that the risk of acquiring pathogens through direct contact is dependent on both carcass types (conspecific vs. heterospecific regarding the consumer) and time since the carcass became available, and that hosts rely on these indirect cues to shape their behavior. Overall, we predict that risky behaviors will be more frequent in heterospecific carcasses than in conspecific ones. This study may provide important insights to further understand the landscape of disgust associated with carrion, as well as the possible epidemiological consequences of this host behavior (Buck et al., 2018; Weinstein et al., 2018a). This kind of studies may be especially welcome in the current SARS-CoV-2 pandemic context, which has highlighted the need to investigate the form of transmission of this emerging pathogen in wild species, especially in mesocarnivores (Leroy et al., 2020; Tiwari et al., 2020).

#### MATERIAL AND METHODS

#### Study areas

Fieldwork was done in three mountainous areas of southeastern Spain: Sierras de Cazorla, Segura y Las Villas Natural Park (hereafter Cazorla; 2,099 km<sup>2</sup>, 38°09'N 2°44'W), Sierra Espuña Regional Park (hereafter Espuña; 178 km<sup>2</sup>, 37°51'N 1°32'W) and periurban areas of Murcia city (hereafter Murcia; 415 km<sup>2</sup>, 37°57'N 1°02'W). Natural vegetation in the three areas is dominated by pine forests (mostly Pinus halepensis at low altitudes and P. nigra and P. pinaster at higher altitudes), aromatic shrubs and patches of oak forests (Quercus ilex and Q. faginea) (Rivas-Martínez et al., 1987). There is an altitudinal and meteorological gradient from Cazorla (500-2,107 m.a.s.l.; mean annual temperature: 12-16°C; mean annual precipitation: 300-950 mm) to Espuña (200-1,583 m.a.s.l.; 13-18°C; 300-500 mm) and Murcia (190-490)m.a.s.l.; 17-23°C; 200-450 mm) (www.juntadeandalucia.es; siam.imida.es). Meso-, Supra- and Oro-Mediterranean stages are represented in Cazorla, Thermo-, Meso- and Supra-Mediterranean stages in Espuña, and Thermo- and Meso-Mediterranean stages in Murcia. Cazorla and Espuña are protected areas, while Murcia supports moderate to high levels of anthropization, including scattered residential areas and herbaceous and fruit tree cultivations (mainly citrus trees).

In general, vertebrate communities are much richer in Cazorla, which holds a large and permanent population of obligate scavengers (i.e., vultures) and a wide variety of facultative scavengers. The scavenging community is similar in Espuña, though vultures are less abundant. In Murcia, vultures are mostly absent, and the presence of domestic carnivores, such as the dog (*Canis lupus familiaris*) and the cat (*Felis silvestris catus*), is more frequent. The fox is the commonest wild mammalian carnivore in the three study areas, though it is more abundant in Espuña than in Cazorla; there are no detailed data for Murcia. For more information on Cazorla and Espuña, see Moleón *et al.* (2017) and Morales-Reyes *et al.* (2017), respectively.

#### **Data collection**

A total of 66 mesocarnivore carcasses were monitored in Cazorla (n=27 foxes), Murcia (n=19 foxes) and Espuña (n=20 carcasses, including ten foxes, four martens (*Martes foina*), three badgers (*Meles meles*), two genets (*Genetta genetta*) and one wild cat (*Felis silvestris silvestris*) from November 2016 to March 2018. The main research model was the fox because it is the most abundant carnivore in the studied areas. Hereafter, carcasses of

carnivores other than foxes are designated as "other carcasses". Carcasses came from authorized hunting (only in the case of foxes) and recent road kills (foxes and other carnivores). Immediately after collection, carcasses were eviscerated, and a serum sample was taken from each animal to perform enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays for antibody detection (ELISA kits, Ingenasa®, Madrid, Spain) against some infectious diseases (canine distemper virus CDV, feline coronavirus FCoV, canine and feline parvovirus CPV/FPV, feline leukemia virus FeLV and feline immunodeficiency virus FIV). Also, muscle samples from the base of the tongue, the forearms and diaphragm were processed by artificial digestion to detect the presence of *Trichinella* spp. larvae (Kapel *et al.*, 1994; Gamble *et al.*, 2000). Carcasses used in the study were free from these pathogens, and no lesions compatible with sarcoptic mange, mycosis or other pathologies were detected. In the case of hunted foxes, the tissues adjacent to the shot were removed to eliminate any trace of lead. After necropsy, carcasses were frozen at -20°C in individual plastic bags, with the time elapsed between carnivore death and freezing being less than 18 h (Moleón *et al.*, 2017).

Carcasses were defrosted before their placement in the field for 12-24 h at room temperature. Carcasses were randomly distributed throughout the study areas, with a minimum distance between neighboring cameras of at least 1 km (Moleón *et al.*, 2017). Each carcass was fixed to a rock or a tree trunk by 1.5 mm diameter steel wires to avoid movement of the carcasses by scavengers away from the recording field of the camera. The wires were camouflaged with plant material and soil (Moleón *et al.*, 2015). Altitudinal range for carcass sites was 772-1676 m a.s.l. in Cazorla, 433-1432 m a.s.l. in Espuña and 125-448 m a.s.l. in Murcia. On the micro-habitat scale (i.e., radius of 10 m around carcass), sampling places were categorized as "close areas", when the vertical projection of trees and shrubs exceeded 50%, and "open areas" otherwise.

Carcasses were monitored using automatic cameras (Bushnell Trophy Cam and Bushnell Agressor) until complete consumption (i.e., no remains, or only fur left) or for a maximum of 10 weeks if carcass was not completely consumed (i.e., bones and skin remained). Cameras were placed in discreet locations close to the carcasses (3-4 m) and were programmed to record a 15-second video every minute when detecting movement. Each carcass site was visited weekly to check batteries and memory cards. Cameras provided information on the presence of vertebrate species and their behavior at carcass sites. Recorded vertebrate species were classified into three groups: "red fox", "other mammals" and "birds" (including in this last group one reptile: *Timon lepida*). According to O'Brien *et al.* (2003) and Ridout and Linkie (2009), we defined independent events for each carcass as: a) consecutive videos of unequivocally different individuals of the same species or individuals of different species; b) when individual identification was not possible, consecutive videos of individuals of the same species taken more than 30 minutes apart; and c) non-consecutive videos of individuals of the same species. For each event, we recorded a) the species group, b) the number of different individuals, c) the existence of contact between the visitor and the carcass, d) the existence of marking behavior (urine and feces deposition), e) the existence of rubbing behavior, and, f) when visitors contacted the carcass, the part of it that was contacted ("anterior": head, neck and forelimbs; "middle": trunk; "posterior": tail, perianal region and hindquarters). All events were categorized according to the minimum distance between the visitor and the carcass as "contact" (distance: 0 cm), "close" (distance: >0-50 cm), "moderate" (distance: >50-200 cm) and "far" (distance: >200 cm). These distance intervals were also used to classify marking and rubbing sites.

#### Data analyses: weekly behavioral patterns

First, we explored the general spatiotemporal patterns of mesocarnivore carcass use by the studied vertebrate communities. For each study area and carcass type (foxes and others), we calculated, on a weekly basis, the proportion of carcasses that were contacted (i.e., with at least one contact event), marked (i.e., with at least one event showing marking behavior), rubbed (i.e., with at least one event showing rubbing behavior on the carcass or on the ground next to it), and visited but not contacted (i.e., no contact events recorded), for all vertebrates together and separately for each vertebrate group. We did the same for the number of contact, marking, rubbing and no contact events.

We then explored the changing propensity of foxes to contact mesocarnivore carcasses by calculating these ratios per week: a) contacted:non-contacted carcasses, b) marked:non-marked carcasses, c) rubbed:non-rubbed carcasses, d) contact:non-contact events, e) marking:non-marking events, and f) rubbing:non-rubbing events. In addition, we calculated the accumulated number of carcasses that were a) detected, b) contacted (i.e., at least one contact event), c) marked (i.e., at least one marking event), and d) rubbed (i.e., at least one rubbing event) each week by foxes.

#### Data analyses: determinants of fox behavior

We used generalized linear models (GLMs) to analyze the factors influencing "time of first contact" (only carcasses with at least one contact event by foxes were used; n=54). Time of first contact was calculated as the time elapsed since carcass detection by foxes until the first contact event by foxes. The sample unit for these analyses was the carcass. The explanatory variables were study "area" (Cazorla, Espuña, Murcia), "habitat" (close, open), "year", "season" (winter –November-February, spring –April and May), "hour" of carcass placement (morning –from dawn to 12:00h, afternoon –from 12:00h to dusk), "carcass type" (fox, other), and carcass "detection time" by foxes (i.e., time elapsed since carcass placement and its detection by fox, expressed in days).

We then proceeded with model construction, using Gaussian error distributions and identity functions. Model selection was based on Akaike's Information Criterion, which allows the identification of the most parsimonious model (lowest AIC) and ranks the remaining models. For each model, the AIC value was corrected for small sample sizes (AICc). Model selection was done in four steps. First, we constructed univariate models with all the explanatory variables. Second, we constructed bivariate models using all combinations that included the variable retained in the univariate model with lowest AICc. Third, we constructed models with three and four variables (guaranteeing at least c. 10 observations per parameter) with the combinations of variables that provided the lowest AICc values. Fourth, delta AICc ( $\Delta$ AICc) was calculated as the difference in AICc between each model and the best model in the evaluated set, and models with  $\Delta$ AICc<2 were considered to have similar support (Burnham and Anderson, 2002). We calculated the deviance (D<sup>2</sup>) explained by each candidate model according to this formula: D<sup>2</sup> = (null deviance – residual deviance) / null deviance \*100 (Burnham and Anderson, 2002).

Finally, we used Chi-square analyses to compare the parts of the carcass that were contacted by foxes a) among study areas (only fox carcasses) and b) carcass types (only in Espuña). We also used Chi-square analyses to compare the minimum distance between visiting foxes and the carcass a) among study areas (only fox carcasses) and b) carcass types (only in Espuña). All analyses were done with R studio software v1.0.143 (R Core Team, 2018).

## RESULTS

#### Visiting species and their general behavior

We recorded a total of 2,383 events of vertebrate species visiting the carcasses (58.9% in Cazorla, 23.9% in Murcia, 7.9% in Espuña at fox carcasses, 9.3% in Espuña at other carcasses). We detected 41 species (19 birds, 21 mammals and one reptile). The average richness of visiting species per carcass was approximately double in Cazorla than in Murcia and Espuña (Tables S1 and S2). Domestic species (mainly dogs, but also cats, goats and sheep) were rarely recorded (1.4% of total events; Table S2). The fox was the most frequently recorded species in the three study areas (40.3% of total events). Mean number of different individuals per event was  $1.1\pm0.9$  (range: 1-29), and groups of visitors (i.e., more than one individual) were recorded at 8.0% of total events. Groups were more frequently recorded for carrion crow (*Corvus corone*), wild boar (*Sus scrofa*), mouflon (*Ovis aries musimon*) and eurasian jay (*Garrulus glandarius*) in Cazorla. The fox was very rarely observed in groups (Table S2).

Contact events represented 40.6% of the total recorded events. Specifically, contact events in Cazorla were 64.4% of total contact events; in Murcia 16.6%; and in Espuña were 7.6% and 11.5% at fox carcasses and at other carcasses, respectively (Figure 1, Table 1). Considering all study areas together, the fox was the species that most frequently contacted with carcasses (45.0% of total contact events; Figure 1, Table 1). Carcasses were contacted by 21 vertebrate species (nine birds and 12 mammals) in Cazorla, 15 species in Murcia (five birds and 10 mammals), seven species in Espuña at fox carcasses (three birds and four mammals), and 10 species in Espuña at other carcasses (three birds and seven mammals; Table S2). Intraspecific contact was recorded at 100% of carcasses in Cazorla, 63.2% in Murcia, and 60.0% (fox carcasses) and 30.0% (other carcasses) in Espuña. In foxes, intraspecific contact was detected in 43.4% of the total events recorded. In Espuña, events (especially contact events) of foxes and other mammals, but not of birds, were more frequently recorded at carcasses of other mesocarnivores (Figure 1). Contact of both domestic and wild species with the same carcass took place at six carcasses in Cazorla (22.2% of total carcasses in this area), three in Murcia (15.8%) and two carcasses of other mesocarnivores in Espuña (20% of total non-fox carcasses). Contact between individuals of different visiting species at carcass sites was recorded only once, between a golden eagle and a griffon vulture in Cazorla.

Marking and rubbing behaviors were recorded in 5.7% and 2.4% of total events, respectively. In detail, the results obtained in Cazorla were 64.7% and 59.7% of total marking and rubbing events, respectively; in Murcia were 16.2% and 19.3%; at fox carcasses from Espuña were 8.1% and 8.7%, and 11.0% and 12.3% at other carcasses (Figure 1, Table 1). The fox was the most frequently recorded species marking (83.1% of total marking events) and rubbing on the carcass or on the ground (70.1% of total rubbing events), and no marking and rubbing behaviors were observed for birds (Figure 1, Table 1). Regarding total marking events, urination was the most frequently recorded behavior in foxes (85.2% of total marking events) and other mammals (73.9%), while defecation only represented 14.8% and 26.1% of marking events, respectively.



······ No contact — Contact – Marking – Rubbing

**Figure 1.** Weekly variation in patterns of use of mesocarnivore carcasses by red fox, other mammals and birds in three areas of southeastern Spain. A) Weekly percentage of contacted (i.e., with at least one contact event), non-contacted (i.e., visited, but no contact events recorded), marked (i.e., with at least one marking event), and rubbed (i.e., with at least one rubbing event) carcasses by red fox, other mammals and birds per study area and carcass type. B) Weekly number of contact, non-contact, marking, and rubbing events by red fox, other mammals and birds per study area and carcass type. B) Weekly number of contact, non-contact, marking, and rubbing events by red fox, other mammals and birds per study area and carcass type. For a given week, the number of carcasses available is given in parentheses. Panels for carcasses of carnivores other than foxes are in boxes.



•••••• No contact — Contact – Marking – – Rubbing

**Figure 1 (continued).** Weekly variation in patterns of use of mesocarnivore carcasses by red fox, other mammals and birds in three areas of southeastern Spain. A) Weekly percentage of contacted (i.e., with at least one contact event), non-contacted (i.e., visited, but no contact events recorded), marked (i.e., with at least one marking event), and rubbed (i.e., with at least one rubbing event) carcasses by red fox, other mammals and birds per study area and carcass type. B) Weekly number of contact, non-contact, marking, and rubbing events by red fox, other mammals and birds per study area and carcass type. For a given week, the number of carcasses available is given in parentheses. Panels for carcasses of carnivores other than foxes are in boxes.

**Table 1.** Carcass use patterns per study area and carcass type, according to different vertebrate species groups. Number of monitored carcasses is indicated for each study area and carcass type. The number of carcasses visited, contacted, marked and rubbed by each vertebrate group is shown together with the percentage relative to the total carcasses monitored per area and carcass type (in parentheses). Mean number of events per carcass±SD is shown for total, contact, marking and rubbing events. We considered carcasses contacted, marked and rubbed as those carcasses with at least one event with contact, marking or rubbing by a given vertebrate group. Similarly, we considered contact, marking and rubbing events as those events with at least one contact, marking or rubbing behavior recorded.

Area	Carcass type	N	Group	Carcasses visited	Carcasses contacted	Carcasses marked	Carcasses rubbed	Total events	Contact events	Marking events	Rubbing events
Cazorla	Foxes	27	Red fox	27 (100%)	27 (100%)	20 (74.1%)	9 (33.3%)	22.0±13.8	10.2±9.0	2.8±4.1	0.7±1.6
			Other mammals	27 (100%)	23 (85.2%)	9 (33.3%)	8 (29.7%)	17.0±9.6	1±5.0	$0.4{\pm}0.8$	0.5±0.9
			Birds	21 (77.8%)	18 (66.7%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	12.9±15.6	7.4±10.3	0	0
			Total	27 (100%)	27 (100%)	22 (81.5%)	14 (51.2%)	51.9±25.6	23.1±16.7	3.3±4.6	1.2±1.9
Murcia	Foxes	19	Red fox	16 (84.2%)	12 (63.2%)	9 (47.4%)	4 (14.8%)	$8.4 \pm 8.8$	3.3±3.9	1.2±1.6	0.6±1.3
			Other mammals	16 (84.2%)	9 (47.4%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	6.9±10.6	3.5±8.1	0	0
			Birds	15 (78.9%)	9 (47.4%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	14.6±17.3	$1.6 \pm 2.6$	0	0
			Total	19 (100%)	16 (84.2%)	9 (47.4%)	4 (14.8%)	30.0±25.2	8.4±9.0	1.2±1.6	0.6±1.3
Espuña	Foxes	10	Red fox	9 (90.0%)	6 (60.0%)	4 (40.0%)	1 (10.0%)	7.7±6.2	2.4±3.5	0.9±1.5	0.4±1.3
			Other mammals	10 (100%)	6 (60.0%)	2 (20.0%)	1 (10.0%)	2.8±2.4	$0.7{\pm}0.7$	$0.2{\pm}0.4$	0.1±0.3
			Birds	8 (80.0%)	6 (60.0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	8.3±15.2	4.3±6.7	0	0
			Total	10 (100%)	10 (100%)	5 (50.0%)	2 (20.0%)	18.8±18.4	$7.4 \pm 8.7$	1.1±1.6	0.5±1.3
	Other	10	Red fox	10 (100%)	9 (90.0%)	1 (10.0%)	2 (20.0%)	12.9±24.1	7.5±16.8	0.6±1.9	0.5±1.1
			Other mammals	10 (10.0%)	8 (80.0%)	5 (50.0%)	2 (20.0%)	5.1±4.3	1.9±1.6	0.9±1.3	$0.2{\pm}0.4$
			Birds	7 (70.0%)	5 (50.0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	4.2±4.9	1.7±2.2	0	0
			Total	10 (100%)	10 (100%)	6 (60.0%)	3 (30.0%)	22.2±22.4	11.1±16.1	1.5±2.0	0.7±1.3

### Weekly patterns in fox behavior

Maximum values in the ratio between contacted and non-contacted carcasses by fox took place from the fourth (in Espuña) to the seventh (in Cazorla) week in the case of fox carcasses (Figure 2). In the carcasses of other species, the maximum took place from the second week, i.e., two weeks earlier than the maximum for fox carcasses in the same study area (Espuña). We observed a similar general pattern for events, with peaks occurring from the fourth week on in the case of fox carcasses and in the second week in the case of other carcasses, i.e., two weeks earlier than the peak for fox carcasses in the same study area. While fox carcasses in Cazorla and Murcia, and other carcasses in Espuña, began to be contacted in the first week after their deployment, the first events of contact of fox carcasses in Espuña began to be recorded from the second week. In Espuña, the ratio contact:noncontact events was generally higher at other carnivore carcasses than at fox carcasses (Figure 2).

Carcasses in all the study areas were detected by foxes during the first week. The number of contacted carcasses by fox stabilized by the fourth to seventh week in fox carcasses, and by the fourth week in other carcasses (Figure 3). In Espuña, by the fourth week (i.e., when the maximum number of contacted carcasses was reached for both types of carcasses), less fox carcasses were contacted (60% of total fox carcasses) than carcasses of other carnivores (90% of total other carcasses). While marking by fox was anecdotal for other carcasses (10%), foxes marked 40-74% of fox carcasses, with a direct relationship between marked and contacted carcasses in this case (Figure 3). In contrast, rubbing on the carcass or on the ground next to it by fox was more frequent at other carcasses, especially in late weeks (Figure 3).



**Figure 2.** Weekly variation in the ratios contacted:non-contacted carcasses, contact:non-contact events, marked:non-marked carcasses, marking:non-marking events, rubbed:non-rubbed carcasses, and rubbing:non-rubbing events by the red fox per study area and carcass type. Values above and below the dashed horizontal gray line indicate, respectively, ratios biased towards contact/marking/rubbing and non-contact/non-marking/non-rubbing. For a given week, the number of carcasses available is given in parentheses. Panel for carcasses of carnivores other than foxes is in the box.



**Figure 3.** Accumulated weekly number of detected (i.e., with at least one event recorded), contacted (i.e., with at least one contact event), marked (i.e., with at least one marking event), and rubbed (i.e., with at least one rubbing event) carcasses by the red fox per study area and carcass type. Dotted horizontal gray lines represent the accumulated number of available carcasses. For a given week, the number of carcasses available is given in parentheses. Panel for carcasses of carnivores other than foxes is in the box.

According to the GLMs, the time elapsed since carcass detection by foxes until they contacted it was related to the type of carcass, season, hour of carcass placement and, mostly, by habitat (Table 2). In particular, foxes started to contact earlier carcasses in open habitats, carcasses of mesocarnivores other than fox (Figure 1), in spring and carcasses that were placed during the morning (Table 3). However, selected models explained little of the variability in the response variable, as revealed by their low  $D^2$  values (<10%; Table 2).

**Table 2.** AICc-based model selection to assess the effect of study "area", "habitat", "year", "season", "hour", and "carcass type" on "time of first contact" by foxes on mesocarnivore carcasses in southeastern Spain (see main text for details on the variables). Number of estimated parameters (k), AICc values, AICc differences ( $\Delta$ AICc) with the model with the lowest AICc, and the variability of the models explained by the predictors (deviance, D<sup>2</sup>) are shown. Selected models are in bold.

Model	k	AICc	ΔAICc	$\mathbf{D}^2$
habitat	1	406.78	0	6.02
habitat + carcass	2	407.48	0.70	8.83
habitat + season	2	408.08	1.30	7.81
habitat + hour	2	408.66	1.88	6.82
habitat + carcass + hour	3	409.27	2.49	
season	1	409.53	2.75	
carcass	1	409.67	2.89	
habitat + carcass + season	3	409.81	3.03	
hour	1	409.83	3.05	
year	2	410.88	4.10	
habitat + area	3	410.98	4.20	
habitat + year	3	411.40	4.62	
habitat + carcass + hour + season	4	411.65	4.87	
area	2	411.89	5.11	
habitat + carcass + year	4	411.94	5.16	
habitat + carcass + area	4	412.27	5.49	
habitat + carcass + hour + year	5	413.63	6.85	
habitat + carcass + hour + area	5	414.25	7.47	

**Table 3.** Generalized linear models (GLMs) showing the relationship between "time of first contact" by foxes with the explanatory variables included in the selected models ("habitat": open, close; "carcass" type: fox, other; "season": winter, spring; "hour": morning, afternoon). Only selected models are shown, ordered from highest to lowest  $D^2$ . The estimate of the parameters (including the sign), the standard error of the parameters (SE) and the degree of freedom of the models (df) are shown.

Model	Parameter	Estimate	SE	df
habitat + carcass Intercept		11.402	1.823	53
	habitat (open)	-6.665	3.157	
	carcass (other)	-4.749	3.794	
habitat + season	Intercept	8.545	2.392	53
	habitat (open)	-5.907	3.069	
	season (winter)	2.863	2.878	
habitat + hour	Intercept	10.743	1.747	53
	habitat (open)	-5.681	3.071	
	hour (morning)	-2.430	3.691	
habitat	Intercept	10.306	1.607	53
	habitat (open)	-5.569	3.050	

## Spatial patterns of fox behavior

The direct contact of foxes with the different anatomical regions of the carcass followed a heterogeneous pattern (Figure 4). In general, the part of fox carcasses that was less frequently contacted by foxes was the anterior region. Patterns of direct contact with fox carcasses were similar in Cazorla and Murcia ( $\chi^2$ =2.240, d.f.=2, p=0.3) and Cazorla and Espuña ( $\chi^2$ =4.728, d.f.=2, p=0.09). However, foxes contacted most frequently the posterior region of fox carcasses in Espuña and the central part in Murcia ( $\chi^2$ =7.528, d.f.=2, p=0.02). In Espuña, foxes showed different behaviors vis-à-vis fox carcasses than those of other carnivores ( $\chi^2$ =25.002, d.f.=2, p<0.00001). In particular, foxes contacted mostly the central region of other carnivore carcasses, while the posterior part was the less frequently contacted part (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Carcass parts contacted by foxes per study area and carcass type. Percentages are based on total contact events recorded per carcass type and study area.

While most events by foxes were recorded close to the carcasses, we observed some differences among areas and carcass types (Figure 5). In particular, the pattern of distance maintained between the fox and the conspecific carcass was similar in Cazorla and Murcia  $(\chi^2=1.603, d.f.=3, p=0.7)$ , and Murcia and Espuña  $(\chi^2=5.883, d.f.=3, p=0.1)$ . However, while the frequency of fox occurrence follows a gradient that decreases with distance from the carcass in Cazorla, the most frequent minimum distance between visiting foxes and conspecific carcasses in Espuña was within the >0-50 cm interval ( $\chi^2=8.036$ , d.f.=3, p=0.04). At carcass sites of other carrivore carcasses in Espuña, events were strongly

concentrated within a distance of 50 cm from the carcass, with most events touching the carcass ( $\chi^2$ =16.430, d.f.=3, p<0.001; Figure 5). Most marking (62.8%) and rubbing (82.5%) events were made with direct contact with the carcass.



**Figure 5.** Minimum distance between visiting foxes and carcasses per study area and carcass type. Percentages are based on total events recorded per carcass type and study area.

# DISCUSSION

Here we conducted a detailed behavioral study of carnivore hosts, including scavenging and non-scavenging species, vis-à-vis mammalian carnivore carcasses, which represent potential hotspots for non-trophically transmitted pathogens. Few studies have addressed to date how perceived risk of acquiring non-trophically transmitted pathogens may shape the landscape of disgust of hosts (Buck *et al.*, 2018; Weinstein *et al.*, 2018a), and none has focused on carnivore carcasses. Thus, patterns arisen from our study may provide a basis for a more accurate interpretation of the ecological aspects that characterize the transmission of pathogens in the wild (Polley and Thompson, 2015), which is especially relevant in a global context of zoonotic diseases (Evans *et al.*, 2020; Leroy *et al.*, 2020; Tiwari *et al.*, 2020).

## Visitor behavior at carnivore carcass sites

Carnivore carcass sites were visited by a rich community of vertebrates, though their behavior differed widely among species groups, study areas and carcass types. The long persistence of mesocarnivore carcasses in the environment due to their relatively low consumption rate (Moleón *et al.*, 2017; Muñoz-Lozano *et al.*, 2019) probably favored the visiting of numerous species during the long decomposition period, which lasted up to ten weeks. Contact between the visitor and the carcass was frequently recorded. However, direct contact between two different visitor species was hardly ever recorded, and it was never observed between mammals. This contrasts with herbivore carcasses, in which mammalian scavengers may have more opportunities to contact, especially in the absence of competition with vultures (Ogada *et al.*, 2012). In carnivore carcasses, visits of mammals are more spaced than in herbivore carcasses, where many scavengers may gather in the short interval during which meat is available. Thus, at carnivore carcass sites, infection risk may take place mainly for visitor-carcass contact rather than direct contact between visitors.

Visitor behavior at carcass sites is probably highly dependent on the scavenging habits of the species. In our study, scavenging species were responsible for most contact events (53.1-96.5%, depending on the study area; see Table S2). Contacts by non-scavengers were mainly done by small passerine birds and garden dormice that were observed taking hair from carcasses for nest construction (Moleón and Sánchez-Zapata, 2016; Moleón *et al.*, 2017; authors' pers. observ.; note that these species can also scavenge occasionally and prey on necrophagous insects; Moreno-Opo and Margalida, 2013). Herbivores may avoid carcasses because they pose a risk of predation by scavenging predators (Cortés-Avizanda *et al.*, 2009), so carnivore carcasses should represent a low infection risk for these species in the short-term. In the mid- and long-term, however, the vegetation that vigorously grows around carcass sites (Barton *et al.*, 2013) may attract herbivores and, consequently, it may increase the risk of infection by certain pathogens with persistent infective stages in the environment (Johnson and Thieltges, 2010), such as eggs of *Taenia* spp., a cestode genus that includes several species of parasites whose intermediate hosts are ungulates and definitive hosts are carnivores (Lesniak *et al.*, 2017).

Marking and rubbing behaviors were only observed for mammals. Scent-marking is very frequent in carnivores and many other mammals for interspecific and, mostly, intraspecific communication (e.g., territory delimitation and defense; Ralls, 1971; Johnson, 1973; Sillero-Zubiri and Macdonald, 1998). Rubbing, or scent-rubbing, is also very frequent in mammals such as carnivores, though the eco-evolutionary significance of this behavior is far from being clear (Rieger, 1979; Gosling and McKay, 1990). Direct contact with the carcass was much more frequent for rubbing than marking, which indicates that the risk of acquiring shared pathogens such as *S. scabiei* is higher for wild canids, mustelids and viverrids undergoing rubbing behavior (Arlian, 1989; Kołodziej-Sobocińska *et al.*, 2014). In addition to ectoparasites, there may be other endoparasite infective stages in the hair of the carcass, such as *Toxocara canis* eggs (Roddie *et al.*, 2008). Thus, touching, rubbing against or sniffing the carcass can also be a way of infection for this type of nematode specific to wild canids. The frequent marking behavior observed also suggests that carcass sites may concentrate more persisting infective stages excreted by saliva, urine or feces from the host than in the surrounding landscape. This is the case, for example, of canine parvovirus (Miranda *et al.*, 2017), canine distemper virus (Beineke *et al.*, 2015), *Leptospira* spp. (Millán *et al.*, 2019), *Brucella* spp. (Kosoy and Goodrich, 2019) and ascarids (Okulewicz *et al.*, 2012).

As expected, the richer community of visiting species and the highest number of total contacts, marking and rubbing events were observed in Cazorla, which is the most biodiverse area. In Cazorla, which has important vulture populations, facultative scavengers found less scavenging opportunities (Morales-Reves et al., 2017), so they may be forced to assume higher risk and scavenge on the few carrion resources that are available (Chapter 2). This suggests that carnivore carcasses that remain unconsumed by vultures may pose a highest infection risk for scavenging mammals in areas with high competition for carrion. The time elapsed in detecting carcasses was usually less than a week. From an epidemiological point of view, this indicates that, even if there is no direct contact with the carcass, there is still a risk of acquiring ectoparasites, especially in the case of those with greater mobility and capacity to leave the carcass, such as fleas, Otodectes cynotis and ticks (Domínguez, 2004; Perruci et al., 2016). These ectoparasites are detached from the body within a few hours after host death (Nelder and Reeves, 2005), remaining around the carcass while waiting for a new host. Therefore, mesocarnivore carcass sites could be considered as an epidemiological factor influencing the transmission of vector-borne pathogens (Millán et al., 2016; Hofmeester et al., 2018). However, it should be noted that, in our study, we used carcasses that were frozen (i.e., free from ectoparasites) before their placement in the field.

Domestic species, represented by livestock (goats and sheep) and pets (dogs and cats), were recorded in a very low proportion of total and contact events even for the most anthropized area (Murcia). This suggests that carnivore carcasses are not important hotspots of pathogen transmission for these species, at least in our study areas, where presence of domestic species was generally low. There is concern for rabies circulation among dogs, other domestic animals, wildlife and humans in several parts of the world (Hughes and Macdonald, 2013), though there are no recent cases of rabies in our study area (http://www.who-rabies-bulletin.org/; King *et al.*, 2004). Further studies are recommended in regions where potential contact between wildlife and domestic animals is higher.

#### Fox behavior in relation to carcass type

We found important behavioral differences of red foxes against fox carcasses and carcasses of other mesocarnivores in Espuña. Foxes contacted more heterospecific carcasses than conspecific ones, and the propensity to contact, measured as the ratio contact:non-contact events, was higher for heterospecific carcasses. Moreover, foxes contacted heterospecific carcasses earlier than conspecific ones, as confirmed by the GLMs, and they were more frequently observed at <50 cm from heterospecific carcasses than from fox carcasses. While propensity to rubbing, most of which took place directly against the carcass, was similar between conspecific and heterospecific carcasses, rubbing by fox was more frequent for the later. All of this is in accordance with the hypotheses that, in general, infection risk is higher for phylogenetically related species (Huang et al., 2014), and that carnivores avoid feeding upon conspecific carcasses because the risk of acquiring species-specific meat-borne pathogens is maximum (Hart, 2011; Moleón et al., 2017). In the case of sarcoptic mange, the fox's greater fear of contact conspecific carrion is consistent with the fact that canids have a higher susceptibility to sarcoptic mange than other mesocarnivore species (Astorga et al., 2018; Niedringhaus et al., 2019). Again, we must emphasize here that carcasses used in our study belonged to healthy animals that presented a good body condition and no skin lesions compatible with sarcoptic mange. However, in the initial stages of the disease, mangy animals do not present evident lesions, which suggests that even carrion that does not have sarcoptic lesions may be infectious to the host that contacts it.

Maximum propensity to contact carcasses took place several weeks after carcass deployment, especially for conspecific carcasses. Off-host survival of ectoparasites such as mites and lice decrease with time after host dead, with survival being affected by environmental temperature and humidity (Arlian *et al.*, 1984, 1989; Pérez-Jiménez *et al.*, 1990). In our Mediterranean study areas, characterized by mild and dry environmental conditions, off-host survival of ectoparasites and other pathogens is probably lower than in colder and more humid environments. Foxes visiting carcasses seemed to avoid the period of maximum risk of acquiring ectoparasites, i.e., the first weeks after the carcass was available. However, other infective stages of ascarid eggs, viruses and spore-forming bacteria may survive for longer periods in the carcass vicinities (Turner *et al.*, 2014; Beineke *et al.*, 2015; Holland, 2017; Miranda *et al.*, 2017). In this case, the strategy of foxes of delaying the propensity to contact carcasses would be ineffective to avoid infection risk.

Fox marking behavior was also conditioned by carcass type, as urination and defecation were more frequent for conspecific carcasses. This behavior does not entail, *a priori*, a direct contact with the carcass, so the risk of acquiring some pathogens that are usually transmitted by direct contact and have reduced mobility outside the host, such as lice and, especially, *S. scabiei*, is greatly reduced (Millán *et al.*, 2016). This also suggests that marking behavior of the red fox is weakly inhibited by the infection risk associated with the presence of carcasses. In mammalian carnivores, marking is mainly associated with intraspecific communication (e.g. Sillero-Zubiri and Macdonald, 1998). However, why foxes marked more conspecific than heterospecific carcasses is unclear. A possible explanation could be that fox carcasses could be more valuable in terms of persistent information points. This is because the persistence of fox carcasses in the environment is higher than the persistence of carcasses of other mesocarnivores, given that foxes are more prone to feed upon the later (Moleón *et al.*, 2017; Muñoz-Lozano *et al.*, 2019), and foxes are one of the most abundant scavengers in our study areas (Morales-Reyes *et al.*, 2017).

Finally, we found differences regarding the anatomical regions of the conspecific and heterospecific carcasses that were touched by fox. This behavior may reveal that there are certain pathogens whose infective stages are distributed unequally on the body surface. For example, ascarid eggs are located in the skin of the perianal area; the mite *O. cynotis* and *Malassezia* yeast are preferably in the ear canal (Perrucci *et al.*, 2016); or *Linguatula serrata*, a pentastomid with adult stages located in nasal cavities (Riley, 1986). Our results suggest that scavenger behavior tends to focus primarily on specific anatomical parts of the carcass. This could have epidemiological consequences that should be investigated.

## Conclusions

Here we disentangled the behavior of animals visiting mesocarnivore carcass sites, which may have important implications not only to understand the epidemiology of nontrophically transmitted parasites, but also several eco-evolutionary questions. Contact events between scavengers and carcasses were far more frequent than consumption events (Moleón *et al.*, 2017; Muñoz-Lozano *et al.*, 2019; Chapter 2), which suggests that scavenger behavior is more constrained by the transmission risk of meat-borne parasites than the risk of acquiring non-trophically transmitted parasites. Observed fox behavior may be effective against species-specific ectoparasites with short off-host survival as lice and *S. scabiei*, but not for other pathogen such as ascarids, viruses and spore-forming bacteria that may have persistent infective stages around carcass sites. Overall, this study shows the promising and varied research opportunities of studying animal behavior associated with wildlife are having on modern societies makes it necessary to address these types of studies, providing scientific evidence that is key to advancing our understanding of the epidemiological factors that occur in the wild.

# REFERENCES

Altizer, S., Nunn, C. L., Thrall, P. H., Gittleman, J. L., Antonovics, J., Cunningham, A. A., Dobson, A. P., Ezenwa, V., Jones, K. E., Pedersen, A. B., Poss, M. & Pullian, J. R. C. (2003). Social organization and parasite risk in mammals: integrating theory and empirical studies. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, *34*, 517-547.

Arlian, L. G., Runyan, R. A., Achar, S. & Estes, S. A. (1984). Survival and infectivity of *Sarcoptes* scabiei var. canis and var. hominis. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 11(2 Pt 1), 210-215.

Arlian, L. G., Vyszenski-Moher, D. L. & Pole, M. J. (1989). Survival of adults and development stages of *Sarcoptes scabiei* var. *canis* when off the host. *Experimental and Applied Acarology*, 6(3), 181-187.

Astorga, F., Carver, S., Almberg, E. S., Sousa, G. R., Wingfield, K., Niedringhaus, K. D., Van Wick, P., Rossi, L., Xie, Y., Cross, P., Angelone, S., Gortázar, C. & Escobar, L. E. (2018). International meeting on sarcoptic mange in wildlife, June 2018, Blacksburg, Virginia, USA. *Parasites & Vectors*, *11*(1), 449.

Barton, P. S., Cunningham, S. A., Lindenmayer, D. B. & Manning, A. D. (2013). The role of carrion in maintaining biodiversity and ecological processes in terrestrial ecosystems. *Oecologia*, *171*(4), 761-772.

Beasley, J. C., Olson, Z. H. & DeVault, T. L. (2012). Carrion cycling in food webs: comparisons among terrestrial and marine ecosystems. *Oikos*, *121*(7), 1021-1026.

Beineke, A., Baumgärtner, W. & Wohlsein, P. (2015). Cross-species transmission of canine distemper virus-an update. *One health*, *1*, 49-59.

Bellan, S. E., Turnbull, P. C. B., Beyer, W. & Getz, W. M. (2013). Effects of experimental exclusion of scavengers from carcasses of anthrax-infected herbivores on *Bacillus anthracis* sporulation, survival, and distribution. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *79*(12), 3756-3761.

Bousema, T., Griffin J. T., Sauerwein, R. W., Smith, D. L., Churcher, T. S., Takken, W., Ghani, A., Drakeley, C. & Gosling, R. (2012). Hitting hotspots: spatial targeting of malaria for control and elimination. *PLoS Medicine*, *9*(1), e1001165-10.

Buck, J. C., Weinstein, S. B. & Young, H. S. (2018). Ecological and evolutionary consequences of parasite avoidance. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *33*(8), 619-632.

Burnham, K. P. & Anderson, D. R. (2002). Model selection and multimodel inference. A practical information-theoretic approach. New York: Springer.

Carricondo-Sánchez, D., Odden, M., Linnell, J. D. C. & Odden, J. (2017). The range of the mange: spatiotemporal patterns of sarcoptic mange in red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) as revealed by camera trapping. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(4), e0176200.

Cortés-Avizanda, A., Selva, N., Carrete, M. & Donázar, J.A. (2009). Effects of carrion resources on herbivore spatial distribution are mediated by facultative scavengers. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, *10*(3), 265-272.

DeVault, T. L., Rhodes, O. E. & Shivik, J. A. (2003). Scavenging by vertebrates: behavioural, ecological, and evolutionary perspectives on an important energy transfer pathway in terrestrial ecosystems. *Oikos*, *102*(2), 225-234.

Di Cerbo, A. R., Manfredi, M. T., Trevisiol, K., Bregoli, M., Ferrari, N., Pirinesi, F. & Bazzoli, S. (2008). Intestinal helminth communities of the red fox (*Vulpes vulpes L.*) in the Italian Alps. *Acta Parasitologica*, *53*, 302-311.

Dmitric, M., Vidanovic, D., Vaskovic, N., Matovic, K., Sekler, M., Debeljak, Z. & Karabasil, N. (2017). *Trichinella* infections in red foxes (*Vulpes Vulpes*) and golden jackals (*Canis aureus*) in six districts of Servia. *Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine*, 48(3), 703-707.

Domínguez, G. (2004). North Spain (Burgos) wild mammals ectoparasites. *Parasite*, 11(3), 267-272.

Donázar, J. A. (1993). Los buitres ibéricos. Biología y conservación. Madrid: J. M. Reyero Editor.

Evans, T. S., Shi, Z., Boots, M., Liu, W., Olival, K. J., Xiao, X., Vandewoude, S., Brown, H., Chen, J. L., Civitello, D. J., Escobar, L., Grohn, Y., Li, H., Lips, K., Liu, Q., Lu, J., Martínez-López, B., Shi, J., Shi, X., Xu, B., Yuan, L., Zhu, G. & Getz, W. M. (2020). Synergistic China-US ecological research is essential for global emerging infectious disease preparedness. *EcoHealth*, *17*, 160-173.

Ezenwa, V. O., Archie, E. A., Craft, M. E., Hawley, D. M., Martin, L. B., Moore, J. & White, L. (2016). Host behaviour–parasite feedback: an essential link between animal behaviour and disease ecology. *Proceedings of the Royal Society* B: *Biological Sciences*, *283*, 20153078.

Gamble, H. R., Bessonov, A. S., Cuperlovic, K., Gajadhar, A. A., van Knapen, F., Noeckler, K., Schenone, H. & Zhu, X. (2000). International Commission on Trichinellosis: recommendations on methods for the control of *Trichinella* in domestic and wild animals intended for human consumption. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *93*(3-4), 393-408.

Gosling, L. M. & McKay, H. V. (1990). Competitor assessment by scent matching: an experimental test. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, *26*, 415-420.

Gottstein, B., Pozio, E. & Nöckler, K. (2009). Epidemiology, diagnosis, treatment, and control of trichinellosis. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 22(1), 127-145.

Hart, B. L. (1990). Behavioral adaptations to pathogens and parasites: five strategies. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 14(3), 273-294.

Hart, B. L. (2011). Behavioral defenses in animals against pathogens and parasites: parallels with the pillars of medicine in humans. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*. *Series B, Biological Sciences*, *366*(1583), 3406-3417.

Hofmeester, T. R., Krawczyk, A. I., Van Leeuwen, A. D., Fonville, M., Montizaan, M., Van den Berge, K., Gouwy, J., Ruyts, S. C., Verheyen, K. & Sprong, H. (2018). Role of mustelids in the life-cycle of ixodid ticks and transmission cycles of four tick-borne pathogens. *Parasites & Vectors*, *11*(1), 600.

Holland C. V. (2017). Knowledge gaps in the epidemiology of *Toxocara*: the enigma remains. *Parasitology*, *144*(1), 81-94.

Huang, S., Bininda-Emonds, O. R., Stephens, P. R., Gittleman, J. L. & Altizer, S. (2014). Phylogenetically related and ecologically similar carnivores harbour similar parasite assemblages. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *83*(3), 671-680.

Hughes, J. & Macdonald, D. W. (2013). A review of the interactions between free-roaming domestic dogs and wildlife. *Biological Conservation*, 157, 341-351.

Johnson, R. P. (1973). Scent marking in mammals. Animal Behaviour, 21(3), 521-535.

Johnson, P. T. J. & Thieltges, D. W. (2010). Diversity, decoys and the dilution effect: how ecological communities affect disease risk. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 213(6), 961-970

Kapel, C. M., Henriksen, S. A., Dietz, H. H., Henriksen, P. & Nansen, P. (1994). A study on the predilection sites of *Trichinella spiralis* muscle larvae in experimentally infected foxes (*Alopex lagopus*, *Vulpes vulpes*). *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, *35*(2), 125-132.

Karamon, J., Dąbrowska, J., Kochanowski, M., Samorek-Pieróg, M., Sroka, J., Różycki, M., Bilska-Zając, E., Zdybel, J. & Cencek, T. (2018). Prevalence of intestinal helminths of red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) in central Europe (Poland): a significant zoonotic threat. *Parasites & Vectors*, *11*, 436.

King, A. A., Fooks, A. R., Aubert, M. & Wandeler, A. I. (2004). Historical perspective of rabies in Europe and the Mediterranean Basin. Paris: OIE.

Kołodziej-Sobocińska, M., Zalewski, A. & Kowalczyk, R. (2014). Sarcoptic mange vulnerability in carnivores of the Białowieża Primeval Forest, Poland: underlying determinant factors. *Ecological Research*, *29*, 237-244.

Kosoy, M. & Goodrich, I. (2019). Comparative ecology of *Bartonella* and *Brucella* infections in wild carnivores. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, *5*, 322.

Kuris, A. M. (2003). Evolutionary ecology of trophically transmitted parasites. *Journal of Parasitology*, 89, S96-S100.

Leroy, E. M., Ar Gouilh, M. & Brugère-Picoux, J. (2020). The risk of SARS-CoV-2 transmission to pets and other wild and domestic animals strongly mandates a one-health strategy to control the COVID-19 pandemic. *One Health*, 100133.

Lesniak, I., Heckmann, I., Heitlinger, E., Szentiks, C. A., Nowak, C., Harms, V., Jarausch, A., Reinhardt, I., Kluth, G., Hofer, H., & Krone, O. (2017). Population expansion and individual age affect endoparasite richness and diversity in a recolonising large carnivore population. *Scientific Reports*, *7*, 41730.

Mateo-Tomás, P., Olea, P. P., Moleón, M., Vicente, J., Botella, F., Selva, N., Viñuela, J. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. A. (2015). From regional to global patterns in vertebrate scavenger communities subsidized by big game hunting. *Diversity and Distributions*, *21*(8), 913-924.

McElhinney, L. M., Marston, D. A., Brookes, S. M. & Fooks, A. R. (2014). Effects of carcase decomposition on rabies virus infectivity and detection. *Journal of Virological Methods*, 207, 110-113.

Millán, J., Proboste, T., De Mera, I. G. F., Chirife, A. D., De la Fuente, J. & Altet, L. (2016). Molecular detection of vector-borne pathogens in wild and domestic carnivores and their ticks at the human-wildlife interface. *Ticks and Tick-Borne Diseases*, 7(2), 284-290.

Millán, J., Velarde, R., Chirife, A. D. & León-Vizcaíno, L. (2019). Carriage of pathogenic *Leptospira* in carnivores at the wild/domestic interface. *Polish Journal of Veterinary Sciences*, 22(4), 589-598.

Miranda, C., Santos, N., Parrish, C. & Thompson, G. (2017). Genetic characterization of canine parvovirus in sympatric free-ranging wild carnivores in Portugal. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 53(4), 824-831.

Moleón, M., Martínez-Carrasco, C., Muellerklein, O. C., Getz, W. M., Muñoz-Lozano, C. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. A. (2017). Carnivore carcasses are avoided by carnivores. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *86*(5), 1179-1191.

Moleón, M. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. A. (2016). Non-trophic functions of carcasses: from death to the nest. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 14(6), 340-341.

Moleón, M., Sánchez-Zapata, J. A., Sebastián-González, E. & Owen-Smith, N. (2015). Carcass size shapes the structure and functioning of an African scavenging assemblage. *Oikos*, *124*(10), 1391-1403.

Moleón, M., Selva, N. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. A. (2020). The components and spatiotemporal dimension of carrion biomass quantification. *Tends in Ecology & Evolution*, 35(2), 91-92.

Morales-Reyes, Z., Sánchez-Zapata, J. A., Sebastián-González, E., Botella, F., Carrete, M. & Moleón, M. (2017). Scavenging efficiency and red fox abundance in Mediterranean mountains with and without vultures. *Acta Oecologica*, *79*, 81-88.

Moreno-Opo, R. & Margalida, A. (2013). Carcasses provide resources not exclusively to scavengers: patterns of carrion exploitation by passerine birds. *Ecosphere*, 4(8), 105.

Muñoz-Lozano, C., Martín-Vega, D., Martínez-Carrasco, C., Sánchez-Zapata, J. A., Morales-Reyes, Z., Gonzálvez, M. & Moleón, M. (2019). Avoidance of carnivore carcasses by vertebrate scavengers enables colonization by a diverse community of carrion insects. *PLoS One*, *14*(8), e0221890.

Nelder, M. P. & Reeves, W. K. (2005). Ectoparasites of road-killed vertebrates in northwestern South Carolina, USA. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *129*(3-4), 313-322.

Niedringhaus, K. D., Brown, J. D., Sweeley, K. M. & Yabsley, M. J. (2019). A review of sarcoptic mange in North American wildlife. *International Journal for Parasitology. Parasites and Wildlife*, *9*, 285-297.

Nouvellet, P., Donnelly, C.A., Nardi, M.D., Rhodes, C.J., Benedictis, P.D., Citterio, C., Obber, F., Lorenzetto, M., Pozza, M.D., Cauchemez, S. & Cattoli, G. (2013). Rabies and canine distemper virus epidemics in the red fox population of Northern Italy (2006–2010). *PLoS One*, *8*(4), e61588.

O'Brien, T. G., Kinnaird, M. F. & Wibisono, H. T. (2003). Crouching tigers, hidden prey: Sumatran tiger and prey populations in a tropical forest landscape. *Animal Conservation*, *6*(2), 131-139.

Ogada, D. L., Torchin, M. E., Kinnaird, M. F. & Ezenwa, V. O. (2012). Effects of vulture declines on facultative scavengers and potential implications for mammalian disease transmission. *Conservation Biology*, *26*(3), 453-460.

Okulewicz, A., Perec-Matysiak, A., Buńkowska, K. & Hildebrand, J. (2012). *Toxocara canis*, *Toxocara cati* and *Toxascaris leonina* in wild and domestic carnivores, *Helminthologia*, 49(1), 3-10.

Olson, Z. H., Beasley, J. C. & Rhodes O. E. (2016). Carcass type affects local scavenger guilds more than habitat connectivity. *PLoS One*, *11*(2), e0147798.

Patterson, J. & Ruckstuhl, K. (2013). Parasite infection and host group size: a meta-analytical review. *Parasitology*, 140(7), 803-813.

Pence, D. B. & Ueckerman, E. (2002). Sarcoptic mange in wildlife. *Revue scientifique et technique (International Office of Epizootics)*, 21(2), 385-398.

Penczykowski, R. M., Laine, A. L. & Koskella, B. (2015). Understanding the ecology and evolution of host-parasite interactions across scales. *Evolutionary Applications*, 9(1), 37-52.

Pérez-Jiménez, J. M., Soler-Cruz, M. D., Benítez-Rodríguez, R., Ruiz-Martínez, I., Díaz-López, M., Palomares-Fernández, F. & Delibes-de Castro, M. (1990). Phthiraptera from some wild carnivores in Spain. *Systematic Parasitology*, *15*, 107-117.

Perrucci, S., Verin, R., Mancianti, F. & Poli, A. (2016). Sarcoptic mange and other ectoparasitic infections in a red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) population from central Italy. *Parasite epidemiology and control*, 1(2), 66-71.

Polley, L. & Thompson, A. (2015). Parasites and wildlife in a changing world. *Trends in Parasitology*, 31(4), 123-124.

Poulin, R. (2007). Are there general laws in parasite ecology? Parasitology, 134, 763-776.

R Core Team. (2018). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria.

Ralls, K. (1971). Mammalian scent marking. Science, 171(3970), 443-449.

Ridout, M. S. & Linkie, M. (2009). Estimating overlap of daily activity patterns from camera trap data. *Journal of Agricultural, Biological and Environmental Statistics*, 14, 322-337.

Rieger, I. (1979). Scent rubbing in carnivores. Carnivore, 2(1), 17-25.

Riley J. (1986). The biology of pentastomids. Advances in parasitology, 25, 45-128.

Pisano, S., Zimmermann, F., Rossi, L., Capt, S., Akdesir, E., Bürki, R., Kunz, F., Origgi, F. C. & Ryser-Degiorgis, M. P. (2019). Spatiotemporal spread of sarcoptic mange in the red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) in Switzerland over more than 60 years: lessons learnt from comparative analysis of multiple surveillance tools. *Parasites & Vectors*, 12(1), 521.

Rivas-Martínez, S., Gandullo, J., Serrada, R., Allué, J., Montero, J. & González, J. (1987). Mapa de series de vegetación de España y memoria. Madrid: Publicaciones del Ministerio de Agricultura, Pesca y Alimentación.

Roddie, G., Holland, C., Stafford, P. & Wolfe, A. (2008). Contamination of fox hair with eggs of *Toxocara canis*. *Journal of Helminthology*, 82(4), 293-296.

Sebastián-González, E., Barbosa, J. M., Pérez-García, J. M., Morales-Reyes, Z., Botella, F., Olea, P. P., Mateo-Tomás, P., Moleón, M., Hiraldo, F., Arrondo, E., Donázar, J. A., Cortés-Avizanda, A., Selva, N., Lambertucci, S.A., Bhattacharjee, A., Brewer, A., Anadón, J. D., Abernethy, E., Rhodes, O. E., Turner, K., Beasley, J. C., DeVault, T. L., Ordiz, A., Wikenros, C., Zimmermann, B., Wabakken, P., Wilmers, C. C., Smith, J. A., Kendall, C. J., Ogada, D., Buechley, E. R., Frehner, E., Allen, M. L., Wittmer, H. U., Butler, J. R. A., Toit, J. T., Read, J., Wilson, D., Jerina, K., Krofel, M., Kostecke, R., Inger, R., Samson, A., Naves-Alegre, L. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. A. (2019).

Scavenging in the Anthropocene: human impact drives vertebrate scavenger species richness at a global scale. *Global Change Biology*, 25(9), 3005-3017.

Selva, N., Jedrzejewska, B., Jedrzejewski, W. & Wajrak, A. (2005). Factors affecting carcass use by a guild of scavengers in European temperate woodland. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 83(12), 1590-1601.

Sillero-Zubiri, C. & Macdonald, D. (1998). Scent-marking and territorial behaviour of Ethiopian wolves *Canis simensis*. *Journal of Zoology*, 245(3), 351-361.

Tiwari, R., Dhama, K., Sharun, K., Iqbal Yatoo, M., Malik, Y. S., Singh, R., Michalak, I., Sah, R., Bonilla-Aldana, D. K. & Rodriguez-Morales, A. J. (2020). COVID-19: animals, veterinary and zoonotic links. *The Veterinary Quarterly*, *40*(1), 169-182.

Truyen, U., Müller, T., Heidrich, R., Tackmann, K. & Carmichael, L. E. (1998). Survey on viral pathogens in wild red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) in Germany with emphasis on parvoviruses and analysis of a DNA sequence from a red fox parvovirus. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 121(2), 433-440.

Turchetto, S., Obber, F., Rossi, L., D'Amelio, S., Cavallero, S., Poli, A., Parisi, F., Lanfranchi, P., Ferrari, N., Dellamaria, D. & Citterio, C. V. (2020). Sarcoptic mange in wild Caprinae of the Alps: Could pathology help in filling the gaps in knowledge? *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, *7*, 193.

Turner, W. C., Kausrud, K. L., Krishnappa, Y. S., Cromsigt, J. P. G. M., Ganz, H. H., Mapaure, I., Cloete, C. C., Havarua, Z., Küsters, M., Getz, W. M. & Stenseth, N. C. (2014). Fatal attraction: vegetation responses to nutrient inputs attract herbivores to infectious anthrax carcass sites. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281(1795), 20141785.

Weinstein, S. B., Buck, J. C. & Young, H. S. (2018a). A landscape of disgust. *Science*, 359(6381), 1213-1214.

Weinstein, S. B., Moura, C. W., Mendez, J. F. & Lafferty, K. D. (2018b). Fear of feces? Tradeoffs between disease risk and foraging drive animal activity around raccoon latrines. *Oikos*, *127*(7), 927-934.

Wilson, D. E. & Mittermeier, R. A. (2009). Handbook of the mammals of the world. Vol. 1: Carnivores. Barcelona: Lynx Edicions.

# SUPPLEMENTARY FILES

**Table S1.** Vertebrate species richness recorded at carcasses, per study area and carcass type, according to different vertebrate species groups and behavior. Number of monitored carcasses is indicated for each study area and carcass type. Mean number of species±SD is shown. We considered carcasses contacted, marked and rubbed as those carcasses with at least one event with contact, marking or rubbing by a given scavenger group.

Area	Carcass type	Ν	Group	Visit	Contact	Marking	Rubbing
Cazorla	Foxes	27	Red fox	$1.0{\pm}0$	1.0±0	$0.7 \pm 0.5$	$0.3{\pm}0.5$
			Other mammals	4.9±1.7	$1.9{\pm}1.4$	$0.3 \pm 0.5$	0.3±0.6
			Birds	1.9±1.9	$1.1{\pm}1.1$	0	0
			Total	7.8±2.7	4.0±1.9	$1.1 \pm 0.7$	$0.7{\pm}0.7$
Murcia	Foxes	19	Red fox	$0.9{\pm}0.4$	$0.6{\pm}0.5$	$0.5 \pm 0.5$	$0.2{\pm}0.4$
			Other mammals	1.8±1.3	$0.9{\pm}1.1$	0	0
			Birds	1.6±1.3	$0.7{\pm}0.9$	0	0
			Total	4.2±2.3	$2.2{\pm}1.7$	$0.5 \pm 0.5$	$0.2{\pm}0.4$
Espuña	Foxes	10	Red fox	$0.9{\pm}0.3$	$0.6{\pm}0.5$	$0.4{\pm}0.5$	0.1±0.3
			Other mammals	1.7±1.1	$0.6{\pm}0.5$	$0.2 \pm 0.4$	0.1±0.3
			Birds	$1.2{\pm}0.9$	$0.8{\pm}0.9$	0	0
			Total	3.8±1.9	2.0±1.2	$0.6 \pm 0.7$	$0.2{\pm}0.4$
	Other	10	Red fox	$1.0{\pm}0$	0.9±0.3	$0.1 \pm 0.3$	$0.2{\pm}0.4$
			Other mammals	2.2±1.1	$1.4{\pm}0.9$	$0.5 \pm 0.5$	$0.2{\pm}0.4$
			Birds	1.5±1.2	$0.7{\pm}0.8$	0	0
			Total	4.7±1.8	3.0±1.2	0.6±0.5	$0.4{\pm}0.7$

**Table S2a.** Carcass use patterns by vertebrate species in Cazorla (fox carcasses). Mean number of individuals±SD per carcass is shown, together with the total number of events with contact, marking and rubbing behavior for each species recorded. Species that scavenge frequently in our study areas are indicated by an asterisk.

Class	Common name	Scientific name	Individuals	Contact	Marking	Rubbing
Birds	Golden eagle*	Aquila chrysaetos	1.0±0	8	0	0
	Griffon vulture*	Gyps fulvus	20.0±0	1	0	0
	Common raven*	Corvus corax	$1.6{\pm}0.6$	16	0	0
	Carrion crow*	Corvus corone	$1.6{\pm}0.8$	96	0	0
	Eurasian jay*	Garrulus glandarius	$1.1{\pm}0.2$	64	0	0
	Little owl*	Athene noctua	$1.0{\pm}0$	0	0	0
	Red-legged partridge	Alectoris rufa	-	-	-	-
	European greenfinch	Chloris chloris	-	-	-	-
	Common chaffinch	Fringilla coelebs	2.0±0	0	0	0
	Blue tit	Cyanistes caeruleus	$1.0{\pm}0$	0	0	0
	Great tit	Parus major	$1.7{\pm}1.9$	4	0	0
	Black redstart	Phoenicurus ochruros	$1.0{\pm}0$	1	0	0
	European robin	Erithacus rubecula	$1.0{\pm}0$	10	0	0
	Rock dove	Columba palumbus	$1.0{\pm}0$	0	0	0
	Woodchat shrike	Lanius senator	-	-	-	-
	Wood lark	Lullula arborea	$1.0{\pm}0.2$	1	0	0
	Blackcap	Sylvia atricapilla	-	-	-	-
	Common blackbird	Turdus merula	$1.0{\pm}0$	0	0	0
	Ноорое	Upupa epops	-	-	-	-

Table S2a (continued). Carcass use patterns by vertebrate species in Cazorla (fox carcasses). Mean number of individuals±SD per carcass is shown, together
with the total number of events with contact, marking and rubbing behavior for each species recorded. Species that scavenge frequently in our study areas are
indicated by an asterisk.

Class	Common name	Scientific name	Individuals	Contact	Marking	Rubbing
Mammals	Barbary sheep	Ammotragus lervia	-	-	-	-
	Goat	Capra aegagrus hircus	-	-	-	-
	Spanish ibex	Capra pyrenaica	$1.4{\pm}0.8$	1	0	0
	Sheep	Ovis aries	9.1±10.2	1	0	0
	Mouflon	Ovis aries musimon	$1.6{\pm}0.8$	1	0	0
	Red deer	Cervus elaphus	$1.2{\pm}0.4$	0	0	0
	Fallow deer	Dama dama	$1.4{\pm}0.7$	1	0	0
	Wild boar*	Sus scrofa	1.3±0.9	79	0	12
	Domestic dog*	Canis lupus familiaris	1.3±0.5	9	0	2
	Red fox*	Vulpes vulpes	$1.0{\pm}0.1$	275	76	20
	Domestic cat*	Felis silvestris catus	-	-	-	-
	Wild cat*	Felis silvestris silvestris	$1.0{\pm}0$	1	0	0
	Common genet*	Genetta genetta	$1.0{\pm}0$	16	1	0
	Stone marten*	Martes foina	$1.0{\pm}0$	36	11	0
	Eurasian badger*	Meles meles	$1.0{\pm}0$	0	0	0
	Long-tailed field mouse	Apodemus sylvaticus	-	-	-	-
	Rat	Rattus spp.	$1.0{\pm}0$	1	0	0
	Garden dormouse	Eliomys quercinus	$1.0{\pm}0$	0	0	0
	Red squirrel	Sciurus vulgaris	1.1±0.3	1	0	0
	European rabbit	Oryctolagus cuniculus	-	-	-	-
	White-toothed shrew	Crocidura russula	-	-	-	-
Reptiles	Ocellated lizard	Timon lepidus	-	-	-	-
Total				623	88	34

**Table S2b.** Carcass use patterns by vertebrate species in Murcia (fox carcasses). Mean number of individuals±SD per carcass is shown, together with the total number of events with contact, marking and rubbing behavior for each species recorded. Species that scavenge frequently in our study areas are indicated by an asterisk.

Class	Common name	Scientific name	Individuals	Contact	Marking	Rubbing
Birds	Golden eagle*	Aquila chrysaetos	-	-	_	_
	Griffon vulture*	Gyps fulvus	-	-	-	-
	Common raven*	Corvus corax	-	-	-	-
	Carrion crow*	Corvus corone	-	-	-	-
	Eurasian jay*	Garrulus glandarius	-	-	-	-
	Little owl*	Athene noctua	$1.0{\pm}0$	6	0	0
	Red-legged partridge	Alectoris rufa	1.5±1.2	0	0	0
	European greenfinch	Chloris chloris	$1.0{\pm}0$	0	0	0
	Common chaffinch	Fringilla coelebs	-	-	-	-
	Blue tit	Cyanistes caeruleus	-	-	-	-
	Great tit	Parus major	-	-	-	-
	Black redstart	Phoenicurus ochruros	1.1±0.3	4	0	0
	European robin	Erithacus rubecula	$1.0{\pm}0.1$	19	0	0
	Rock dove	Columba palumbus	-	-	-	-
	Woodchat shrike	Lanius senator	$1.0{\pm}0$	1	0	0
	Wood lark	Lullula arborea	1.0±0.2	0	0	0
	Blackcap	Sylvia atricapilla	1.0±0	1	0	0
	Common blackbird	Turdus merula	$1.0{\pm}0$	0	0	0
	Ноорое	Upupa epops	1.0±0	0	0	0

Table S2b (continued). Carcass use patterns by vertebrate species in Murcia (fox carcasses). Mean number of individuals±SD per carcass is shown, together
with the total number of events with contact, marking and rubbing behaviour for each species recorded. Species that scavenge frequently in our study areas are
indicated by an asterisk.

Class	Common name	Scientific name	Individuals	Contact	Marking	Rubbing
Mammals	Barbary sheep	Ammotragus lervia	-	_	_	-
	Goat	Capra aegagrus hircus	$2.0{\pm}0$	0	0	0
	Spanish ibex	Capra pyrenaica	-	-	-	-
	Sheep	Ovis aries	-	-	-	-
	Mouflon	Ovis aries musimon	-	-	-	-
	Red deer	Cervus elaphus	-	-	-	-
	Fallow deer	Dama dama	-	-	-	-
	Wild boar*	Sus scrofa	$1.7{\pm}1.9$	7	0	0
	Domestic dog*	Canis lupus familiaris	$1.1{\pm}0.4$	7	0	0
	Red fox*	Vulpes vulpes	$1.0{\pm}0.7$	62	22	11
	Domestic cat*	Felis silvestris catus	$1.0{\pm}0$	0	0	0
	Wild cat*	Felis silvestris silvestris	$1.0{\pm}0$	1	0	0
	Common genet*	Genetta genetta	$1.0{\pm}0$	2	0	0
	Stone marten*	Martes foina	$1.0{\pm}0$	0	0	0
	Eurasian badger*	Meles meles	-	-	-	-
	Long-tailed field mouse	Apodemus sylvaticus	$1.0{\pm}0$	5	0	0
	Rat	Rattus spp.	-	-	-	-
	Garden dormouse	Eliomys quercinus	$1.0{\pm}0$	39	0	0
	Red squirrel	Sciurus vulgaris	$1.0{\pm}0$	1	0	0
	European rabbit	Oryctolagus cuniculus	$1.0{\pm}0$	1	0	0
	White-toothed shrew	Crocidura russula	$1.0{\pm}0$	4	0	0
Reptiles	Ocellated lizard	Timon lepidus	-	-	-	-
Total				160	22	11

**Table S2c.** Carcass use patterns by vertebrate species in Espuña (fox carcasses). Mean number of individuals±SD per carcass is shown, together with the total number of events with contact, marking and rubbing behavior for each species recorded. Species that scavenge frequently in our study areas are indicated by an asterisk.

Class	Common name	Scientific name	Individuals	Contact	Marking	Rubbing
Birds	Golden eagle*	Aquila chrysaetos	-	-	-	-
	Griffon vulture*	Gyps fulvus	-	-	-	-
	Common raven*	Corvus corax	-	-	-	-
	Carrion crow*	Corvus corone	-	-	-	-
	Eurasian jay*	Garrulus glandarius	$1.2{\pm}0.4$	13	0	0
	Little owl*	Athene noctua	-	-	-	-
	Red-legged partridge	Alectoris rufa	-	-	-	-
	European greenfinch	Chloris chloris	-	-	-	-
	Common chaffinch	Fringilla coelebs	-	-	-	-
	Blue tit	Cyanistes caeruleus	-	-	-	-
	Great tit	Parus major	1.1±0.3	26	0	0
	Black redstart	Phoenicurus ochruros	-	-	-	-
	European robin	Erithacus rubecula	$1.0{\pm}0$	0	0	0
	Rock dove	Columba palumbus	-	-	-	-
	Woodchat shrike	Lanius senator	-	-	-	-
	Wood lark	Lullula arborea	-	-	-	-
	Blackcap	Sylvia atricapilla	-	-	-	-
	Common blackbird	Turdus merula	$1.5{\pm}1.0$	0	0	0
	Ноорое	Upupa epops	-	-	-	-

Table S2c (continued). Carcass use patterns by vertebrate species in Espuña (fox carcasses). Mean number of individuals±SD per carcass is shown, together
with the total number of events with contact, marking and rubbing behavior for each species recorded. Species that scavenge frequently in our study areas are
indicated by an asterisk.

Class	Common name	Scientific name	Individuals	Contact	Marking	Rubbing
Mammals	Barbary sheep	Ammotragus lervia	1.7±1.2	1	0	0
	Goat	Capra aegagrus hircus	-	-	-	-
	Spanish ibex	Capra pyrenaica	-	-	-	-
	Sheep	Ovis aries	-	-	-	-
	Mouflon	Ovis aries musimon	-	-	-	-
	Red deer	Cervus elaphus	-	-	-	-
	Fallow deer	Dama dama	-	-	-	-
	Wild boar*	Sus scrofa	2.3±3.5	5	1	1
	Domestic dog*	Canis lupus familiaris	-	-	-	-
	Red fox*	Vulpes vulpes	$1.0{\pm}0$	24	9	4
	Domestic cat*	Felis silvestris catus	-	-	-	-
	Wild cat*	Felis silvestris silvestris	-	-	-	-
	Common genet*	Genetta genetta	$1.0{\pm}0$	0	1	0
	Stone marten*	Martes foina	$1.0{\pm}0$	1	0	0
	Eurasian badger*	Meles meles	-	-	-	-
	Long-tailed field mouse	Apodemus sylvaticus	-	-	-	-
	Rat	Rattus spp.	-	-	-	-
	Garden dormouse	Eliomys quercinus	-	-	-	-
	Red squirrel	Sciurus vulgaris	2.0±1.7	0	0	0
	European rabbit	Oryctolagus cuniculus	-	-	-	-
	White-toothed shrew	Crocidura russula	-	-	-	-
Reptiles	Ocellated lizard	Timon lepidus	$1.0{\pm}0$	4	0	0
Total				74	11	5
**Table S2d.** Carcass use patterns by vertebrate species in Espuña (other carcasses). Mean number of individuals±SD per carcass is shown, together with the total number of events with contact, marking and rubbing behavior for each species recorded. Species that scavenge frequently in our study areas are indicated by an asterisk.

Class	Common name	Scientific name	Individuals	Contact	Marking	Rubbing
Birds	Golden eagle*	Aquila chrysaetos	-	-	_	-
	Griffon vulture*	Gyps fulvus	-	-	-	-
	Common raven*	Corvus corax	-	-	-	-
	Carrion crow*	Corvus corone	-	-	-	-
	Eurasian jay*	Garrulus glandarius	$1.0{\pm}0$	3	0	0
	Little owl*	Athene noctua	-	-	-	-
	Red-legged partridge	Alectoris rufa	1.5±0.7	0	0	0
	European greenfinch	Chloris chloris	-	-	-	-
	Common chaffinch	Fringilla coelebs	-	-	-	-
	Blue tit	Cyanistes caeruleus	-	-	-	-
	Great tit	Parus major	1.1±0.3	13	0	0
	Black redstart	Phoenicurus ochruros	-	-	-	-
	European robin	Erithacus rubecula	-	-	-	-
	Rock dove	Columba palumbus	-	-	-	-
	Woodchat shrike	Lanius senator	-	-	-	-
	Wood lark	Lullula arborea	$1.0{\pm}0$	0	0	0
	Blackcap	Sylvia atricapilla	-	-	-	-
	Common blackbird	Turdus merula	$1.0{\pm}0$	0	0	0
	Ноорое	Upupa epops	-	-	-	-

Table S2d (continued). Carcass use patterns by vertebrate species in Espuña (other carcasses). Mean number of individuals±SD per carcass is shown, together
with the total number of events with contact, marking and rubbing behavior for each species recorded. Species that scavenge frequently in our study areas are
indicated by an asterisk.

Class	Common name	Scientific name	Individuals	Contact	Marking	Rubbing
Mammals	Barbary sheep	Ammotragus lervia	1.3±0.5	0	0	0
	Goat	Capra aegagrus hircus	-	-	-	-
	Spanish ibex	Capra pyrenaica	-	-	-	-
	Sheep	Ovis aries	-	-	-	-
	Mouflon	Ovis aries musimon	-	-	-	-
	Red deer	Cervus elaphus	-	-	-	-
	Fallow deer	Dama dama	-	-	-	-
	Wild boar*	Sus scrofa	$1.5 \pm 1.1$	7	0	0
	Domestic dog*	Canis lupus familiaris	$1.5 \pm 0.7$	2	0	2
	Red fox*	Vulpes vulpes	$1.0{\pm}0.1$	75	6	5
	Domestic cat*	Felis silvestris catus	-	-	-	-
	Wild cat*	Felis silvestris silvestris	-	-	-	-
	Common genet*	Genetta genetta	$1.0{\pm}0$	1	1	0
	Stone marten*	Martes foina	$1.0{\pm}0$	5	8	0
	Eurasian badger*	Meles meles	-	-	-	-
	Long-tailed field mouse	Apodemus sylvaticus	-	-	-	-
	Rat	Rattus spp.	$1.0{\pm}0$	1	0	0
	Garden dormouse	Eliomys quercinus	$1.0{\pm}0$	3	0	0
	Red squirrel	Sciurus vulgaris	$1.0{\pm}0$	0	0	0
	European rabbit	Oryctolagus cuniculus	$1.0{\pm}0$	0	0	0
	White-toothed shrew	Crocidura russula	-	-	-	-
Reptiles	Ocellated lizard	Timon lepidus	$1.0{\pm}0$	1	0	0
Total				111	15	7

### **GENERAL DISCUSSION**

Host-parasite interactions are considered fundamental elements of ecosystems (Lafferty et al., 2006, 2008; Byers, 2009; Sukhdeo, 2012; Gómez and Nichols, 2013). Carrion ecology should be taken into account in epidemiological studies on wildlife diseases, as it is a nutrient-rich food resource that attract many carnivores (DeVault et al., 2003, Wilson and Wolkovich, 2011; Moleón et al., 2014; Sebastián-González et al., 2019) and a potential source of infection (Turner et al., 2014; Rossi et al., 2019). In this doctoral thesis, we have shown that scavenger behavior is shaped by two contrasting forces: the nutritive value of carrion and the risk of acquiring pathogens, both of which are higher for phylogenetically related species (Huang et al., 2014; Moleón et al., 2017). The described behavior may have a great impact on the epidemiology of worldwide distributed parasites that depend on trophic interactions (e.g., Trichinella spp.; Pozio and Murrell, 2006) or close contacts (e.g., Sarcoptes scabiei; Arlian and Morgan, 2017) for their transmission. The detailed study of wildlife diseases requires a deep knowledge of multiple factors related to the ecology and epidemiology of infectious agents. For this purpose, establishing interdisciplinary teams can allow to get a holistic vision based on the One Health approach (Mackenzie et al., 2013; Gyles, 2016; Cunningham et al., 2017).

Results gathered in this doctoral thesis highlight the lack of interdisciplinary collaborations in topics related to trophically transmitted parasites (Chapter 1), which is associated with the use in the scientific literature of widely accepted assumptions but that lack a solid scientific basis. Chapters 2 and 3 exemplify the approach to the study of disease ecology from an interdisciplinary perspective, which has been useful to get objective and relevant information about the possible consequences of carnivore ecology in the epidemiology of wildlife diseases. In addition to generating information about some of the most paradigmatic meat-borne parasites of carnivores in the wild (Chapter 2), we have also deepened into the study of non-trophically transmitted pathogens (Chapter 3).

Throughout Chapter 1 of this doctoral thesis, the composition of work teams studying the trophic transmission of parasites were evaluated. We encourage both ecologists with specific knowledge on trophic interactions and epidemiologists to be involved in studies related to the transmission of pathogens by meat consumption. This point may be important to promote the correct use of ecological terminology in epidemiological contexts, among other benefits (Herrando-Pérez *et al.*, 2014), avoiding misconceptions in future wildlife research and management programs. Contrary to our expectations, most studies about meatborne parasites were carried out by unidisciplinary veterinary teams, who are not usually experts in Ecology. For this reason, it was common to find imprecise and erroneous ecological terms in the articles and reviews analyzed. Moreover, in Chapter 1, we also observed that the vast majority of articles based their conclusions on unfounded information or previous, also frequently unfounded, scientific literature. The scarcity of articles that used accurate methodologies makes it difficult to obtain correct and precise data, preventing the reach of "science-based science" standards (Hanna, 2004; Colombo *et al.*, 2017). The lack of rigor in the use of terminology, and the use of poorly science-based hypotheses associated to unidisciplinary articles, indicate the need to increase interdisciplinary collaborations between experts in biological and veterinary sciences.

Probably due to the scarce interdisciplinary collaboration observed in the scientific literature related to the trophic transmission of parasites, several dogmatic and non-realistic assumptions have traditionally pervaded the literature. One of the most remarkable examples is related to intraspecific or cannibalistic consumptions, which have been strongly associated to the transmission of some worldwide distributed and zoonotic parasites, such as *Trichinella* spp. (Campbell, 1988; Pozio & Murrell, 2006; Badagliacca *et al.*, 2016). These results have been refuted by researchers based on diet studies (Fairley, 1970; Remonti *et al.*, 2005), which indicate that cannibalism is a very uncommon behavior in foxes. This hypothesis is supported by Moleón *et al.*, (2017), who have shown that the consumption of conspecifics is rejected by carnivores as a strategy to reduce the risk of parasite infection. This carnivore behavior has received little attention in the scientific literature, despite being a major defensive barrier to avoid trophically transmitted parasite (Hart, 1990; Hart, 2011; Ezenwa *et al.*, 2016; Sarabian *et al.*, 2018; Weinstein *et al.*, 2018).

Contrary to the assumption about the major role of cannibalism in trophic transmission of parasites, Chapter 2 remarks that transmission and maintenance of these parasites in the wild should depend mostly on routes other than intraspecific consumption. Moreover, we provide detailed information about non-trophic interactions between scavenging and nonscavenging species with carnivore carcasses, which can also be hotspots for non-trophically transmitted pathogens (Chapter 3). This last point has received scarce attention in the scientific literature.

The long persistence of mammalian carnivore carrion in the environment, due to their low consumption rate in comparison to herbivore carcasses (Moleón *et al.*, 2017; Muñoz-Lozano *et al.*, 2019), favors the visit of several species that can interact with the carrion

(Chapters 2 and 3). Among these species, our study mainly focused on interactions between foxes and conspecific (foxes) or heterospecific carcasses (other than foxes), though our findings may be probably applied to many other carnivore species. We showed a high efficiency of foxes in detecting mesocarnivore carcasses (Chapters 2 and 3), but consumption events were uncommon (Chapter 2). The main novelty of our work in relation to previous studies is that consumption events were delayed from few days (heterospecific carcasses) to several weeks (conspecific carcasses). The time elapsed between carcass detection and consumption can be explained by the action of two contrasting forces: the nutritional value of phylogenetically close carrion (Meffe and Crump, 1987; Mayntz and Toft, 2006) and the risk of parasite infection (e.g., Trichinella spp.) by the consumption of this type of carcasses (Pfennig et al., 1998; Pfennig, 2000; Rudolf and Antonovics, 2007; Huang et al., 2014; Moleón et al., 2017). Based on our findings, carrion consumption is carried out when the carcass is considered "safe" by the scavenger. This point is reached when the transmission risk of viable parasites by trophic route decreases, despite the loss of nutritional quality of carcass over time (Parmenter and MacMahon, 2009; Pozio, 2016). Thus, scavengers of mammalian carnivore carcasses must face a trade-off between the nutritional gains and the risk of acquiring meat-borne parasites. These scavenger decisions may be shaped by additional factors, such as seasonality in alternative food resources and individual variation in body condition (Mukherjee and Heithaus, 2013).

As described for carcass consumption, the higher proportion of contact events with carnivore carcasses (Chapter 3) took place by scavenging species after several weeks from carcass placement, especially in conspecific carrion, being contact events less frequent and later than in heterospecific ones. These results suggest that carnivores avoid the contact with carnivore carrion to reduce the risk of acquiring non-tropically transmitted pathogens. Concerning rubbing events, although a similar propensity in heterospecific and conspecific carrion was described, this behavior was more frequent in heterospecific carcasses, which supports the hypothesis that the risk of infection is greater in phylogenetically close species (Huang *et al.*, 2014). Moreover, contact rubbing events were more frequent than contact marking events, which indicate the key role of rubbing in the risk of acquiring ectoparasites, such as *S. scabiei*. Other endoparasite infective stages, such as *Toxocara canis* eggs (Roddie *et al.*, 2008), could be in the hair of the carcass and infect new hosts trough contact, rubbing or sniffing. In contrast, marking events were more common in fox carrion, probably because they are used as intra- and interspecific information points due to their

long persistence in the environment. The marking events observed suggest that urine and feces on carcasses can be a reservoir of some pathogens, such as canine parvovirus (Miranda *et al.*, 2017), *Leptospira* spp. (Millán *et al.*, 2019) or ascarids (Okulewicz *et al.*, 2012). The part of carcass where visiting foxes contacted was different according to the carrion type, (i.e., conspecific or heterospecific), which could have some influence on the transmission risk of certain pathogens. However, further studies are needed to determine species-specific differences in the risk of infection.

Our findings (Chapter 2 and 3) are consistent with the fact that the survival of trophically and non-trophically transmitted parasites (e.g., *Trichinella* spp. and *S. scabiei*) in decaying carcasses is mainly temperature-dependent (Smith et al., 1999; Chen and Mullens, 2008; Riva et al., 2012). In this sense, the persistence of meat-borne and nontrophically transmitted parasites in carrion should be lower in spring and, therefore, also the risk of parasites transmission associated with their consumption or contact. In addition, individual factors (hungry, young, senescent and sick animals) can predispose animals to eat poor quality food and to assume the risk of consuming or contacting unsafe carrion (Mukherjee and Heithaus, 2013) (Chapter 2 and 3). Although foxes seem to avoid the period of greatest risk of acquiring ectoparasites (i.e., first weeks) (Chapter 3), other pathogens such as some viruses and helminth infective forms can survive for a long time in the vicinity of carrion (Shen and Gorham, 1980; Gordon and Angrick, 1986). In this case, the fox's strategy of delaying contact with the carcass would not be effective. Regarding herbivores, they usually avoid carrion because it poses a risk of predation, so pathogens that are at carcass sites represent a low risk of infection for them in the shortterm. However, in the medium- and long-term, the risk increases when vegetation grows around the carcass and herbivores feed on it, since it can be a transmission route for pathogens that survive for months or years in the environment (e.g., Bacillus anthracis spores) (Turner et al., 2014).

Differences in the ratio of consumption:non-consumption and contact:non-contact events (Chapters 2 and 3) between areas suggest that differences in populations, environmental conditions, levels of anthropization, local parasite communities and interspecific competition could be operating. The richer community of visiting species, as well as the highest number of total, consumption, contact, marking and rubbing events were observed in the area with the highest biodiversity (Cazorla). In this area, due to the presence

of vultures, scavengers could be forced to assume a higher risk of infection, since the availability of carrion is lower than in vulture-lacking areas (Morales-Reyes *et al.*, 2017).

Overall, the results reported in this doctoral thesis represent a significant advancement in the knowledge of wildlife diseases. Our interdisciplinary research provides an essential ecological basis for studying the epidemiology of meat-borne and non-trophically transmitted parasites through interactions with mammalian carnivore carcasses, which are important nutritional resources in the ecosystems.

#### REFERENCES

Arlian, L. G. & Morgan, M. S. (2017). A review of *Sarcoptes scabiei*: past, present and future. *Parasites & Vectors*, *10*, 297.

Badagliacca, P., Di Sabatino, D., Salucci, S., Romeo, G., Cipriani, M., Sulli, N., Dall'Acqua, F., Ruggieri, M., Calistri, P. & Morelli, D. (2016). The role of the wolf in endemic sylvatic *Trichinella britovi* infection in the Abruzzi region of Central Italy. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *231*, 124-127.

Byers, J. E. (2009). Including parasites in food webs. Trends in Parasitology, 25(2), 55-57.

Campbell, W. C. (1988). Trichinosis revisited--another look at modes of transmission. *Parasitology Today*, *4*(3), 83-86.

Chen, B. L. & Mullens, B. A. (2008). Temperature and humidity effects on off-host survival of the northern fowl mite (Acari: Macronyssidae) and the chicken body louse (Phthiraptera: Menoponidae). *Journal of Economic Entomology*, *101*(2), 637-646.

Colombo, M., Gervais, R. & Sprenger, J. (2017). Introduction: objectivity in science. *Synthese*, 194(12), 4641-4642.

Cunningham, A. A., Daszak, P. & Wood, J. L. N. (2017). One Health, emerging infectious diseases and wildlife: two decades of progress? *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*. *Series B, Biological Sciences*, *372*(1725), 20160167.

DeVault, T. L., Rhodes, O. E. & Shivik, J. A. (2003). Scavenging by vertebrates: behavioural, ecological, and evolutionary perspectives on an important energy transfer pathway in terrestrial ecosystems. *Oikos*, *102*(2), 225-234.

Ezenwa, V. O., Archie, E. A., Craft, M. E., Hawley, D. M., Martin, L. B., Moore, J. & White, L. (2016). Host behavior-parasite feedback: an essential link between animal behaviour and disease ecology. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *283*(1828), 20153078.

Fairley, J. S. (1970). The food, reproduction, form, growth and development of the fox *Vulpes* vulpes (L.) in North-East Ireland. *Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy. Section B: Biological, Geological, and Chemical Science*, 69, 103-137.

Gómez, A. & Nichols, E. (2013). Neglected wild life: parasitic biodiversity as a conservation target. *International Journal for Parasitology: Parasites and Wildlife*, *2*, 222-227.

Gordon, J. C. & Angrick, E. J. (1986). Canine parvovirus: environmental effects on infectivity. *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, 47(7), 1464-1467.

Gyles, C. (2016). One medicine, one health, one world. *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 57(4), 345-346.

Hanna, J. F. (2004). The scope and limits of scientific objectivity. *Philosophy of Science*, 71(3), 339-361.

Hart, B. L. (1990). Behavioral adaptations to pathogens and parasites: five strategies. *Neuroscience Biobehavioral Reviews*, 14(3), 273-294.

Hart, B. L. (2011). Behavioral defenses in animals against pathogens and parasites: parallels with the pillars of medicine in humans. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*. *Series B, Biological Sciences*, *366*(1583), 3406-3417.

Herrando-Pérez, S., Brook, B. W. & Bradshaw, C. J. A. (2014). Ecology needs a convention of nomenclature. *BioScience*, 64(4), 311-321.

Huang, S., Bininda-Emonds, O. R., Stephens, P. R., Gittleman, J. L. & Altizer, S. (2014). Phylogenetically related and ecologically similar carnivores harbour similar parasite assemblages. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 83(3), 671-680.

Lafferty, K. D., Allesina, S., Arim, M., Briggs, C. J., De Leo, G., Dobson, A. P., Dunne, J. A., Johnson, P. T. J., Kuris, A. M. & Marcogliese, D. J. (2008). Parasites in food webs: the ultimate missing links. *Ecology Letters*, *11*(6), 533-546.

Lafferty, K. D., Dobson, A. P. & Kuris, A. M. (2006). Parasites dominate food web links. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(30), 11211-11216.

Mackenzie, J. S., Jeggo, M., Daszak, P. & Richt, J. A. (2013). One Health: The human-animalenvironment interfaces in emerging infectious diseases: the concept and examples of a One Health approach. Berlin: Springer.

Mayntz, D. & Toft, S. (2006). Nutritional value of cannibalism and the role of starvation and nutrient imbalance for cannibalistic tendencies in a generalist predator. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 75(1), 288-297.

Meffe, G. K. & Crump, M. L. (1987). Possible growth and reproductive benefits of cannibalism in the mosquitofish. *The American Naturalist*, 129(2), 203-212.

Millán, J., Velarde, R., Chirife, A. D. & León-Vizcaíno, L. (2019). Carriage of pathogenic *Leptospira* in carnivores at the wild/domestic interface. *Polish Journal of Veterinary Sciences*, 22(4), 589-598.

Miranda, C., Santos, N., Parrish, C., & Thompson, G. (2017). Genetic characterization of canine parvovirus in sympatric free-ranging wild carnivores in Portugal. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 53(4), 824-831.

Moleón, M., Martinez-Carrasco, C., Muellerklein, O. C., Getz, W. M., Muñoz-Lozano, C. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. A. (2017). Carnivore carcasses are avoided by carnivores. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *86*(5), 1179-1191.

Moleón, M., Sánchez-Zapata, J. A., Selva, N., Donázar, J. A. & Owen-Smith, N. (2014). Interspecific interactions linking predation and scavenging in terrestrial vertebrate assemblages. *Biological Reviews*, 89(4), 1042-1054.

Morales-Reyes, Z., Sánchez-Zapata, J. A., Sebastián-González, E., Botella, F., Carrete, M. & Moleón, M. (2017). Scavenging efficiency and red fox abundance in Mediterranean mountains with and without vultures. *Acta Oecologica*, *79*, 81-88.

Mukherjee, S. & Heithaus, M. R. (2013). Dangerous prey and daring predators: a review. *Biological Reviews*, 88(3), 550-563.

Muñoz-Lozano, C., Martín-Vega, D., Martínez-Carrasco, C., Sánchez-Zapata, J. A., Morales-Reyes, Z., Gonzálvez, M. & Moleón, M. (2019). Avoidance of carnivore carcasses by vertebrate scavengers enables colonization by a diverse community of carrion insects. *PLoS One*, 14(8), e0221890.

Okulewicz, A., Perec-Matysiak, A., Buńkowska, K. & Hildebrand, J. (2012). *Toxocara canis*, *Toxocara cati* and *Toxascaris leonina* in wild and domestic carnivores, *Helminthologia*, 49(1), 3-10.

Parmenter, R. R. & MacMahon, J. A. (2009). Carrion decomposition and nutrient cycling in a semiarid shrub-steppe ecosystem. *Ecological Monographs*, 79(4), 637-661.

Pfennig, D. W. (2000). Effect of predator-prey phylogenetic similarity on the fitness consequences of predation: a trade-off between nutrition and disease? *The American Naturalist*, 155(3), 335-345.

Pfennig, D. W., Ho, S. G. & Hoffman, E. A. (1998). Pathogen transmission as a selective force against cannibalism. *Animal Behaviour*, 55, 1255-1261.

Pozio, E. (2016). Adaptation of *Trichinella* spp. for survival in cold climates. *Food and Waterborne Parasitology*, *4*, 4-12.

Pozio, E. & Murrell, K. D. (2006). Systematics and epidemiology of *Trichinella*. Advances in Parasitology, 63, 367-439.

Remonti, L., Balestrieri, A., Domenis, L., Banchi, C., Lo Valvo, T., Robetto, S. & Orusa, R. (2005). Red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) cannibalistic behaviour and the prevalence of *Trichinella britovi* in NW Italian Alps. *Parasitology Research*, *97*(6), 431-435.

Riva, E., Steffan, P., Guzmán, M. & Fiel, C. (2012). Persistence of *Trichinella spiralis* muscle larvae in natural decaying mice. *Parasitology Research*, 111(1), 249-255.

Roddie, G., Holland, C., Stafford, P. & Wolfe, A. (2008). Contamination of fox hair with eggs of *Toxocara canis*. *Journal of Helminthology*, 82(4), 293-296.

Rossi, L., Interisano, M., Deksne, G. & Pozio, E. (2019). The subnivium, a haven for *Trichinella* larvae in host carcasses. *International Journal for Parasitology: Parasites and Wildlife*, 8, 229-233.

Rudolf, V. H. & Antonovics, J. (2007). Disease transmission by cannibalism: rare event or common occurrence? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 274(1614), 1205-1210.

Sarabian, C., Curtis, V. & McMullan, R. (2018). Evolution of pathogen and parasite avoidance behaviours. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, 373(1751), 20170256.

Sebastián-González, E., Barbosa, J. M., Pérez-García, J. M., Morales-Reyes, Z., Botella, F., Olea, P. P., Mateo-Tomás, P., Moleón, M., Hiraldo, F., Arrondo, E., Donázar, J. A., Cortés-Avizanda, A., Selva, N., Lambertucci, S. A., Bhattacharjee, A., Brewer, A., Anadón, J. D., Abernethy, E., Rhodes, O. E., Turner, K., Beasley, J. C., DeVault, T. L., Ordiz, A., Wikenros, C., Zimmermann, B., Wabakken, P., Wilmers, C. C., Smith, J. A., Kendall, C. J., Ogada, D., Buechley, E. R., Frehner, E., Allen, M. L., Wittmer, H. U., Butler, J. R. A., Toit, J. T., Read, J., Wilson, D., Jerina, K., Krofel, M., Kostecke, R., Inger, R., Samson, A., Naves-Alegre, L. & Sánchez-Zapata, J. A. (2019). Scavenging in the Anthropocene: human impact drives vertebrate scavenger species richness at a global scale. *Global Change Biology*, *25*(9), 3005-3017.

Shen, D. T. & Gorham, J. R. (1980). Survival of pathogenic distemper virus at 5C and 25C. *Veterinary Medicine, Small Animal Clinician: VM, SAC*, 75(1), 69-72.

Smith, K. E., Wall, R., Berriatua, E. & French, N.P. (1999). The effects of temperature and humidity on the off-host survival of *Psoroptes ovis* and *Psoroptes cuniculi*. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *83*(3-4), 265-275.

Sukhdeo, M. V. (2012). Where are the parasites in food webs? Parasites & Vectors, 5, 239.

Turner, W. C., Kausrud, K. L., Krishnappa, Y. S., Cromsigt, J. P. G. M., Ganz, H. H., Mapaure, I., Cloete, C. C., Havarua, Z., Küsters, M., Getz, W. M. & Stenseth, N. C. (2014). Fatal attraction: vegetation responses to nutrient inputs attract herbivores to infectious anthrax carcass sites. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281(1795), 20141785.

Weinstein, S. B., Buck, J. C. & Young, H. S. (2018). A landscape of disgust. *Science*, 359(6381), 1213-1214.

Wilson, E. E. & Wolkovich, E. M. (2011). Scavenging: how carnivores and carrion structure communities. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 26(3), 129-135.

# CONCLUSIONS

**FIRST:** Scientific articles addressing meat-borne parasites at the wildlife-domestic-human interface mostly support their statements using previous bibliographic references or non-science-based assertions. Therefore, it is necessary to promote the design of studies based on methods that enable science-based results to be obtained and, consequently, plausible epidemiological conclusions and interpretations to be reached.

**SECOND:** Most articles and reviews on meat-borne pathogens at the wildlife-domestichuman interface are conducted by veterinarians. This unidisciplinary character of the research teams leads to the imprecise or incorrect use of scientific terms and concepts concerning trophic interactions of carnivore species. Therefore, it would be advisable to approach this type of studies from an interdisciplinary perspective, which would favor the appropriate use of the specialized scientific language, a solid interpretation of the ecological and epidemiological results and, consequently, an unequivocal communication between disciplines.

**THIRD:** Intraguild and especially intraspecific carrion consumption is an uncommon behavior in foxes and other mesocarnivores. Moreover, when it occurs, consumption is mainly delayed several weeks from the carrion placement. This trophic behavior of mesocarnivore scavengers is possibly a consequence of balancing the decision to feed on carrion with high nutritional value against assuming the lowest possible risk of acquiring an infection by meat-borne pathogens.

**FOURTH:** The low number of cannibalism events in mesocarnivores contrasts with the widespread statement in the scientific community that intraspecific consumption is an important way for parasite transmission in the wild, notably in epidemiological studies conducted on *Trichinella* spp. This highlights the need to undertake empirical fieldwork in order to understand the ecological trophic interactions that occur between wild hosts and, consequently, that favor the maintenance and transmission of pathogens through carrion consumption.

**FIFTH:** Behavioral pattern of visiting species on mesocarnivore carcasses may also be conditioned by, among other factors, the risk of acquiring non-trophically transmitted pathogens. This elusive behavior during the first weeks after the detection of the carrion is consistent with an attitude intended to reduce the risk of acquiring parasites with low survival outside a live host (e.g., lice and *Sarcoptes scabiei*). However, it does not seem to be an efficient strategy to avoid the transmission of pathogens whose infective stages can remain viable for a long time on the carcass or its vicinities.

**SIXTH:** The frequent marking behavior of visiting foxes on carnivore carrion, especially when they are of conspecifics, suggests that these carcass sites could concentrate infective stages of several viruses, bacteria and endoparasites excreted mainly by urine and feces. Thus, these places could become hotspots with a higher epidemiological risk of pathogen transmission among foxes.

# CONCLUSIONES

**PRIMERA:** Los artículos científicos que abordan la transmisión de parásitos por consumo de carne en la interfaz silvestre-doméstico-humano sostienen de forma mayoritaria sus afirmaciones con citas bibliográficas previas o con asunciones no corroboradas científicamente. Por ello, es necesario promover el diseño de estudios basados en métodos que permitan obtener resultados con rigor científico y, en consecuencia, poder llegar a conclusiones e interpretaciones epidemiológicas plausibles.

**SEGUNDA:** La mayoría de los artículos y revisiones sobre la transmisión trófica de patógenos en la interfaz silvestre-doméstico-humano están realizados por veterinarios. Este carácter unidisciplinar de los equipos de investigación propicia el uso impreciso o incorrecto de los términos y conceptos científicos referentes a interacciones tróficas de especies carnívoras. Por ello, sería recomendable que el abordaje de este tipo de estudios se realizase desde una perspectiva interdisciplinar, lo que favorecería el uso apropiado del lenguaje científico especializado, una sólida interpretación de los resultados ecológicos y epidemiológicos y, en consecuencia, una comunicación inequívoca entre disciplinas.

**TERCERA:** El consumo intragremial y, particularmente, intraespecífico de carroña es un comportamiento infrecuente en zorros y otros mesocarnívoros. Además, cuando se produce, el consumo ocurre principalmente después del trascurso de varias semanas desde que la carroña está disponible. Este comportamiento trófico de los mesocarnívoros carroñeros es posiblemente consecuencia de sopesar entre la decisión de ingerir carroña con un alto valor nutritivo y la de asumir el menor riesgo posible de adquirir una infección por patógenos transmitidos por la carne.

**CUARTA**: El reducido número de eventos de canibalismo detectado en mesocarnívoros contrasta con la afirmación ampliamente difundida en la comunidad científica de que es una importante forma de transmisión de parásitos en la naturaleza, sobre todo en los estudios epidemiológicos realizados sobre *Trichinella* spp. Este hecho pone de manifiesto la necesidad de realizar estudios empíricos de campo que permitan conocer las interacciones ecológicas tróficas que ocurren entre hospedadores silvestres y, por consiguiente, que favorecen el mantenimiento y transmisión de patógenos por consumo de carne.

**QUINTA:** El patrón de comportamiento de las especies visitantes de cadáveres de mesocarnívoros también parece estar condicionado, entre otros factores, por el riesgo de adquirir patógenos transmitidos por vía no trófica. Este comportamiento elusivo durante las primeras semanas desde la detección de la carroña concuerda con una actitud tendente a reducir el riesgo de adquirir parásitos con escasa supervivencia fuera de un hospedador vivo (por ejemplo, piojos y *Sarcoptes scabiei*). No obstante, no parece ser una estrategia eficiente para evitar la transmisión de patógenos cuyas formas infectivas pueden permanecer viables durante mucho tiempo en la carroña o en sus inmediaciones.

**SEXTA:** El comportamiento frecuente de marcaje de los zorros visitantes en las carroñas de carnívoros, especialmente cuando son de congéneres, sugiere que estos lugares podrían concentrar formas infectivas de diversos virus, bacterias y endoparásitos excretados principalmente por orina y heces. Por lo tanto, estas zonas podrían convertirse en puntos calientes con un mayor riesgo epidemiológico de transmisión de patógenos entre zorros.

### APPENDICES



Appendix 1: Laboratory and fieldwork

Figure 1. Red fox (left) and stone marten (right) before necropsy.



Figure 2. Camera trap placement in front of a fox carcass.



**Figure 3.** Detail of a camera trap placed in a study point (left) and during the setup process (right).



#### Appendix 2: Fox interaction with conspecific carrion

Figure 1. Fox detecting a conspecific carcass.



Figure 2. Intraspecific consumption of fox carcass.



Figure 3. Intraspecific contact at fox carcass site.



Figure 4. Intraspecific rubbing at fox carcass site.



Figure 5. Intraspecific marking at fox carcass site.



#### Appendix 3: Relevant visitors other than foxes at carcass site

Figure 1. Griffon vultures scavenging a fox carcass.



Figure 2. Golden eagle scavenging a fox carcass.



Figure 3. Carrion crows at fox carcass site.



Figure 4. Eurasian jay at fox carcass site.



Figure 5. Wild boars contact with a fox carcass.



Figure 6. Stone marten at fox carcass site.



Figure 7. Common genet at fox carcass site.